
      
 

                 CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
                                                                                       Tuesday – January 28, 2025 – 6:00 PM  
                             

 
    Shawn O’Neill,     

Mayor 
soneill@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Brian Watson, 
Council Position No.1 
bwatson@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Ivan Wiediger, 
Council Position No.2 
iwiediger@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Don Webster, 
Council Position No.3 
dwebster@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Heather Stewart, 
Council Position No.4 
hstewart@cityofnapavine.com 
 

Duane Crouse, 
Council Position No.5  
dcrouse@cityofnapavine.com 
 
 
Staff Members 
Rachelle Denham, 
City Clerk 
 

Michelle Whitten, 
City Treasurer 
 

Bryan Morris, 
PW Director 
Community Development 
 

John Brockmueller, 
Chief of Police 
 

Allen Unzelman 
Honorable Judge-Municipal Court 
 

Jim Buzzard, 
Legal Counsel 
 
 

City of Napavine 
407 Birch Ave SW 
P O Box 810 
Napavine, WA  98565 
360-262-3547 
 
City Website 
www.cityofnapavine.com 
 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
II.   INVOCATION 
III.   PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
IV.   ROLL CALL 
V.   APPROVAL OF AGENDA – AS PRESENTED 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES – January 14, 2025 

1) Regular Council Meeting  
 

VII. STAFF & COUNCIL REPORT   

VIII. CITIZEN COMMENTS – NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

IX. NEW BUSINESS 

1) Vouchers – M. Whitten 
2) Shoreline Master Plan – B. Morris 

 
                                       

X. ADJOURNMENT – CLOSE OF MEETING 

 
Council Meeting is held in person and via Teleconference.  

         Teleconference Information 

         Dial-in number (US): (720) 740-9753 

             Access code: 8460198 

         To join the online meeting: https://join.freeconferencecall.com/rdenham8 

mailto:soneill@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:bwatson@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:iwiediger@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:dwebster@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:hstewart@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:dcrouse@cityofnapavine.com
http://www.cityofnapavine.com/
https://join.freeconferencecall.com/rdenham8


 

NAPAVINE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
January 14, 2025, 6:00 P.M. 

Napavine City Hall, 407 Birch Ave SW, Napavine, WA 
 

 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 

Mayor Shawn O’Neill called the regular city council meeting to order at 6:00 pm.   

 

INVOCATION:  
The invocation was led by Bryan Morris. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  
Mayor Shawn O’Neill led the flag salute.          

 

ROLL CALL:   

Council members present: Brian Watson Councilor #1, Ivan Wiediger Councilor #2, Don Webster Councilor #3, 
Heather Stewart Councilor #4, Duane Crouse, Mayor Pro Tem. 

City staff members present: City Clerk - Rachelle Denham, Chief of Police – John Brockmueller, Treasurer - Michelle 
Whitten, CD/PW Director - Bryan Morris, and Legal Counsel- Jim Buzzard. 

 

CONSENT/APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Approval of Agenda- As Presented.  
 SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried: 5 aye and 0 nay.                                        

 

 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES  

MOVED: Brian Watson Motion: Approval of the regular council 
meeting minutes for December 10, 2024. SECONDED: Heather Stewart 

Discussion: No Discussion. 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried: 5 aye and 0 nay.                                        

 

 

 

 



2 
 

STAFF & COUNCIL REPORTS:  

 
John Brockmueller – Chief of Police 

• Greetings to the council, operations are normal. Mayor O’Neill thanked the PD for all the work with animal 
control. 

 
Jim Buzzard – Legal Counsel 

• Attended the WF West Boys Basketball game. Commented on the national anthem that 
 
Bryan Morris - PW/CD Director   

• Report is in writing. Brandon passed his cross-connections test for water. 
 
Rachelle Denham – City Clerk 

• Report is in writing. Will be attending the Presidential Inauguration in DC so please keep us in your thoughts 
and prayers.  

 
Michelle Whitten – Treasurer 

• Voucher report looks different this time. Asked the council their preference regarding the type of report 
they would like to have. Brian Watson and Ivan Wiediger said that they would like to have the detailed 
report, and all was in agreement. Michelle will continue to provide the detailed voucher report.  

 
Duane Crouse - Mayor Pro Tem  

• Greetings to the council and looking forward to a fresh start in 2025.  
 
Shawn O’Neill – Mayor  

•  Boys BB is 9-2 Adna beat them. Hans down to the Funtime Festival with the triangle decorations, looked 
fabulous and hope that everyone continues to work together! Bryan Morris thanked the Funtime Festival 
for the donation of the beautiful Christmas Tree.  

 
Sandra White - LCFD 5  

• Three things to report on: There is a unit deployed with 1 engine and 3 staff which are housed in Malibu 
and assigned to the Palisades fire. The strike force is projected to be there 17-21 days. Please keep them in 
your thoughts and prayers. Provided year end stats for 2024: Total calls-1238, Total Fire calls-66, EMS calls-
830, non-injury or good intent call – 236, service calls (water leaks etc.) – 106, Total $ loss to fire - 
$950,700.00, Avg patient age – 59.67, Avg response time – 6 min 57 seconds, time from notification to 
apparatus – 1 min 28 sec (new facility should reduce time), Number of calls on E side of railroad tracks at 
WA Street – 463, Number of calls on W side of railroad tracks at WA Street – 489, Number of resident EMS 
patients seen 830, non-residents EMS patients seen 134 (roughly 16% of patients seen are non-residents), 
mutual aid given to other fire districts – 76, Responses to I-5 (not including adjacent streets and businesses 
off I-5 – 57. Effective January 1, 2025, there is a new billing policy for the district’s ambulance transports to 
hospitals. Residents of the community served by LCFD 5 will only be asked to pay what their insurance 
provides as compensation. Legal counsel and the mayor asked a few questions. For more information, 
please contact LCFD 5.  

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS – NON-AGENDA ITEMS:  The recording link can be accessed for entire citizen comments. 
This is a brief summary and not verbatim. 

• None 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
 
VOUCHERS- M. WHITTEN  
Dec 2024 Open Period  

 
January 14, 2025, 1st Council Meeting 

 
 

MOVED: Don Webster Motion: Pay the bills.  Approval of the 
Vouchers dated Dec 2024 Open Period and 
January 14, 2025, First Council Meeting. 

SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion.  
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 
 
ILA LEWIS COUNTY 911 DISPATCH SERVICES – J. BROCKMUELLER 
 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Approve and allow the mayor to sign 
ILA.  SECONDED: Brian Watson 

Discussion: Councilor Wiediger asked that the ILA isn’t for what is billed but for 
administration. The Chief provided a response.  

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye 0 nay. 
 
 
RESOLUTION 25-01-156 SMALL WORKS ROSTER – B. MORRIS 
 

MOVED: Heather Stewart Motion: Pass Resolution 25-01-156.  SECONDED: Don Webster 
Discussion: No Discussion. 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye 0 nay. 
 
 
 



4 
 

 
 
MAYOR PRO TEM ELECTION TWO YEAR TERM– MAYOR O’NEILL 
Councilor Heather Stewart nominated Duane Crouse for Mayor Pro Tem (two-year term), and the 
motion was seconded by Councilor Don Webster. 
 

MOVED: Heather Stewart Motion: Nomination for Mayor Pro Tem-2 year 
term.  SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: No Discussion. 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye 0 nay. 

 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: Meeting Adjourned at 6:23 p.m. 
 

MOVED: Don Webster Motion: To Adjourn – Close of Meeting 
 SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion.  
 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

These minutes are not verbatim.  If so desired, a recording of this meeting is available online from 
freeconferencecall.com or at the link  https://fccdl.in/msSA9d3PH2 . 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Rachelle Denham, City Clerk                                 Shawn O’Neill, Mayor     Councilor 

https://fccdl.in/msSA9d3PH2


Date

BHC Consultants

1/8/2025

Buzzard O'Rourke

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

18281 $12.50 Lewis 4A0730111

18282 $225.00 Lewis 4A0730122

18279 $12.50 4A0825371

18280 $250.00 Lewis 4A0832394

18275 $37.50 4A0874017

18278 $37.50 4A0793761

18273 $25.00 4A0874010

18274 $12.50 4A0874016

18271 $37.50 4A0840466

18272 $50.00 4A0873999

18267 $37.50 4A0874019

18268 $37.50 4A0874020

18265 $12.50 5A0069859

18266 $37.50 4A0874018

18263 $12.50 4A0935843

18264 $12.50 5A0027956, 5A0027957

18257 $12.50 5A0069864

18262 $12.50 4A0935841

18183 $125.00 Lewis 2A0653094

18256 $12.50 5A0069860

18141 $25.00 Lewis 22F000934

18148 $2,050.00 12/17/24 - 1/15/25 General Prosecution

18133 $62.50 Lewis 3A0470998

18140 $25.00 Lewis 2A0653118

18109 $1,525.00 Small Works Roster/Procurement/ Mobile Food Trucks

18132 $25.00 Lewis 3A0330799

Reference Number: 39531 $6,837.50

Reference Number: 39530 $14,536.89

0021994 $14,536.89 2024 Nov 23-Dec 31

                             Voucher  Report  Jan 28, 2025

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 1



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

Chehalis Outfitters 

1/20/2025

CHS Northwest Inc

12/18/2024

City of Napavine

1/22/2025

1/23/2025

CivicPlus LLC

1/22/2025

1/22/2025

Goods Quarry

1/10/2025

1/22/2025

161337 $182.76 23.07 tons 5/8" minus

Invoice - 1/22/2025 4:27:37 PM $187.14 23.36 tons 5/8" minus

Reference Number: 39536 $369.90

325041 $2,075.00 Year 4 of 4 Municode build

326937 $2,829.75 Web Platform/Annual

Reference Number: 39535 $4,904.75

2024 Dec Petty Cash $15.11 Misc Postage for Utility certified letters

2024*Dec Utility Tax $11,356.74 2024-  Dec Water/Sewer Service Utility Tax

Reference Number: 39534 $11,371.85

Reference Number: 39533 $986.52

YE5 1b1506 $986.52 224.3 gallons off road fuel

038661 $124.38 5 Hi Vis 

Reference Number: 39532 $124.38

18299 $175.00 Lewis 4A0203555

18300 $25.00 Lewis 4A0203560

18296 $525.00 Pass Thru Vertical Bridge

18297 $825.00 Pass Thru Tiger Meadows

18294 $50.00 Lewis 4A0487443

18295 $50.00 Lewis 4A0487461

18292 $25.00 Lewis 4A0412359

18293 $25.00 Lewis 4A0412375

18290 $150.00 Lewis 4A0571913

18291 $12.50 Lewis 4A0331202

18288 $12.50 Lewis 4A0571889

18289 $75.00 Lewis 4A0571908 & 4A0571909

18285 $50.00 Lewis 4A0730134

18287 $12.50 Lewis 4A0571885

18283 $50.00 Lewis 4A0730132

18284 $50.00 Lewis 4A0730133

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 2



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Jackson Civil Engineering LLC

1/10/2025

Kim Alexander

12/17/2024

1/21/2025

Lakeside Industries

1/8/2025

1/13/2025

Lewis County Animal Shelter

1/4/2025

Lewis County Sheriffs Office

1/6/2025

Lewis County Treasurer

1/23/2025

PLATT Electric

1/13/2025

State Treasurer's Office

1/23/2025

Toledotel

1/1/2025

US Bank Corp Payment Syst

1/3/2025

1/3/2025

1/3/2025

12/5/2024

1/2/2025

0673443-IN Sirchie $256.40 Integrity Bags/100

083499 US Postal Service $73.00 Stamps/Utility

01165235 Harbor Freight $23.79 Torque Wrench 

055503 Dollar General $27.14 96oz Lemon BLE, Throw FUR RIBB, bowl 

Reference Number: 39546 $2,410.45

0041697364-00 Central Welding Supply $40.74 Oxygen Compressed 

10070341 $350.62 2025 VOIP Jan 1-Jan 31

Reference Number: 39545 $350.62

Reference Number: 39544 $1,460.46

2024*Dec Court Remit $1,460.46 2024*Dec Court Remit

5WO7211 $37.14 2- 250 V LFU light fuses

Reference Number: 39543 $37.14

Reference Number: 39542 $45.28

2024*Dec Crime Victims $45.28 2024 - Dec  Court Remittance

2024*12 Evidence $744.93 2024- Dec Evidence Handling

Reference Number: 39541 $744.93

Reference Number: 39540 $160.00

10396 $160.00 Case #25F0021 2 pups

302205 $781.49 EZ Street Asphalt Pot Hole Repairs 4.69 tons

Reference Number: 39539 $984.78

1129445 $203.29 EZ Street Asphalt Pot Hole Repairs 1.22 tons

2025*Jan Civil Service $125.00 2025*Jan Civil Service

Reference Number: 39538 $300.00

2024*Dec Civil Service $175.00 2024*Dec Civil Service

0016-35-11 $9,200.00 BHC Invoices 0021782/21783

Reference Number: 39537 $9,200.00

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 3



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

12/6/2024

12/30/2024

12/18/2024

1/22/2025

12/13/2024

12/26/2024

12/26/2024

12/26/2024

12/2/2024

12/27/2024

12/26/2024

12/13/2024

12/12/2024

1/3/2025

12/27/2024

12/30/2024

12/27/2024

12/13/2024

US Bank NA Cincinnati

1/22/2025

Vision Municipal Solution

12/25/2024

Wilson Parts Corporation

1/15/2025

Dept of Labor & Industry

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

Emp L&I - 15343 $270.29

Emp L&I - 15344 $321.62

Emp L&I - 15341 $318.19

Emp L&I - 15342 $280.56

Reference Number: EFT*20250104 $14,001.35

Emp L&I - 15339 $352.41

336747 $40.02 boom truck hydraulic filter

Reference Number: 39549 $40.02

Reference Number: 39548 $856.51

09-15459 $856.51 2024 Dec Utility Statement Automation

2024*Dec Bond Maint $40.00 2024 - Dec   Bond Fee

Reference Number: 39547 $40.00

INV286517577 Zoom $17.03 Zoom Dec 27, 2024 - Jan 26, 2025

M123565424 PSI Solutions $106.00 Max O'Neill - Operator Certification Program

E/5410527 Chevron $64.87 Fuel Chevron

E/5411613 Chevron $81.79 Fuel Chevron 

CAS-19245556-K3W1Z3 DJI Service LLC $160.77 circuit board module 

CAS6050 LECO Supply $22.72 AURA Nitrile Med Blue Glove 100/BX

ARCO $55.01 Fuel ARCO

B123837108 PSI Solutions $106.00 Brandon Cagle- Operator Certification Program

77159239 Free Conference Call $3.25 file storage 12/15/24-1/14/2025

869503 ARCO AM/PM $56.25 Fuel ARCO AM/PM

584361808707210 Walmart $47.63 Holiday Lights 

705938 Chehalis Outfitters $31.14 Rope Lights 

26881 JP Cooke Company $136.95 2025 Dog Tags/100

304361774102070 Walmart $59.35 Holiday Lights 

113-8894562-4331435 Amazon $761.16 12 of: Kastlite Bollard Retrofit LED Light with adjustable color temp & surge protection

2025 Arlo Cameras Annual fee $140.26 2025 ARLO Annual Fee

086131 US Postal Service $89.20 endpoint warranty return/shipping 

10284 WA State MPA $50.00 2025 Individual MPA Membership 

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 4



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

Emp L&I - 15376 $277.14

Emp L&I - 15377 $174.49

Emp L&I - 15374 $316.48

Emp L&I - 15375 $52.77

Emp L&I - 15372 $20.51

Emp L&I - 15373 $1.28

Emp L&I - 15370 $23.50

Emp L&I - 15371 $135.23

Emp L&I - 15368 $18.16

Emp L&I - 15369 $16.34

Emp L&I - 15366 $10.68

Emp L&I - 15367 $79.16

Emp L&I - 15364 $158.32

Emp L&I - 15365 $20.83

Emp L&I - 15362 $314.77

Emp L&I - 15363 $21.37

Emp L&I - 15360 $322.47

Emp L&I - 15361 $290.82

Emp L&I - 15358 $145.13

Emp L&I - 15359 $321.62

Emp L&I - 15356 $19.01

Emp L&I - 15357 $345.57

Emp L&I - 15354 $18.80

Emp L&I - 15355 $138.53

Emp L&I - 15352 $20.19

Emp L&I - 15353 $135.23

Emp L&I - 15350 $18.21

Emp L&I - 15351 $17.31

Emp L&I - 15348 $17.68

Emp L&I - 15349 $105.55

Emp L&I - 15345 $19.23

Emp L&I - 15346 $145.13

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 5



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

Emp L&I - 15414 $125.34

Emp L&I - 15415 $277.14

Emp L&I - 15412 $212.13

Emp L&I - 15413 $210.42

Emp L&I - 15410 $103.90

Emp L&I - 15411 $5.13

Emp L&I - 15408 $11.64

Emp L&I - 15409 $14.64

Emp L&I - 15406 $105.55

Emp L&I - 15407 $12.61

Emp L&I - 15404 $15.06

Emp L&I - 15405 $8.12

Emp L&I - 15402 $13.41

Emp L&I - 15403 $105.55

Emp L&I - 15400 $1.28

Emp L&I - 15401 $314.77

Emp L&I - 15397 $290.82

Emp L&I - 15399 $227.53

Emp L&I - 15395 $277.14

Emp L&I - 15396 $92.35

Emp L&I - 15388 $126.16

Emp L&I - 15389 $17.09

Emp L&I - 15386 $13.89

Emp L&I - 15387 $16.99

Emp L&I - 15384 $107.19

Emp L&I - 15385 $10.26

Emp L&I - 15382 $15.17

Emp L&I - 15383 $7.48

Emp L&I - 15380 $19.23

Emp L&I - 15381 $131.93

Emp L&I - 15378 $220.68

Emp L&I - 15379 $249.77

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 6



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

L&I - 15339 $43.44

L&I - 15341 $39.22

Emp L&I - 15447 $18.80

Emp L&I - 15448 $164.23

Emp L&I - 15445 $15.60

Emp L&I - 15446 $65.97

Emp L&I - 15443 $12.34

Emp L&I - 15444 $13.67

Emp L&I - 15441 $13.03

Emp L&I - 15442 $138.53

Emp L&I - 15439 $145.13

Emp L&I - 15440 $14.96

Emp L&I - 15437 $359.25

Emp L&I - 15438 $12.82

Emp L&I - 15434 $268.58

Emp L&I - 15436 $1.28

Emp L&I - 15432 $145.13

Emp L&I - 15433 $314.77

Emp L&I - 15429 $17.09

Emp L&I - 15430 $246.34

Emp L&I - 15427 $17.09

Emp L&I - 15428 $131.93

Emp L&I - 15425 $13.67

Emp L&I - 15426 $13.89

Emp L&I - 15422 $9.83

Emp L&I - 15423 $118.74

Emp L&I - 15420 $105.55

Emp L&I - 15421 $16.88

Emp L&I - 15418 $314.77

Emp L&I - 15419 $17.09

Emp L&I - 15416 $323.33

Emp L&I - 15417 $309.64

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 7



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/18/2024

L&I - 15373 $0.67

L&I - 15374 $39.01

L&I - 15371 $29.79

L&I - 15372 $10.80

L&I - 15369 $8.60

L&I - 15370 $12.37

L&I - 15367 $17.44

L&I - 15368 $9.56

L&I - 15365 $10.96

L&I - 15366 $5.62

L&I - 15363 $11.24

L&I - 15364 $34.87

L&I - 15361 $35.85

L&I - 15362 $38.80

L&I - 15359 $39.64

L&I - 15360 $39.75

L&I - 15357 $42.60

L&I - 15358 $31.97

L&I - 15355 $30.51

L&I - 15356 $10.01

L&I - 15353 $29.79

L&I - 15354 $9.90

L&I - 15351 $9.11

L&I - 15352 $10.63

L&I - 15349 $23.25

L&I - 15350 $9.59

L&I - 15346 $31.97

L&I - 15348 $9.31

L&I - 15344 $39.64

L&I - 15345 $10.12

L&I - 15342 $34.58

L&I - 15343 $33.32

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 8



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

L&I - 15411 $2.70

L&I - 15412 $26.15

L&I - 15409 $7.70

L&I - 15410 $22.88

L&I - 15407 $6.63

L&I - 15408 $6.13

L&I - 15405 $4.27

L&I - 15406 $23.25

L&I - 15403 $23.25

L&I - 15404 $7.93

L&I - 15401 $38.80

L&I - 15402 $7.06

L&I - 15399 $28.05

L&I - 15400 $0.67

L&I - 15396 $20.34

L&I - 15397 $35.85

L&I - 15389 $9.00

L&I - 15395 $34.16

L&I - 15387 $8.94

L&I - 15388 $27.79

L&I - 15385 $5.40

L&I - 15386 $7.31

L&I - 15383 $3.94

L&I - 15384 $23.61

L&I - 15381 $29.06

L&I - 15382 $7.98

L&I - 15379 $30.79

L&I - 15380 $10.12

L&I - 15377 $21.51

L&I - 15378 $27.20

L&I - 15375 $11.62

L&I - 15376 $34.16

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 9



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

L&I - 15446 $14.53

L&I - 15447 $9.90

L&I - 15444 $7.20

L&I - 15445 $8.21

L&I - 15442 $30.51

L&I - 15443 $6.49

L&I - 15440 $7.87

L&I - 15441 $6.86

L&I - 15438 $6.75

L&I - 15439 $31.97

L&I - 15436 $0.67

L&I - 15437 $44.28

L&I - 15433 $38.80

L&I - 15434 $33.11

L&I - 15430 $30.37

L&I - 15432 $31.97

L&I - 15428 $29.06

L&I - 15429 $9.00

L&I - 15426 $7.31

L&I - 15427 $9.00

L&I - 15423 $26.15

L&I - 15425 $7.20

L&I - 15421 $8.88

L&I - 15422 $5.17

L&I - 15419 $9.00

L&I - 15420 $23.25

L&I - 15417 $38.17

L&I - 15418 $38.80

L&I - 15415 $34.16

L&I - 15416 $39.86

L&I - 15413 $25.94

L&I - 15414 $27.61

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 10



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/2/2025

WA Employment Security - PFML

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024PFML - 15370 $18.83

PFML - 15368 $15.13

PFML - 15369 $16.27

PFML - 15366 $36.31

PFML - 15367 $15.03

PFML - 15364 $14.03

PFML - 15365 $19.25

PFML - 15362 $16.09

PFML - 15363 $18.88

PFML - 15360 $19.57

PFML - 15361 $16.20

PFML - 15358 $16.22

PFML - 15359 $24.12

PFML - 15356 $19.25

PFML - 15357 $16.32

PFML - 15354 $13.17

PFML - 15355 $15.42

PFML - 15352 $16.88

PFML - 15353 $23.92

PFML - 15350 $15.13

PFML - 15351 $16.27

PFML - 15348 $12.71

PFML - 15349 $15.03

PFML - 15345 $18.88

PFML - 15346 $14.03

PFML - 15343 $19.01

PFML - 15344 $17.47

PFML - 15341 $24.93

PFML - 15342 $19.45

Reference Number: EFT*20250105 $1,793.90

PFML - 15339 $22.52

L&I - 15448 $20.24

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 11



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024PFML - 15403 $14.89

PFML - 15401 $16.15

PFML - 15402 $18.88

PFML - 15399 $18.62

PFML - 15400 $5.29

PFML - 15396 $16.22

PFML - 15397 $25.87

PFML - 15394 $16.84

PFML - 15395 $16.32

PFML - 15392 $8.89

PFML - 15393 $10.41

PFML - 15390 $10.86

PFML - 15391 $8.71

PFML - 15388 $23.92

PFML - 15389 $13.17

PFML - 15386 $16.27

PFML - 15387 $16.23

PFML - 15384 $16.57

PFML - 15385 $15.13

PFML - 15382 $19.25

PFML - 15383 $4.70

PFML - 15380 $18.88

PFML - 15381 $13.52

PFML - 15378 $16.21

PFML - 15379 $17.47

PFML - 15376 $24.12

PFML - 15377 $18.90

PFML - 15374 $16.81

PFML - 15375 $15.42

PFML - 15372 $13.17

PFML - 15373 $5.29

PFML - 15371 $23.92

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 12



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025PFML - 15438 $18.88

PFML - 15436 $5.29

PFML - 15437 $39.59

PFML - 15433 $54.71

PFML - 15434 $18.82

PFML - 15430 $16.67

PFML - 15432 $16.22

PFML - 15428 $23.92

PFML - 15429 $13.17

PFML - 15426 $16.27

PFML - 15427 $15.18

PFML - 15423 $16.57

PFML - 15425 $15.13

PFML - 15421 $19.25

PFML - 15422 $6.17

PFML - 15419 $18.88

PFML - 15420 $14.32

PFML - 15417 $18.92

PFML - 15418 $16.07

PFML - 15415 $24.09

PFML - 15416 $20.29

PFML - 15413 $16.46

PFML - 15414 $15.42

PFML - 15411 $13.17

PFML - 15412 $19.33

PFML - 15409 $16.36

PFML - 15410 $23.92

PFML - 15407 $15.13

PFML - 15408 $16.27

PFML - 15405 $5.10

PFML - 15406 $15.73

PFML - 15404 $19.25

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 13



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

WA Employment Security-WA Cares Fund

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

10/17/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

LTC - 15363 $20.71

LTC - 15364 $15.40

LTC - 15361 $17.78

LTC - 15362 $17.66

LTC - 15358 $17.79

LTC - 15360 $21.47

LTC - 15355 $16.92

LTC - 15357 $17.90

LTC - 15353 $26.24

LTC - 15354 $14.45

LTC - 15351 $17.85

LTC - 15352 $18.52

LTC - 15349 $16.49

LTC - 15350 $16.60

LTC - 15346 $15.40

LTC - 15348 $13.94

LTC - 15344 $19.17

LTC - 15345 $20.71

LTC - 15342 $21.35

LTC - 15343 $20.86

Reference Number: EFT*20250106 $1,624.67

LTC - 15339 $24.71

PFML - 15448 $23.06

PFML - 15446 $23.92

PFML - 15447 $13.17

PFML - 15444 $16.27

PFML - 15445 $16.49

PFML - 15442 $15.73

PFML - 15443 $15.13

PFML - 15440 $19.25

PFML - 15441 $8.18

PFML - 15439 $14.93

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 14



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/4/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

11/18/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

LTC - 15403 $16.33

LTC - 15406 $17.26

LTC - 15401 $17.72

LTC - 15402 $20.71

LTC - 15399 $20.43

LTC - 15400 $5.80

LTC - 15395 $17.90

LTC - 15396 $17.79

LTC - 15393 $11.42

LTC - 15394 $18.48

LTC - 15389 $14.45

LTC - 15391 $9.56

LTC - 15387 $17.80

LTC - 15388 $26.24

LTC - 15385 $16.60

LTC - 15386 $17.85

LTC - 15381 $14.83

LTC - 15384 $18.18

LTC - 15379 $19.17

LTC - 15380 $20.71

LTC - 15377 $20.74

LTC - 15378 $17.79

LTC - 15374 $18.44

LTC - 15375 $16.92

LTC - 15372 $14.45

LTC - 15373 $5.80

LTC - 15370 $20.66

LTC - 15371 $26.24

LTC - 15368 $16.60

LTC - 15369 $17.85

LTC - 15366 $39.85

LTC - 15367 $16.49

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 15



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/3/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

12/17/2024

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

1/2/2025

LTC - 15446 $26.24

LTC - 15447 $14.45

LTC - 15444 $17.85

LTC - 15445 $18.09

LTC - 15442 $17.26

LTC - 15443 $16.60

LTC - 15438 $20.71

LTC - 15439 $16.38

LTC - 15436 $5.80

LTC - 15437 $43.44

LTC - 15432 $17.79

LTC - 15434 $20.65

LTC - 15429 $14.45

LTC - 15430 $18.30

LTC - 15427 $16.66

LTC - 15428 $26.24

LTC - 15425 $16.60

LTC - 15426 $17.85

LTC - 15420 $15.71

LTC - 15423 $18.18

LTC - 15418 $17.64

LTC - 15419 $20.71

LTC - 15416 $22.26

LTC - 15417 $20.76

LTC - 15413 $18.06

LTC - 15414 $16.92

LTC - 15411 $14.45

LTC - 15412 $21.21

LTC - 15409 $17.95

LTC - 15410 $26.24

LTC - 15407 $16.60

LTC - 15408 $17.85

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 16



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/2/2025

11/18/2024

12/3/2024

12/17/2024

1/2/2025

Dept of Retirement Systems

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025Taxable Retirement  - 15459 $71.86

Taxable Retirement  - 15457 $187.95

Taxable Retirement  - 15458 $270.28

Taxable Retirement  - 15455 $274.36

Taxable Retirement  - 15456 $240.76

Taxable Retirement  - 15453 $317.22

Taxable Retirement  - 15454 $290.99

Taxable Retirement  - 15451 $196.41

Taxable Retirement  - 15452 $437.28

Emp Rtmt - 15465 $240.51

Taxable Retirement  - 15450 $294.55

Emp Rtmt - 15463 $350.88

Emp Rtmt - 15464 $436.49

Emp Rtmt - 15461 $276.33

Emp Rtmt - 15462 $297.18

Emp Rtmt - 15459 $102.92

Emp Rtmt - 15460 $287.42

Emp Rtmt - 15457 $269.21

Emp Rtmt - 15458 $351.75

Emp Rtmt - 15455 $171.12

Emp Rtmt - 15456 $344.86

Emp Rtmt - 15453 $197.85

Emp Rtmt - 15454 $181.48

Emp Rtmt - 15451 $281.34

Emp Rtmt - 15452 $272.73

Reference Number: EFT*20250107 $8,146.07

Emp Rtmt - 15450 $183.70

WA Cares - 15441 $8.98

WA Cares - 15405 $5.59

WA Cares - 15422 $6.77

LTC - 15448 $25.30

WA Cares - 15383 $5.15

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 17



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

Dept of Treasury Internal Revenue Service

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025Medicare - 15453 (2) $54.78

Medicare - 15452 (2) $74.70

Medicare - 15453 $54.78

Medicare - 15451 (2) $44.78

Medicare - 15452 $74.70

Medicare - 15450 (2) $50.25

Medicare - 15451 $44.78

Federal Income Tax - 15465 $181.39

Medicare - 15450 $50.25

Federal Income Tax - 15463 $332.78

Federal Income Tax - 15464 $728.51

Federal Income Tax - 15461 $167.61

Federal Income Tax - 15462 $269.32

Federal Income Tax - 15459 $0.00

Federal Income Tax - 15460 $362.26

Federal Income Tax - 15457 $363.05

Federal Income Tax - 15458 $512.88

Federal Income Tax - 15455 $401.29

Federal Income Tax - 15456 $393.55

Federal Income Tax - 15453 $538.51

Federal Income Tax - 15454 $437.01

Federal Income Tax - 15451 $195.69

Federal Income Tax - 15452 $763.57

Reference Number: EFT*20250108 $7,701.21

Federal Income Tax - 15450 $469.85

Taxable Retirement  - 15465 $167.91

Taxable Retirement  - 15463 $244.96

Taxable Retirement  - 15464 $304.73

Taxable Retirement  - 15461 $192.91

Taxable Retirement  - 15462 $207.47

Taxable Retirement  - 15460 $200.66

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 18



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

WAVE

1/1/2025

WAVE

1/1/2025

WAVE

12/26/2024

Reference Number: EFT*20250111 $98.43

032768701-0011246 $98.43 2024-12/23- 1/22/25  WAVE Phone & Internet PW

138091001-0011258 $112.10 Mayme 1/01-1/31 2025

Reference Number: EFT*20250110 $112.10

Reference Number: EFT*20250109 $112.10

138396801-0011258 $112.10 2025  WAVE Phone PD1/01-1/31

Medicare - 15465 (2) $38.28

Medicare - 15464 (2) $69.47

Medicare - 15465 $38.28

Medicare - 15463 (2) $55.85

Medicare - 15464 $69.47

Medicare - 15462 (2) $47.30

Medicare - 15463 $55.85

Medicare - 15461 (2) $43.98

Medicare - 15462 $47.30

Medicare - 15460 (2) $45.75

Medicare - 15461 $43.98

Medicare - 15459 (2) $16.38

Medicare - 15460 $45.75

Medicare - 15458 (2) $55.99

Medicare - 15459 $16.38

Medicare - 15457 (2) $42.85

Medicare - 15458 $55.99

Medicare - 15456 (2) $54.89

Medicare - 15457 $42.85

Medicare - 15455 (2) $47.18

Medicare - 15456 $54.89

Medicare - 15454 (2) $49.54

Medicare - 15455 $47.18

Medicare - 15454 $49.54

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 19



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

WAVE

1/1/2025

Quill Corporation

1/14/2025

Crystal Springs/Primo

12/4/2024

Dept of Revenue

1/23/2025

DE Lage Landen Financial Services

1/11/2025

Payroll Vendor

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

1/16/2025

Totals $136,355.74

ACH Pay - 15465 $1,929.78

ACH Pay - 15463 $2,922.42

ACH Pay - 15464 $3,217.58

ACH Pay - 15461 $2,145.58

ACH Pay - 15462 $2,241.07

ACH Pay - 15459 $981.35

ACH Pay - 15460 $2,111.06

ACH Pay - 15457 $2,133.29

ACH Pay - 15458 $2,619.57

ACH Pay - 15455 $2,224.99

ACH Pay - 15456 $2,533.41

ACH Pay - 15453 $2,648.86

ACH Pay - 15454 $2,326.07

ACH Pay - 15451 $2,153.79

ACH Pay - 15452 $3,470.85

Reference Number: Jan 1-15, 2025 $38,137.93

ACH Pay - 15450 $2,478.26

83412814 $464.00 2025 Jan Sharp MX307105 CITY HALL/PD

Reference Number: EFT*20250116 $464.00

Reference Number: EFT*20250115 $8,161.61

2024*Dec Excise Tax $8,161.61 2024*Dec Excise Tax

24715952 120424 $58.30 Water Service 11/14/24

Reference Number: EFT*20250114 $58.30

Reference Number: EFT*20250113 $69.99

42376857 $69.99 Saphire Renewal 2025

138396701-0011258 $112.10 2025  1/1-1/31 WAVE Internet

Reference Number: EFT*20250112 $112.10

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 20



Date

                                          January 2025 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

The following voucher/warrants/electronic payments are approved for payment:

Accounts Payable 88 20 55,761.98           39530-39549

Payroll Vendors

Electronic Payments 8 8 9,188.63             EFT*20250109-16

Electronic Payroll 5 5 33,267.20           EFT*20250104-08

ACH Direct Deposit 17 17 38,137.93           Payroll Jan 1-15

Total Vouchers 118 50 136,355.74         

VOID EFT*202412 & reissued For Primo Water

WE, THE FOLLOWING SIGNEES, APPROVE THE VOUCHERS FOR PAYMENT:

MAYOR: __________________________________________________________

TREASURER: _________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #1: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #2: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #3: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #4: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #5: ___________________________________________________

Police Department - John Brockmueller_____________________________

Public Works/Community Development - Bryan Morris ________________

Court- Lacie Dewitt _______________________________________________

City Clerk - Rachelle Denham:_____________________________________

DATED THIS     DAY OF             ,2025

Voucher Report

January 28, 2025  City of Napavine - 21



                    
 

April 2024 

  
CITY OF NAPAVINE 

SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM 
 COMPREHENSIVE UPDATE 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved by Department of Ecology 
November 15, 2018 

Updated August 2024 

Mackenzie Stamey
Update date of document here and at footer when final



   
 

   
 

  
NAPAVINE CITY COUNCIL 

 
Shawn O’Neill, Mayor 

Brian Watson 
Ivan Wiediger 
Don Webster 

Heather Stewart 
Duane Crouse 

NAPAVINE PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Deborah Graham  
Amy Hollinger 

Arnold Haberstroh 
Amy Morris 
Scott Collins 

 
 

NAPAVINE CITY STAFF 
 

Director Bryan Morris 
Executive Assistant Katie Williams 

  
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 

The City of Napavine would like to acknowledge the many public and private agencies 
that have developed information on the shorelines of Napavine  

that was used in this update. 
 

The first part of this update was prepared with Grant Funding from the Washington State 
Department of Ecology SMA Grant Agreement No. G1200036. 

 
 

Mackenzie Stamey
Update as needed

Andrea Aberle
City contact names updated



 

1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 

1. 1Purposes
 1 
Applicability 2 
Governing Principles of this Master Program 3 
Title 4 
Short title 4 
Authority 4 
Reference to Plans, Regulations or Information Sources 5 
Relationship to Other Land Use Regulations 5 
Liberal Construction 6 
Severability 6 
Amendments 6 
Effective Date 6 
2. 7Shorelines of the State
 7 
Shoreline Jurisdiction for Streams and Flood Plains 7 
Shorelines within the City of Napavine and its Urban Growth Area 7 
Shoreline Environment Designations 7 
Aquatic 7 
Urban Conservancy 8 
Official Map 10 
Conflicts between Designation and Criteria 10 
Shoreline Areas not Mapped or Designated 10 
3. 11General Provisions
 11 
Permit Applications 11 
Substantial Development Permit 17 
Shoreline Conditional Use Permit 18 
Shoreline Variance Permit 19 
Shoreline Exemptions 20 
Developments Not Required To Obtain Shoreline Permits Or Local Review 25 
Unspecified Uses 25 
Time Requirements and Revisions 25 
Penalties and Enforcement 28 
4. 29Nonconforming Uses and Structures – General
 29 
Development of a Nonconforming Lot 31 
5. 33Conservation
 33 

Purpose 33 



   
 

2 
 

Goals 33 
Economic Development 33 

Purpose 33 
Goals 34 

Historic, Archeological, Cultural, Scientific and Educational Resources 34 
Purpose 34 
Goals 34 

Public Access 35 
Purpose 35 
Goals 35 

Recreation 35 
Purpose 35 
Goals 36 

Restoration and Enhancement 36 
Purpose 36 
Goals 36 

Shoreline Use 36 
Purpose 36 
Goals 37 

Transportation and Utilities 37 
Purpose 37 
Goals 37 

6. 39Environment Impact Mitigation
 39 

Policies 39 
Regulations 39 

Critical Areas and Shoreline Vegetation Conservation 40 
Policies 40 
Regulations 42 

Public Access 45 
Policies 45 
Regulations 46 

Water Quality 50 
Policies 50 
Regulations 51 

Parking 51 
Policies 51 
Regulations 52 

Signage 53 
Policies 53 
Regulations 53 

Historical or Archeological Resources 53 
Policies 53 
Regulations 53 

Scientific or Educational Uses 54 
Policies 54 



 

3 
 

Regulations 55 
7. 56Table of Uses and Activities by Shoreline Environment Designation
 57 
Table of Regulations by Shoreline Environment Designation 58 
Agriculture 59 

Policies 59 
Regulations 59 

Aquaculture 59 
Policies 59 
Regulations 59 

Boating facilities 59 
Policies 59 
Regulations 59 

Commercial 59 
Policies 59 
Regulations 60 

Forest Practices 61 
Policies 61 
Regulations 61 

Industrial 61 
Policies 61 
Regulations 62 

Mining 62 
Policy 62 
Regulation 62 

Recreation 62 
Policies 62 
Regulations 63 

Residential 64 
Policy 64 
Regulation 64 

Solid Waste DisposaL 64 
Policy 64 
Regulation 64 

Transportation 64 
Policies 64 
Regulations 65 

Utilities 66 
Policies 66 
Regulations 67 

8. 71Table of Shoreline Modifications by Shoreline Environment Designation
 70 
General Policies 71 
Dredging and Dredge Disposal 71 

Policies 71 
Regulations 73 



   
 

4 
 

Fill 76 
Policies 76 
Regulations 77 

Overwater Structures 78 
Policies 78 
Regulations 78 

Restoration and Enhancement 78 
Policies 78 
Regulations 79 

Shoreline Stabilization 80 
Policies 80 
Regulations 82 

Breakwaters, Jetties And Groins 86 
Policies 86 
Regulations 86 

Dikes, Levees and Instream Structures 86 
Policies 86 
Regulations 88 

9. 92 
LIST OF TABLES 

 
No. Table  On Page 
 
1 Uses and Activities by Shoreline Environment Designation 57 
2 Regulations by Shoreline Environment Designation 58 
3 Shoreline Modifications by Shoreline Environment Designation 70 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 
No. Figure On or Follows Page 
 
1 Possible Expansion to a Nonconforming Single-Family Residence 30 
 

LIST OF MAPS 
 
No. Map Follows Page 
 
1 Napavine Shoreline Environment Designations 109



                      

City of Napavine 1 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
PURPOSES 
 
The purposes of this Shoreline Master Program are to: 
 

A. Guide the future use and development of the City of Napavine’s shorelines in a positive, effective, and 
equitable manner consistent with the Washington State Shoreline Management Act of 1971 (Revised 
Code of Washington (RCW) 90.58) as amended; and 

 
B. Promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the community by providing long range, 

comprehensive policies and effective, reasonable regulations for use and development of City of 
Napavine shorelines; and 

 
C. Ensure, at minimum, no net loss of shoreline ecological functions and processes; and  

 
D. Plan for restoring shorelines that have been impaired or degraded in the past; and 

 
E. Adhere to the policies contained in RCW 90.58.020 for shorelines of the state:  

 
“It is the policy of the State to provide for the management of the 
shorelines of the State by planning for and fostering all reasonable 
and appropriate uses. This policy is designed to insure the 
development of these shorelines in a manner, which, while 
allowing for limited reduction of rights of the public in the 
navigable waters, will promote and enhance the public interest. 
This policy contemplates protecting against adverse effects to the 
public health, the land and its vegetation and wildlife, and the 
waters of the State and their aquatic life, while protecting 
generally public rights of navigation and corollary rights 
incidental thereto...  
 
In the implementation of this policy the public’s opportunity to 
enjoy the physical and aesthetic qualities of natural shorelines of 
the State shall be preserved to the greatest extent feasible 
consistent with the overall best interest of the State and the people 
generally. To this end uses shall be preferred which are consistent 
with control of pollution and prevention of damage to the natural 
environment or are unique to or dependent upon use of the State's 
shoreline. Alterations of the natural condition of the shorelines of 
the State, in those limited instances when authorized, shall be 
given priority for single family residences, ports, shoreline 
recreational uses including but not limited to parks, marinas, 
piers, and other improvements facilitating public access to 
shorelines of the State, industrial and commercial developments 



                    

2 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

which are particularly dependent on their location on or use of the 
shorelines of the State, and other development that will provide an 
opportunity for substantial numbers of the people to enjoy the 
shorelines of the State.  
 
Permitted uses in the shorelines of the State shall be designed and 
conducted in a manner to minimize, insofar as practical, any 
resultant damage to the ecology and environment of the shoreline 
area and any interference with the public’s use of the water.” 

 
APPLICABILITY  
 

A. All proposed uses, modifications and development, as defined in 
Sections 7, 8 and 9, and occurring within shoreline jurisdiction, shall 
comply with this Master Program and RCW 90.58. This Master Program 
applies to all uses and developments within shoreline jurisdiction whether 
or not a shoreline permit or statement of permit exemption is required. 

 
B. The Program’s shoreline uses and developments shall be classified as 

follows:  
 

1. Permitted uses and developments – Uses and developments that 
are consistent with this Program and RCW 90.58.  Such 
uses/developments shall require a shoreline substantial 
development permit, a shoreline conditional use permit, shoreline 
variance, and/or a statement that the use/development is exempt 
from a shoreline substantial development permit. 

 
2. Prohibited uses and developments – Uses and developments that 

are inconsistent with this Program and/or RCW 90.58 and which 
cannot be allowed through any permit or variance. 

 
C. Classification of a use or development as permitted does not necessarily 

mean the use/development is allowed.  It means the use/development may 
be permitted subject to review and approval by the City and/or the 
Washington State Department of Ecology.  Many permitted 
uses/developments, including those that do not require a substantial 
development permit, can individually or cumulatively affect adjacent 
properties and/or natural resources and therefore must comply with the 
Program in order to avoid or minimize such adverse impacts.  The City 
may attach conditions of approval to any permitted use via a permit or 
statement of exemption as necessary to assure consistency of the project 
with the Shoreline Management Act and the Program. 

 
D. This Program shall apply to:  



 
 

City of Napavine 3 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
1. All of the lands and waters of the City of Napavine that fall under 

the jurisdiction of RCW 90.58; and  
 
2. Every person, individual, firm, partnership, association, 

organization, local or state governmental agency, public or 
municipal corporation, or other non-federal entity; and  

 
3. All non-federal uses and developments undertaken on federal lands 

and on lands subject to non-federal ownership, lease, or easement, 
even though such lands may fall within the external boundaries of 
federally owned lands. 

 
4. The provisions of this Program shall not apply to lands held in trust 

by the United States for Indian Nations, tribes or tribal members.  
 
GOVERNING PRINCIPLES OF THIS MASTER PROGRAM 
 

A. The goals, policies and regulations of this Program are based on the governing 
principles in WAC 173-26-186 and the policy statements of RCW 90.58.020.  
 

B. Any inconsistencies between this Program and RCW 90.58 must be resolved in 
accordance with the RCW.  
 

C. The planning policies of this Program may be achieved by diverse means, one of 
which is regulation.  The City may also acquire land, implement capital projects 
and programs, encourage voluntary measures, create incentive programs, or use 
other means to implement the Program planning policies. 
 

D. When regulating use and development of private property, the City’s actions must 
be consistent with all relevant legal limitations including constitutional 
limitations.  This Program must not unconstitutionally infringe on private 
property rights or result in an unconstitutional taking of private property. 
 

E. The regulatory provisions of this Program are limited to shorelines of the state, 
whereas the planning functions of this Program may extend beyond shoreline 
jurisdiction.  
 

F. The policies and regulations of this Program must be integrated and coordinated 
with the policies and rules of the City of Napavine Comprehensive Plan 
(Comprehensive Plan), and its implementing development regulations adopted 
under the Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A).  
 

G. The policies and regulations of this Program are intended to protect shoreline 
ecological functions by:  



                    

4 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
1. Requiring that current and potential ecological functions be identified 

and understood when evaluating new uses and developments; 
 

2. Requiring adverse impacts to be mitigated in a manner that ensures no 
net loss of shoreline ecological functions.  Mitigation sequencing, as 
described in Section 6, Environmental Impact Mitigation Regulations, 
shall include avoiding first, then minimizing, and then 
replacing/compensating for lost functions and/or resources. 

 
3. Ensuring that all uses and developments, including preferred uses and 

uses that are exempt from a shoreline substantial development permit, 
will not cause a net loss of shoreline ecological functions.  

 
4. Preventing, to the greatest extent practicable, cumulative impacts from 

individual developments. 
 

5. Fairly allocating the burden of preventing cumulative impacts among 
development opportunities. 

 
6. Including goals, policies and actions to restore shoreline ecological 

functions where such functions have been degraded by past actions.  
 
TITLE 
 
This document shall be known and may be cited as the Shoreline Master Program (SMP) 
for the City of Napavine, Washington.  
 
SHORT TITLE 
 
This document may be referred to internally as the Master Program or Program. 
 
AUTHORITY 
 
Authority for enactment and administration of this SMP is the Shoreline Management 
Act of 1971, Chapter 90.58, Revised Code of Washington (RCW), also referred to herein 
as the “SMA.”  All SMPs must satisfy the requirements of Chapter 173-26 WAC, State 
master program approval/amendment procedures and master program guidelines, and 
Chapter 173-27 WAC, Shoreline permitting and enforcement procedures. 
 
REFERENCE TO PLANS, REGULATIONS OR INFORMATION SOURCES 
 
Where this Program makes reference to any RCW or WAC, as amended, and the current 
edition of other state, or federal regulations, these shall apply. 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 5 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER LAND USE REGULATIONS 
 

A. In the case of development subject to the shoreline permit requirement of this 
program, the Community Development Director shall not issue a building permit 
for such development until a shoreline permit has been granted.  Also, any permit 
issued by the Community Development Department for such development shall 
be subject to the same terms and conditions that apply to the shoreline permit. 
 

B. In the case of development subject to regulations of this program but exempt from 
the shoreline substantial development permit requirement, any required statement 
of exemption shall be obtained prior to issuance of the building permit; provided 
that, for single family residences, a building permit reviewed and signed off by 
the Community Development Department may substitute for a written statement 
of exemption. A record of review documenting compliance with bulk and 
dimensional standards as well as policies and regulations of this program shall be 
included in the permit review.  
 

C. In the case of conditional use permits, rescissions and/or variances allowed or 
required by Subdivision and Zoning Standards and/or the Napavine Critical Areas 
Ordinance (NCAO) for development that is also within shorelines, the 
Community Development Director shall document compliance with bulk and 
dimensional standards as well as policies and regulations of this program. The 
Community Development Director shall attach conditions to such permits and 
variances as required to make such development consistent with this Program. 
 

D. In the case of land divisions, such as short subdivisions, long plats, planned unit 
developments, and binding site plans that require City approval, the local decision 
maker shall document compliance with bulk and dimensional standards as well as 
policies and regulations of this program and attach appropriate conditions and/or 
mitigating measures to such approvals to ensure the design, development 
activities and future use associated with such land division(s) are consistent with 
this Program. 
 

E. Developments within shoreline jurisdiction shall also comply with City 
development standards, and applicable state and federal regulations, where they 
do not conflict with the shoreline goals, shoreline policies, and development 
regulations of this Program. 
 

F. Critical areas including frequently flooded areas, wetlands, fish and wildlife 
habitats, critical aquifer recharge areas, and geologically hazardous areas that are 
located within shoreline jurisdiction are regulated by this Program as detailed in 
Section 6, Critical Areas and Shoreline Vegetation Conservation.  

 
LIBERAL CONSTRUCTION 
 



                    

6 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

As provided for in RCW 90.58.900, the SMA is exempted from the rule of strict 
construction; the SMA and this Program shall therefore be liberally construed to give full 
effect to the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies for which the SMA and this 
Program were enacted and adopted, respectively. 
 
SEVERABILITY 
 
If any provision of this Program or its application to any person or legal entity or 
circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of the Program, or the application of the 
provision to other persons or legal entities or circumstances, shall not be affected. 
 
The SMA and this Program adopted pursuant thereto comprise the basic state and City 
regulations for the use of shorelines in the City. In the event provisions of this Program 
conflict with other applicable City policies or regulations, the more restrictive shall 
prevail. Should any section or provision of this Program be declared invalid, such 
decision shall not affect the validity of this Program as a whole. 
 
AMENDMENTS 
 
Amendments to the Program including changes to the mapped shoreline environment 
designations shall be processed per WAC 173-26. 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
This Program and all amendments thereto shall become effective 14 days from the date of 
final action as outlined in RCW 90.58.090. 
  



 
 

City of Napavine 7 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

2. SHORELINE JURISDICTION AND ENVIRONMENT 
DESIGNATIONS 

 
SHORELINES OF THE STATE 
 
The jurisdiction of this Program is “shorelines of the state,” which includes all 
“shorelines” as defined in RCW 90.58.030. 
 
SHORELINE JURISDICTION FOR STREAMS AND FLOOD PLAINS 
 
Shoreline jurisdiction for streams where the mean annual flow is 20 cubic feet per second 
or greater shall include the greater of the following: 
 

A. Those lands which extend landward two hundred (200) feet as measured on a 
horizontal plane from the ordinary high water mark;  
 

B. Floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from such 
floodways; and 
 

C. Those wetlands which are in proximity to and either influence or are influenced 
by the stream. This influence includes but is not limited to one or more of the 
following: Periodic inundation; location within a flood plain; or hydraulic 
continuity. 

 
SHORELINES WITHIN THE CITY OF NAPAVINE AND ITS URBAN 
GROWTH AREA 
 
The City of Napavine shall have authority over those shorelines within its municipal 
boundaries.  Those shorelines within the City that have been inventoried and found to 
meet the criteria for Shoreline Jurisdiction as outlined above include: 
 
Newaukum River  
 
SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATIONS 
 
The Shoreline Master Program Guidelines (Chapter 173-26 WAC) recommend a 
classification system for designating shorelines.  The purpose, designation criteria, and 
management policies for each of these “Shoreline Environment Designations” or “SEDs” 
are described below. 
 
AQUATIC 
 

A. The purpose of the “aquatic” environment is to protect, restore and manage the 
unique characteristics and resources of the areas waterward of the ordinary high-
water mark. 



                    

8 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
B. The ‘aquatic” environment designation shall be applied to lands waterward of the 

ordinary high-water mark. 
 

C. Management Policies 
 

1. Allow new over-water structures only for water-dependent uses, public access, or 
ecological restoration. 

 
2. The size of new over-water structures should be limited to the minimum 

necessary to support the structure's intended use. 
 

3. In order to reduce the impacts of shoreline development and increase effective use 
of water resources, multiple use of over-water facilities should be encouraged. 

 
4. All developments and uses on navigable waters or their beds should be located 

and designed to minimize interference with surface navigation, to consider 
impacts to public views, and to allow for the safe, unobstructed passage of fish 
and wildlife, particularly those species dependent on migration. 

 
5. Uses that adversely impact the ecological functions of critical freshwater habitats 

should not be allowed except where necessary to achieve the objectives of RCW 
90.58.020, and then only when their impacts are mitigated according to the 
sequence described in this SMP as necessary to assure no net loss of ecological 
functions. 

 
6. Shoreline uses and modifications should be designed and managed to prevent 

degradation of water quality and alteration of natural hydrographic conditions. 
 

7. Local governments should reserve shoreline space for shoreline preferred uses.  
Such planning should consider upland and in-water uses, water quality, 
navigation, presence of aquatic vegetation, existing shellfish protection districts 
and critical habitats, aesthetics, public access and views. 

 
URBAN CONSERVANCY  
 

A. The purpose of the “urban conservancy” environment is to protect and restore 
ecological functions of open space, flood plain and other sensitive lands where 
they exist in urban and developed settings, while allowing a variety of compatible 
uses. 
 

B. The “urban conservancy” environment designation shall be applied to shoreline 
areas appropriate and planned for development that is compatible with 
maintaining or restoring of the ecological functions of the area, that are not 
generally suitable for water-dependent uses and that lie in incorporated 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=90.58.020


 
 

City of Napavine 9 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

municipalities and urban growth areas if any of the following characteristics 
apply: 

 
1. Shoreline areas that are suitable for water-related or water-enjoyment uses; 

 
2. Shoreline areas that are open space, flood plain or other sensitive areas that should 

not be more intensively developed; 
 

3. Shoreline areas that have potential for ecological restoration; 
 

4. Shoreline areas that retain important ecological functions, even though partially 
developed; or 

 
5. Shoreline areas that have the potential for development that is compatible with 

ecological restoration. 
 

C. Management Policies 
 
1. Uses that preserve the natural character of the area or promote preservation of 

open space, flood plain or sensitive lands either directly or over the long term 
should be the primary allowed uses. Uses that result in restoration of ecological 
functions should be allowed if the use is otherwise compatible with the purpose of 
the environment and the setting. 

 
2. Standards established for shoreline stabilization measures, vegetation 

conservation, water quality, and shoreline modifications within the "urban 
conservancy" designation should ensure that new development does not result in a 
net loss of shoreline ecological functions or further degrade other shoreline 
values.  

 
3. Public access and public recreation objectives should be implemented whenever 

feasible and significant ecological impacts can be mitigated. 
 

4. Water-oriented uses should be given priority over nonwater-oriented uses.  For 
shoreline areas adjacent to commercially navigable waters, water-dependent uses 
should be given highest priority. 

 
  



                    

10 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

OFFICIAL MAP 
 

A. Shoreline Jurisdiction and the Shoreline Environment Designations are depicted 
on a map, hereby incorporated as a part of this SMP that shall be known as “Map 
1 Napavine Shoreline Environment Designations.” 
 

B. The boundaries of shoreline jurisdiction on the map are approximate. The extent 
of shoreline jurisdiction shall be based upon an on-site inspection and the criteria 
found in RCW 90.58.030 pertaining to shorelands. 
 

C. The official copy of this map shall reside with the Washington State Department 
of Ecology.  
 

D. Copies of this map are available for public use from the City of Napavine. 
 
CONFLICTS BETWEEN DESIGNATION AND CRITERIA 
 
In the event that any of the environment designation boundaries shown on Map 1conflict 
with the criteria outlined in the aquatic and urban conservancy designations, the criteria 
shall control. 
 
SHORELINE AREAS NOT MAPPED OR DESIGNATED 
 

A. Per WAC 173-26-211 (2)(e), all areas within shoreline jurisdiction that are not 
mapped and/or designated are automatically assigned an urban conservancy 
designation until the shoreline can be redesignated through a master program 
amendment.  

  



 
 

City of Napavine 11 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

3. SHORELINE PERMITS 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. All development and use of shorelines of the state shall be carried out in a manner 
that is consistent with this SMP and the policy of the Act as required by RCW 
90.58.140(1), whether or not a shoreline permit or statement of exemption is 
required. 
 

B. No use, land or water alteration, or development shall be undertaken within 
shoreline jurisdiction of the Shoreline Management Act by any person without 
first obtaining a permit, except the Community Development Director may issue a 
letter of exemption from a substantial development permit consistent with RCW 
90.58.030(3)(e). 

 
C. Before issuing a Statement of Exemption, the Community Development Director 

or their designee shall review the Master Program to determine if the proposed 
development requires a Shoreline Conditional Use Permit and/or a Variance.  It 
may be necessary for the Community Development Department to conduct a site 
inspection to ensure that the proposed development meets the exemption criteria. 

 
 
PERMIT APPLICATIONS 
 

A. Application Forms- Applications for shoreline permits and shoreline exemptions 
shall be made on forms provided by the Community Development Department. 
 

B. Site Plan-  A site plan shall meet the requirements of the underlying development 
permit, shall be drawn to scale and include the items listed below: 

 
1. Site boundary. 

 
2. Property dimensions in the vicinity of project. 

 
3. Ordinary high water mark 

 
4. Location, size, and type of critical areas, if present. 

 
5. Typical cross section or sections showing: 

 
a. Existing ground elevation; 

 
b. Proposed ground elevation; 

 
c. Height of existing structures; 



                    

12 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

d. Height of proposed structures. 
 

6. Where appropriate, proposed land contours using one-foot intervals, if 
development involves grading, cutting, filling, or other alteration of land contours. 

 
7. Show dimensions and locations of existing structures which will be maintained. 

 
8. Show dimensions and locations of proposed structures. 

 
9. Identify source, composition, and volume of fill material. 

 
10. Identify composition and volume of any extracted materials and identify proposed 

disposal area. 
 

11. Location of proposed utilities, such as sewer, water, gas, and electricity. 
 

12. Shoreline designation according to the Master Program. 
 

C. Vicinity Map 
 
1. Indicate site location using common points of reference (roads, state 

highways, prominent landmarks, etc.). 
 

2. If the development involves the removal of any soils by dredging or 
otherwise, identify the proposed disposal site on the map.  If the disposal 
site is beyond the confines of the vicinity map, provide another vicinity 
map showing the precise location of the disposal site and its distance to 
the nearest city or town. 

 
3. Give brief narrative description of the general nature of the improvements 

and land use within 1,000 feet in all directions from development site (i.e., 
residential to the north, commercial to the south, etc.). 

 
D. Application Fees- A filing fee in an amount established in Napavine Municipal 

Code 17.88.080 shall be paid to the City of Napavine at the time of application.  
 
E. Complete Application- Complete application and documents for all Shoreline 

Permits shall be submitted to the Community Development Department for 
processing and review.  The application will be reviewed for completeness and a 
determination of completeness made by the Community Development 
Department within 30 days of the application date. 
 

F. Permit Process- When a complete application and associated information have 
been received by the Community Development Department; the actions listed 
below shall be taken: 



 
 

City of Napavine 13 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

1. Public Notice.  The Community Development Department shall have a 
Notice of Application for a shoreline Substantial Development Permit, 
Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) published in a newspaper of 
general circulation, within the area in which the development is proposed.  

 
2. The Notice of Application for a  shoreline Substantial Development 

Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) describes the location 
of the project and includes a statement that any person desiring to present 
their views to the Community Development Department may do so in 
writing within thirty (30) days of the final newspaper publication.  The 
notice will also provide the date when a public hearing will be held if the 
application is for a Conditional Use Permit or a Variance and will state 
that any person may submit oral or written comments at the hearing.  All 
persons who indicate their desire to receive a copy of the final order shall 
be notified, in a timely manner, of the Community Development Director's 
decision. 

 
3. The Notice of Application for a shoreline Substantial Development 

Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) must be published in 
the appropriate newspaper at least once a week, on the same day of the 
week, for two consecutive weeks. 

   
4. The Community Development Department shall also post the Notice of 

Application for a shoreline Substantial Development Permit, Conditional 
Use or Variance (as applicable) on-site per Ordinance 137. 

 
5. The Community Development Department may require any other manner 

of public notice deemed appropriate to accomplish the objectives of 
reasonable notice to the adjacent landowners and the public. 

 
6. The Community Development Department shall notify the U.S. Fish and 

Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service when 
application is made for a shoreline Variance. 

  
7. Public Hearing.  At least one public hearing shall be held by the 

Community Development Director regarding an application for a 
Conditional Use Permit or Variance.  The public hearing should be held 
within sixty (60) days from the date the thirty (30) day public comment 
period has ended. 

 
8. A written notice of the public hearing at which the Community 

Development Director will consider the Conditional Use Permit or 
Variance application shall be mailed or delivered to the applicant a 
minimum of seven (7) days prior to the hearing.  The Community 
Development Department's findings and conclusions and recommended 



                    

14 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

action on the application shall be sent to the applicant with the notice of 
public hearing. 

 
9. Local Agency Review.  The Community Development Department shall 

complete its review of an application for a Substantial Development 
Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance using the following information: 

 
a. The application. 
 
b. Applicable SEPA documents. 
 
c. Evidence presented at the public hearing (applicable only 

for Conditional Use Permits and Variance applications). 
 
d. Written and oral comments from interested persons. 
 
e. The findings, conclusions, and recommendation of the 

Community Development Department. 
 
f. Information and comment from other City departments. 
 
g. Any independent study of the Community Development 

Department, if needed. 
 

The Community Development Department may require an 
applicant to furnish information and data in addition to that 
contained or required on the substantial Development Permit, 
Conditional Use, or Variance application. 
 
The Community Development Director shall review all shoreline 
permit applications and make a decision to approve, approve with 
conditions or deny shoreline permits.  
 

10. Local Agency Review Criteria.  No Permit shall be granted unless the 
proposed development is consistent with the provisions of this Master 
Program, the Shoreline Management Act of 1971, and the rules and 
regulations adopted by the Department of Ecology. 

 
11. Burden of Proof on Applicant.  The burden of proving that the proposed 

development is consistent with the applicable criteria before a permit is 
granted shall be on the applicant.  

 
12. Conditional Approval.  Should the Community Development Director 

find that any application does not substantially comply with criteria 
imposed by the Master Program and the Shoreline Management Act of 



 
 

City of Napavine 15 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

1971, the Director may deny such application or attach any terms or 
condition which is deemed suitable and reasonable to affect the purpose 
and objective of this Master Program. 

 
13. Bonds.  The Community Development Department may require the 

applicant to post a bond in favor of the City of Napavine to assure full 
compliance with any terms and conditions imposed by the Community 
Development Department and/or the City Council on any shoreline permit.  
Said bond shall be in an amount to reasonably assure the City that any 
deferred improvement will be carried out within the time stipulated. 

 
14. Community Development Director’s Final Decision.  Within thirty (30) 

days from the date of the public hearing for a Conditional Use Permit or 
Variance, or within thirty (30) days from the end of the public comment 
period for a Substantial Development Permit, the Community 
Development Department shall send the Community Development 
Director’s permit decision, including findings and conclusions, to the 
applicant.   

 
The Community Development Department shall provide Notice of Final 
Decision per Ordinance 137. 

 
15.   Local Appeals. Any shoreline permit decisions made by the Community 

Development Director may be appealed to the City Council, subject to the 
following provisions: 
 

a. Appeals shall be submitted in writing to the city clerk by 5:00 p.m. of the 
twenty-first calendar day following the date of the Community 
Development Director’s decision.  When the last day of the comment 
period is a Saturday, Sunday, or federal or city holiday, the period shall 
run until 5:00 p.m. on the next business day.  The appeal shall be in 
writing and shall state specific objections to the decision and the relief 
sought.  The appeal shall be accompanied with any applicable filing fees. 

 
b. The record established by the Community Development Department 

(including testimony, exhibits, comment letters, plans, staff reports, etc.) 
shall be the record used by the Council unless it is supplemented by the 
City Council pursuant to this section.  A request to supplement the record 
shall be made in a separate document that is attached to the appeal.  The 
appeal shall not mention or refer to the material that is proposed to be 
added to the record. A request to supplement the record shall include a 
brief description of the nature of the material to be added and a separate, 
attached copy of the material to be added. The request to supplement the 
record must clearly establish that the new evidence or information to be 
added to the record was not available or could not have been reasonably 



                    

16 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

produced at the time of application or the public hearing before the 
Community Development Director. 

 
c. The council may affirm, modify, reverse the Community Development 

Director's decision, remand to the Community Development Department 
with directions for further proceedings, or grant other appropriate relief.  If 
the Council reverses or modifies the Community Development Director's 
decision, the Council shall enter findings and/or conclusions to support the 
decision. 

 
d. On appeal, the Community Development Director's decision shall be 

given substantial weight. 
 

e. The City Council shall establish rules for appeals to the Council. 
 
16. Submittal to Department of Ecology.  Following the approval or denial of 

shoreline permits and after the local appeal process has been completed, the 
Community Development Department shall submit the permit application and 
City’s decision for Substantial Development, Conditional use and Variance 
permits to the Department of Ecology, consistent with the submittal requirements 
in WAC 173-27-130.  When a Substantial Development Permit and a Conditional 
Use or Variance Permit are required for a development, the submittal shall be 
made simultaneously.    Upon receipt of the Department of Ecology's final 
decision, the Community Development Director shall notify those interested 
persons having requested notification of such decision. The following information 
shall be submitted to the Department of Ecology and the Attorney General’s 
Office: 

 
a.  A copy of the complete application per WAC 173-27-180; 

 
b.  Findings and conclusions that establish the basis for the decision, including but 
not limited to identification of shoreline environment designation, applicable 
Master Program policies and regulations, and the consistency of the project with 
appropriate review criteria for the type of permit(s); 

 
c.  The final decision of the City; 
 
d.  The permit data sheet per WAC 173-27-900; 
 
e.  Affidavit of public notice; and 
 
f.  Where applicable, the Community Development Department shall also file the 
applicable documents required by the State Environmental Policy Act (RCW 
43.21C).  

 



 
 

City of Napavine 17 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

17. Development authorized by a Substantial Development Permit, Variance or 
Conditional Use Permit shall not begin until twenty-one (21) days from the date 
of filing as defined in RCW 90.58.140(6) and WAC 173-27-130 or until all 
appeal proceedings with the Shorelines Hearings Board are terminated.   Date of 
filing involving the City’s approval or denial of a Substantial Development Permit 
is the date of actual receipt by the Department of Ecology of the City’s final 
decision on the permit. Date of filing involving approval or denial of a Variance 
or Conditional Use Permit is the date of transmittal of the Department of 
Ecology’s final decision on the Variance or Conditional Use permit to the City. 
The date of filing for Substantial Development Permits filed concurrently with a 
Conditional Use Permit or Variance, or both, is the date the Department of 
Ecology’s decision is transmitted to the City.  

 
18.  Appeals to State Shorelines Hearings Board.  Any person aggrieved by the 

granting, denying, or rescinding of a Shoreline Permit on shorelines of the state 
pursuant to RCW 90.58.140 may seek review from the State Shorelines Hearings 
Board by filing a petition for review within twenty-one (21) days of the date of 
filing of the decision as defined in RCW 90.58.140(6).   Appeals of any final 
permit decision may be made pursuant to the procedures established in RCW 
90.58.180 (Appeals from Granting, Denying, or Rescinding Permits) and WAC 
461-08 (Practice and Procedure, Review of the Granting, Denying or Rescinding 
of Substantial Development Permits, Hearings.  The request for review shall be in 
the form required by the rules for practice and procedure before the Shorelines 
Hearings Board.  Within seven (7) days of filing with the Board, the person 
seeking review shall also serve a copy of the request for review with the 
Department of Ecology, the City of Napavine and the Attorney General. 

 
SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 
 

A. A shoreline substantial development permit shall be required for all proposed 
use and development of shorelines unless the proposal is specifically exempt 
from requirements for a Substantial Development Permit. Exemptions are 
discussed in more detail later in this chapter.  

 
B. In order to be approved, the decision maker shall find that the proposal is 

consistent with the following criteria: 
 

1. All applicable regulations of this Program appropriate to the shoreline 
environment designation and the type of use or development proposed 
shall be met, except those bulk and dimensional standards that have been 
modified by approval of a shoreline variance as outlined on page 20. 
 

2. All policies of this Program appropriate to the shoreline environment 
designation and the type of use or development activity proposed shall be 
considered and substantial compliance demonstrated. 



                    

18 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
3. Consideration shall be given to the cumulative environmental impact of 

additional requests for like actions in the shoreline vicinity.  For example, 
if shoreline substantial development permits were granted for other 
developments in the area where similar circumstances exist, the sum of the 
permitted actions should also remain consistent with the policy of RCW 
90.58.020 and should not produce significant adverse effects to the 
shoreline ecological functions and processes or other users. 
 

4. The policies and procedures of the act and the provisions of WAC 173-27. 
 

C. The City is the final authority for a Shoreline Substantial Development 
Permit, unless there is an appeal filed with the State Shoreline Hearings 
Board. 

 
SHORELINE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
 
The purpose of a conditional use permit is to provide a system within the Program which 
allows flexibility in the application of use regulations in a manner consistent with the 
policies of RCW 90.58.020.  In authorizing a conditional use, the City or Department of 
Ecology may attach special conditions to the permit to prevent undesirable effects of the 
proposed use and/or to assure consistency of the project with the act and the Program. 
 

A. Uses which are classified or set forth in the Program as conditional uses 
may be authorized provided that the applicant demonstrates all of the 
following: 

 
1. That the proposed use is consistent with the policies of RCW 

90.58.020 and the Program; 
 
2. That the proposed use will not interfere with the normal public use 

of public shorelines; 
 
3. That the proposed use of the site and design of the project is 

compatible with other authorized uses within the area and with 
uses planned for the area under the Comprehensive Plan and this 
Program; 

 
4. That the proposed use will cause no significant adverse effects to 

the shoreline environment in which it is to be located; and 
 
5. That the public interest suffers no substantial detrimental effect. 

 
B. In the granting of all conditional use permits, consideration shall be given 

to the cumulative impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. 



 
 

City of Napavine 19 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

For example, if conditional use permits were granted for other 
developments in the area where similar circumstances exist, the total of 
the conditional uses shall also remain consistent with the policies of 
RCW 90.58.020 and shall not produce substantial adverse effects to the 
shoreline environment. 

 
C. Other uses which are not classified or set forth in the applicable master 

program may be authorized as conditional uses provided the applicant can 
demonstrate consistency with the requirements of this section and the 
requirements for conditional uses contained in the master program. 

 
D. Uses which are specifically prohibited by the Program may not be 

authorized. 
 
SHORELINE VARIANCE PERMIT  
 
The purpose of a variance permit is strictly limited to granting relief from specific bulk, 
dimensional or performance standards set forth in the Master Program where there are 
extraordinary circumstances relating to the physical character or configuration of 
property such that the strict implementation of the master program will impose 
unnecessary hardships on the applicant or thwart the policies set forth in RCW 90.58.020. 
 

A. Variance permits should be granted in circumstances where denial of the 
permit would result in a thwarting of the policy enumerated in RCW 
90.58.020. In all instances the applicant must demonstrate that 
extraordinary circumstances shall be shown and the public interest shall 
suffer no substantial detrimental effect. 

 
B. Variance permits for development and/or uses that will be located 

landward of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM), as defined in RCW 
90.58.030 (2)(b), and/or landward of any wetland as defined in RCW 
90.58.030 (2)(h), may be authorized provided the applicant can 
demonstrate all of the following: 

 
1. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional or performance 

standards set forth in the applicable master program precludes, or 
significantly interferes with, reasonable use of the property. 

 
2. That the hardship described in this subsection is specifically 

related to the property, and is the result of unique conditions such 
as irregular lot shape, size, or natural features and the application 
of the master program, and not, for example, from deed restrictions 
or the applicant's own actions. 

 



                    

20 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

3. That the design of the project is compatible with other authorized 
uses within the area and with uses planned for the area under the 
comprehensive plan and shoreline master program and will not 
cause adverse impacts to the shoreline environment; 

 
4. That the variance will not constitute a grant of special privilege not 

enjoyed by the other properties in the area; 
 
5. That the variance requested is the minimum necessary to afford 

relief; and 
 
6. That the public interest will suffer no substantial detrimental effect. 

 
C. Variance permits for development and/or uses that will be located 

waterward of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM), as defined in RCW 
90.58.030 (2)(b), or within any wetland as defined in RCW 90.58.030 
(2)(h), may be authorized provided the applicant can demonstrate all of the 
following:  

 
1. That the strict application of the bulk, dimensional or performance 

standards set forth in the Program precludes all reasonable use of 
the property;  

 
2. That the proposal is consistent with the criteria established under 

Subsection B above; and  
 
3. That the public rights of navigation and use of the shorelines will 

not be adversely affected. 
 

D. In the granting of all variance permits, consideration shall be given to the 
cumulative impact of additional requests for like actions in the area. For 
example if variances were granted to other developments and/or uses in 
the area where similar circumstances exist the total of the variances shall 
also remain consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020 and shall not 
cause substantial adverse effects to the shoreline environment. 

 
E. Variances from the use regulations of this Master Program are prohibited. 

 
SHORELINE EXEMPTIONS 
 

A. An exemption from the substantial development permit process is not an 
exemption from compliance with the Act or this Program, or from any 
other regulatory requirements.  To be authorized, all uses and 
developments must be consistent with the policies and regulatory 



 
 

City of Napavine 21 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

provisions of this Program and the Act.  A statement of exemption shall be 
obtained for exempt activities. 

 
B. Exemptions shall be construed narrowly. Only those developments that 

meet the precise terms of one or more of the listed exemptions may be 
granted exemptions from the substantial development permit process. 

 
C. The burden of proof that a development or use is exempt is on the 

applicant or proponent. 
 
D. If any part of a proposed development is not eligible for exemption, then a 

substantial development permit is required for the entire project. 
 
E. A development or use that is listed as a conditional use pursuant to this 

Program or is an unlisted use, must obtain a shoreline conditional use 
permit even if the development or use does not require a shoreline 
substantial development permit. 

 
F. When a development or use is proposed that does not comply with the 

bulk, dimensional and/or performance standards of the Program, such 
development or use shall only be authorized by approval of a shoreline 
variance even if the development or use does not require a substantial 
development permit. 

 
G. All permits or statements of exemption issued for development or use 

within shoreline jurisdiction shall include written findings prepared by the 
Community Development Department, including compliance with 
applicable bulk and dimensional standards and policies and regulations of 
this Program. The Community Development Department may attach 
conditions to the approval of exempt developments and/or uses as 
necessary to assure consistency of the project with the Act and the 
Program. 

 
H. Exemptions listed. The following shall be considered exempt from the 

requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit in 
accordance with RCW 90.58.030 and WAC 173-27-040. 

 
1. Any development of which the total cost or fair market value, 

whichever is higher, does not exceed seven thousand and forty-
seven dollars ($8,504), or as adjusted consistent with WAC 173-
27-040, if such development does not materially interfere with the 
normal public use of the water or shorelines of the state. For the 
purpose of determining whether or not a permit is required, the 
total cost or fair market value shall be based on the value of the 
development that is occurring on shorelines of the state as defined 



                    

22 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

in RCW 90.58.030(2)(c). The total cost or fair market value of the 
development shall include the fair market value of any donated, 
contributed or found labor, equipment or materials; 

 
2. Normal maintenance or repair of existing structures or 

developments, including damage by accident, fire, or elements; 
 
3. Construction of the normal protective bulkhead common to single 

family residences; 
 
4. Emergency construction necessary to protect property from 

damage by the elements; 
 
5. Construction and practices normal or necessary for farming, 

irrigation, and ranching activities, including agricultural service 
roads and utilities on shorelands, construction of a barn or similar 
agricultural structure, and the construction and maintenance of 
irrigation structures including but not limited to head gates, 
pumping facilities, and irrigation channels. A feedlot of any size, 
all processing plants, other activities of a commercial nature, 
alteration of the contour of the shorelands by leveling or filling 
other than that which results from normal cultivation, shall not be 
considered normal or necessary farming or ranching activities. A 
feedlot shall be an enclosure or facility used or capable of being 
used for feeding livestock hay, grain, silage, or other livestock 
feed, but shall not include land for growing crops or vegetation for 
livestock feeding and/or grazing, nor shall it include normal 
livestock wintering operations; 

 
6. Construction or modification of navigational aids such as channel 

markers and anchor buoys; 
 
7. Construction on shorelands by an owner, lessee, or contract 

purchaser of a single family residence for his own use or for the 
use of his or her family, which residence does not exceed a height 
of thirty-five feet above average grade level and which meets all 
requirements of the state agency or local government having 
jurisdiction thereof, other than requirements imposed pursuant to 
this chapter; 

 
8. Construction of a dock, including a community dock, designed for 

pleasure craft only, for the private noncommercial use of the 
owner, lessee, or contract purchaser of single and multiple family 
residences.  This exception applies if either:  (A) In salt waters, the 
fair market value of the dock does not exceed $2,500; or (B) in 



 
 

City of Napavine 23 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

fresh waters, the fair market value of the dock does not exceed 
twenty-two thousand, five-hundred dollars ($22,500) for docks that 
are constructed to replace existing docks, are of equal or lesser 
square footage than the existing dock being replaced, and are 
located in a county, city, or town that has updated its master 
program consistent with the master program guidelines in chapter 
173-26 WAC as adopted in 2003; or $11,200 for all other docks 
constructed in fresh waters.  However, if subsequent construction 
occurs within five years of completion of the prior construction, 
and the combined fair market value of the subsequent and prior 
construction exceeds the amount specified in either (A) or (B) of 
this subsection, the subsequent construction shall be considered a 
substantial development for the purpose of this chapter; 

 
9. Operation, maintenance, or construction of canals, waterways, 

drains, reservoirs, or other facilities that now exist or are hereafter 
created or developed as a part of an irrigation system for the 
primary purpose of making use of system waters, including return 
flow and artificially stored groundwater for the irrigation of lands; 

 
10. The marking of property lines or corners on state owned lands, 

when such marking does not significantly interfere with normal 
public use of the surface of the water; 

 
11. Operation and maintenance of any system of dikes, ditches, drains, 

or other facilities existing on September 8, 1975, which were 
created, developed, or utilized primarily as a part of an agricultural 
drainage or diking system; 

 
12. Site exploration and investigation activities that are prerequisite to 

preparation of an application for development authorization under 
this chapter, if: 

 
a. The activity does not interfere with the normal public use 

of the surface waters; 
 
b. The activity will have no significant adverse impact on the 

environment including, but not limited to, fish, wildlife, 
fish or wildlife habitat, water quality, and aesthetic values; 

 
c. The activity does not involve the installation of a structure, 

and upon completion of the activity the vegetation and land 
configuration of the site are restored to conditions existing 
before the activity; 

 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
This amount was updated by OFM in July 2022 to $8,504

Mackenzie Stamey
Updated



                    

24 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

d. A private entity seeking development authorization under 
this section first posts a performance bond or provides 
other evidence of financial responsibility to the local 
jurisdiction to ensure that the site is restored to preexisting 
conditions; and 

 
e. The activity is not subject to the permit requirements of 

RCW 90.58.550; 
 

13. The process of removing or controlling an aquatic noxious weed, 
as defined in RCW 17.26.020, through the use of an herbicide or 
other treatment methods applicable to weed control that are 
recommended by a final environmental impact statement published 
by the Department of Agriculture or the Department of Ecology 
jointly with other state agencies under RCW 43.21C. 

 
14. Watershed restoration projects as defined in WAC 173-27-

040(2)(o). Local government shall review the projects for 
consistency with the shoreline master program in an expeditious 
manner and shall issue its decision along with any conditions 
within forty-five days of receiving all materials necessary to 
review the request for exemption from the applicant. No fee may 
be charged for accepting and processing requests for exemption for 
watershed restoration projects as used in this section. 

 
15. The external or internal retrofitting of an existing structure with the 

exclusive purpose of compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12101 et seq.) or to 
otherwise provide physical access to the structure by individuals 
with disabilities. 

 
16. Consistent with WAC 173-27-040, a public or private project 

designed to improve fish or wildlife habitat, fish passage, that 
conforms to the provisions of RCW 77.55.181 and RCW 
90.58.147. 

 
I. Letter of exemption. All uses, land and water alterations, and development 

that are not defined as substantial developments are exempted from the 
requirement to obtain a shoreline substantial development permit. 
However, these developments must still comply with the standards of the 
Shoreline Master Program. In addition, these developments may still need 
a shoreline conditional use permit or a shoreline variance. 

 
A project proponent must obtain confirmation that it conforms to the 
Shoreline Master Program and to state law. If it complies, a letter of 



 
 

City of Napavine 25 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

exemption will be issued stating that there are no further Shoreline permits 
to obtain, and may contain conditions which the proponent must meet. 
 

DEVELOPMENTS NOT REQUIRED TO OBTAIN SHORELINE PERMITS OR 
LOCAL REVIEW 
 
Requirements to obtain a substantial development permit, conditional use permit, 
variance, letter of exemption, or other review to implement the Shoreline Management 
Act do not apply to the following:  
 

A. Remedial actions. Pursuant to RCW 90.58.355, any person conducting a 
remedial action at a facility pursuant to a consent decree, order, or agreed 
order issued pursuant to chapter 70.105D RCW, or to the department of 
ecology when it conducts a remedial action under chapter 70.105D RCW.  
 

B. Boatyard improvements to meet NPDES permit requirements. Pursuant to 
RCW 90.58.355, any person installing site improvements for storm water 
treatment in an existing boatyard facility to meet requirements of a 
national pollutant discharge elimination system storm water general 
permit.  
 

C. WSDOT facility maintenance and safety improvements. Pursuant to RCW 
90.58.356, Washington State Department of Transportation projects and 
activities meeting the conditions of RCW 90.58.356 are not required to 
obtain a substantial development permit, conditional use permit, variance, 
letter of exemption, or other local review.  
 

D. Projects consistent with an environmental excellence program agreement 
pursuant to RCW 90.58.045.  
 

E. Projects authorized through the Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council 
process, pursuant to chapter 80.50 RCW. 

 
UNSPECIFIED USES 
 
This program does not attempt to identify or foresee all conceivable shoreline uses or 
types of development. When a use or development is proposed which is not readily 
classified within an existing use or development category, the Community Development 
Director, or the Director’s designee, shall identify and apply those program policies and 
regulations which will best promote the policies of the Shoreline Management Act and 
the shoreline program, with special reference to the policies of the environmental 
designation in which the use will be located.  Unspecified uses shall require a Shoreline 
Conditional Use Permit. 
 



                    

26 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

TIME REQUIREMENTS AND REVISIONS 
 

A. Time Requirements for Shoreline Permits 
 

1. Duration of Permits:  The City of Napavine may issue shoreline 
permits with termination dates of up to five years.  If a Permit does 
not specify a termination date, the following requirements apply, 
consistent with WAC 173-27: 

 
a. Time Limit for Substantial Progress.  Construction 

activities shall be commenced or, where no construction 
activities are involved, the use or activity shall be 
commenced within two (2) years after approval of the 
effective date of a Shoreline Permit. 

 
b. Extension for Substantial Progress.  The City of 

Napavine may authorize a single extension for a period not 
to exceed one (1) year based on reasonable factors, if a 
request for extension has been filed before the expiration 
date and notice of the proposed extension is given to parties 
of record on the Shoreline Permit and to the Department of 
Ecology. 

 
c. Five-Year Permit Authorization.  If construction has not 

been completed within five (5) years after the effective date 
of a Shoreline Permit, the City will review the Permit and, 
upon showing of good cause, either extend the Permit for 
one year based on reasonable factors, or terminate the 
Permit.  A request for extension must be filed before the 
expiration date and notice of the proposed extension is 
given to parties of record and the Department of Ecology.  
Note:  Only one (1) single extension is permitted. 

 
B. Revisions of Permits 
 

A permit revision is required whenever the applicant proposes substantive 
changes to the design, terms or conditions of a project from that which is 
approved in the permit. Changes are substantive if they materially alter the 
project in a manner that relates to its conformance to the terms and 
conditions of the permit, the Master Program and/or the policies and 
provisions of chapter 90.58 RCW. Changes which are not substantive in 
effect do not require approval of a revision. When an applicant desires to 
revise a Permit, the applicant must submit detailed plans and text 
describing the proposed changes. If the Community Development Director 
determines that the revisions proposed are within the scope and intent of 



 
 

City of Napavine 27 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

the original Permit, consistent with the Master Program, and the Shoreline 
Management Act, the Community Development Director may approve the 
revision.  "Within the scope and intent of the original Permit" means all of 
the following: 
 
1. No additional over-water construction is involved, except that pier, 

dock, or float construction may be increased by five hundred (500) 
square feet or ten percent (10%) from the provisions of the original 
permit, whichever is less; 

 
2. Ground area coverage and height is not increased more than ten 

percent (10%) from the provisions of the original permit; 
 

3. The revised permit does not authorize development to exceed 
height, setback, lot coverage, or any other requirement of the City 
of Napavine Shoreline Master Program except as authorized under 
a variance granted as the original permit or part thereof; 

 
4. Additional or revised landscaping is consistent with conditions (if 

any) attached to the original Permit; 
 

5. The use authorized pursuant to the original Permit is not changed; 
and 

 
6. No adverse environmental impact will be caused by the project revision. 

 
If the sum of the proposed revision and any previously approved revisions 
do not meet the criteria above, an application for a new Shoreline Permit 
must be submitted.  If the revision involves a Conditional Use or Variance, 
the Community Development Director must submit the revision to the 
Department of Ecology for Ecology’s approval, approval with conditions, 
or denial, and shall indicate that the revision is being submitted under the 
requirements of WAC 173-27-100. Ecology shall render and transmit to 
the City of Napavine and the applicant its final decision within fifteen (15) 
days of the date of Ecology's receipt of the submittal from the City. The 
Community Development Director shall notify parties of record of 
Ecology’s final decision. (See WAC 173-27). 
 
The City of Napavine or the Department of Ecology’s decision on revision 
to the Permit may be appealed within twenty-one (21) days of such 
decision, in accordance with WAC 173-27-100. 
 
Construction allowed by the revised Permit that is not authorized under 
the original Permit is undertaken at the applicant's own risk until the 
expiration of the appeals deadline. 



                    

28 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
 
 
 
INSPECTIONS 
 
Pursuant to RCW 90.58.200, the Community Development Director or the authorized 
representatives of the City of Napavine may enter land or structures to enforce the 
provisions of this Program. Entry shall be at reasonable times. If the land or structures are 
occupied, the Community Development Department staff  shall first present proper 
credentials and request entry; and if the land or structures are unoccupied, the 
Community Development Department staff shall first make a reasonable effort to locate 
the owner, or other person having control of the property, and request entry. 
 
PENALTIES AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
The Shoreline Management Act imposes significant penalties for violation of the act, 
regulations and master programs. A violation constitutes a gross misdemeanor, which is 
punishable by fine or imprisonment (RCW 90.58.220). In addition to the criminal 
penalty, the Act imposes liability on any person violating the act or conditions of a permit 
for all damage to public or private property arising from the violation. Furthermore, the 
violator may have to restore an area affected by a violation, and pay the entire cost of 
restoration, including attorney's fees and court costs (RCW 90.58.230). 
  



 
 

City of Napavine 29 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

4. NONCONFORMING DEVELOPMENT 
 
Uses, lots or structures within shoreline jurisdiction that do not meet the specific 
standards of this Program are subject to the nonconforming provisions of this section.  
 
NONCONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES – GENERAL 
 

A. In accordance with the requirements of this section, structures that were 
legally established prior to the Program or amendments thereto, and are 
used for a conforming use but which are nonconforming with regard to 
setbacks, buffers or yards, area, bulk, height or density may be maintained 
and repaired and may be enlarged or expanded provided that said 
enlargement does not increase the extent of nonconformity by further 
encroaching upon or extending into areas where construction or use would 
not be allowed for new development or uses. 

 
B. A nonconforming structure which is moved any distance must be brought 

into conformance with the Program and the Shoreline Management Act. 
 
C. If a nonconforming structure is damaged to an extent not exceeding 

75 percent of the replacement cost of the original structure, it may be 
reconstructed to those configurations existing immediately prior to the 
time the structure was damaged, provided that application is made for the 
permits necessary to restore the structure within 6 months of the date the 
damage occurred, all permits are obtained, and the restoration is 
completed within 2 years of permit issuance, except that nonconforming 
single-family residences, manufactured homes and mobile homes may be 
reconstructed regardless of the extent of damage so long as application is 
made within the times required by this subsection. 

 
D. Residential structures and uses located in a zone district other than a 

residential zone district and in existence at the time of adoption of this 
Program shall be deemed nonconforming in terms of height, use, or 
location provisions of this Program. Such structures shall comply with the 
following requirements: 

 
1. Existing nonconforming residential buildings may be replaced 

within the existing footprint upon approval of a shoreline 
substantial development permit. 

 
2. For the replacement of manufactured homes and mobile homes, a 

greater building footprint than existed prior to replacement may be 
allowed in order to accommodate the conversion of single-wide 
manufactured homes to double-wide manufactured homes, upon 
approval of a shoreline conditional use permit. 



                    

30 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
3. Existing nonconforming single family residences may be enlarged 

or expanded in conformance with the applicable bulk and 
dimensional standards upon approval of a shoreline conditional use 
permit and by conformance with the following requirements: 

 
a. An expansion or enlargement to the main structure or the 

addition of a normal appurtenance as defined in ‘WAC 
173-27-040(2)(g) to the main structure shall only be 
accomplished by: 

 
i. Addition of space above the building footprint of 

the main structure; and 
 
ii. Addition of space onto or behind that side of the 

main structure which is farthest away from the 
ordinary high-water mark. 

 
If the requirements in i to ii above cannot be accomplished without 
causing significant harm to shoreline vegetation or other shoreline 
ecological functions, the Community Development Director may 
require additional site analysis to determine if an alternative 
location for the expansion or enlargement of the structure is 
feasible. 
 

 
 

FIGURE 1 
 

Possible Expansion to a Nonconforming Single-Family Residence  
 



 
 

City of Napavine 31 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

E. Existing residential buildings that have a change in use to another legal, 
conforming use shall conform to the buffer and structure setback 
requirements and all other requirements of the Program. 
 

F. A use which is listed as a conditional use but which existed prior to 
adoption of this Program or any amendment thereto, and for which a 
conditional use permit has not been obtained, shall be considered a 
nonconforming use. 
 

G. A structure for which a variance has been issued shall be considered a 
legal nonconforming structure, and the requirements of this section shall 
apply as they apply to preexisting nonconformities. 
 

H. A structure which is being or has been used for a nonconforming use shall 
not be used for a different nonconforming use, except as provided below, 
and only upon the approval of a shoreline conditional use permit: 

 
1. No reasonable alternative conforming use is practical; 

 
2. The proposed use will be as consistent with the policies and 

provisions of the Act and this Program and as compatible with uses 
in the area as the preexisting use; and 
 

3. Conditions may be attached to the permit that are deemed 
necessary to assure compliance with the requirements of this 
Program and the policies of the Act and to assure that the use will 
not become a nuisance or hazard. 

 
I. If a nonconforming use is discontinued for 12 consecutive months or 

12 months during any 2-year period, the nonconforming rights shall expire 
and any subsequent use shall be conforming. 

 
DEVELOPMENT OF A NONCONFORMING LOT 
 

A. An undeveloped lot, tract, parcel, site or division of land which was 
established in accordance with local and state subdivision requirements 
prior to the effective date of the Act or this Program and does not conform 
to the present lot size standards may be developed if permitted by other 
land use regulations of the City if such development conforms to all other 
requirements of this Program and the Act. 
 

B. When lot size would prevent development of a nonconforming lot 
consistent with the applicable buffer or setback requirements, the 
Community Development Director may authorize development through 



                    

32 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

the issuance of a shoreline variance permit under the following conditions: 
 
1. A written request is received from the project proponent. 

 
2. The development will be located as far landward as possible from 

the ordinary high-water mark. 
 

3. The decision of the Community Development Director is based 
upon the shoreline variance criteria. 
 

C. Upon receiving a written request for development of a nonconforming lot, 
the Community Development Director shall mail notice of the request to 
all property owners within 300 feet.  At a minimum, the notice shall state 
the following: 
 
1. The decision on the request will be made within 10 days from the 

date that the notice was mailed; and 
 

2. Interested citizens may contact the Community Development 
Director for further information. 
 

D. Appeal of the Community Development Director’s decision shall be made 
in accordance with the appeal procedures set forth in Chapter 17.88.100 of 
the Napavine Subdivision & Zoning Standards. 

  



 
 

City of Napavine 33 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

5. MASTER PROGRAM GOALS 
 
This section describes the overall goals of the Master Program. These goals are informed 
by WAC 173-26 and the governing principles as outlined in Section 1.  
 
The general policies and regulations in Section 6, and the specific use and modification 
policies and regulations in Sections 7 and 8 are the means by which these goals are 
implemented. Achievement of these goals shall be consistent with the state's policies of 
avoiding cumulative impacts and ensuring no net loss of shoreline processes, functions, 
and values.  
 

● These goals are not listed in order of priority.  
 
CONSERVATION 
 
Purpose 

 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(f), the conservation goals address the protection of 
natural resources, scenic vistas, aesthetics, and vital shoreline areas for fisheries and 
wildlife for the benefit of present and future generations. 

 
Goals 

 
A. Preserve, enhance and protect shoreline resources (i.e., wetlands and fish 

and wildlife habitats) for their ecological functions and values, and 
aesthetic and scenic qualities. 

 
B. Maintain and sustain natural shoreline formation processes through 

effective shoreline management. 
 
C. Promote restoration and enhancement of areas that are biologically and/or 

aesthetically degraded while maintaining appropriate use of the shoreline. 
 
D. Protect and enhance native shoreline vegetation to maintain water quality, 

fish and wildlife habitat, and other ecological functions, values and 
processes. 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(a), the economic development goals address the 
location and design of industries, transportation facilities, port facilities, tourist facilities, 
commerce and other developments that are particularly dependent on their location on or 
use of the shorelines. 



                    

34 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
Goals 

 
A. Encourage viable, orderly economic growth through economic activities 

that benefit the local economy and are environmentally sensitive. Such 
activities should not disrupt or degrade the shoreline or surrounding 
environment. 

 
B. Accommodate and promote water-oriented commercial uses and 

development, giving highest preference to water-dependent uses. 
 
C. Encourage water-oriented recreational use as an economic asset that will 

enhance public enjoyment of the shoreline. 
 
D. Encourage economic development in areas already partially developed 

with similar uses when consistent with this Program and the Napavine 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
HISTORIC, ARCHEOLOGICAL, CULTURAL, SCIENTIFIC AND 
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(g), these goals address protection and restoration of 
buildings, sites and areas having historic, archeological, cultural, scientific or educational 
significance. 
 
Goals 
 

A. Maintain finite and irreplaceable links to the past by identifying, 
preserving, protecting, and where appropriate, restoring historic, 
archaeological, cultural, scientific and educational (HACSE) sites. 

 
B. Protect HACSE sites and buildings identified on national, state or local 

historic registers from destruction or alteration, and from encroachment by 
incompatible uses. 

 
C. Foster greater appreciation for shoreline management, maritime activities, 

environmental conservation, natural history and cultural heritage by 
educating and informing citizens of all ages through diverse means. 

 
D. Ensure that tribal organizations and the Washington State Department of 

Archaeology and Historic Preservation are involved in the review of 
projects that could potentially affect such resources. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 35 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

PUBLIC ACCESS 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(b), the public access goals address the ability of the 
public to reach, touch and travel on the shorelines of the state and to view the water and 
the shoreline from adjacent locations. 
 
Goals 
 

A. Increase the ability of the general public to reach, touch, and enjoy the 
water’s edge, to travel on the waters of the state, and/or to view the water 
and the shoreline from adjacent locations, provided that private rights, the 
public safety, and shoreline ecological functions and processes are 
protected consistent with the U.S. and State constitutions, and state 
statutes. 

 
B. Locate, design, manage and maintain public access in a manner that 

protects shoreline ecological functions and processes and the public health 
and safety. 

 
C. Design and manage public access in a manner that ensures compatibility 

with water-dependent uses. 
 
D. Where appropriate, acquire access to shorelands. Encourage cooperation 

among the City and Lewis County, landowners, developers, other agencies 
and organizations to enhance and increase public access to shorelines as 
specific opportunities arise. 

 
E. Provide and protect visual access to shorelines. 
 
F. Require public access to and along the shorelines as a condition of 

approval for shoreline development activities commensurate with the 
impacts of such development and the corresponding benefit to the public, 
and consistent with constitutional limitations. 

 
G. Develop and manage public access to prevent adverse impacts to adjacent 

private shoreline properties and developments. 
 
RECREATION 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(c), the recreational goals address the creation and 
expansion of water-oriented public recreational opportunities. 



                    

36 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
Goals 
 

A. Encourage diverse recreational opportunities in shoreline areas that can 
support such use and development without human health, safety, and/or 
security risks, and without adverse effects on shoreline functions, 
processes, values, private property rights, and/or neighboring uses. 

 
B. Plan for future shoreline recreational needs and acquire (i.e. through 

purchase, donation or other agreement) shoreline areas that have a high 
potential to provide recreation areas. 

 
C. Provide for both active and passive recreational needs when developing 

recreational areas. 
 
D. Support other governmental and non-governmental efforts to acquire and 

develop additional shoreline properties for public recreational uses. 
 
RESTORATION AND ENHANCEMENT 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by WAC 173-26-186, the restoration and enhancement goals address 
reestablishment, rehabilitation and improvement of impaired shoreline ecological 
functions, values and/or processes. 
 
Goals 
 

A. Improve impaired shoreline ecological functions and/or processes through 
voluntary public and private programs and actions that are consistent with 
this Program and other approved restoration plans. 

 
B. Provide fundamental support to restoration work by various organizations 

by identifying shoreline restoration priorities, and by organizing 
information on available funding sources for restoration opportunities. 

 
C. Target restoration and enhancement towards improving habitat 

requirements of priority and/or locally important wildlife species. 
 
SHORELINE USE 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(e), the shoreline use goals address the general 
distribution, location, and extent of housing, business, industry, transportation, 



 
 

City of Napavine 37 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

agriculture, natural resources, aquaculture, recreation, education, navigation and other 
categories of public and private land use. 
 
Goals 
 

A. Ensure that shoreline use patterns are compatible with the ecological 
functions and values of the shoreline and avoid disruption of natural 
shoreline processes.  

 
B. Protect water quality and aquatic habitat with all new shoreline 

development. 
 
C. Increase protection of shoreline ecological resources by properly siting 

and regulating water-dependent and residential uses that have preferred 
status for use of waterfront lands. 

 
D. Encourage uses that allow for or include restoration so that areas affected 

by past activities or catastrophic events can be improved. 
 
E. Ensure that all new development is consistent with the Napavine 

Comprehensive Plan, development standards and Napavine Critical Areas 
Ordinance. 

 
F. Limit development intensity in ecologically sensitive and fragile areas. 
 
G. Reduce health and safety risks by limiting development in areas subject to 

flooding, erosion, landslides, channel migration and other hazards. 
 
TRANSPORTATION AND UTILITIES 
 
Purpose 
 
As required by RCW 90.58.100(2)(d), transportation and utilities goals address 
circulation and the general location and extent of thoroughfares, transportation routes and 
other public utilities and facilities. 
 
Goals 
 

A. Develop efficient and economical transportation and utility systems in a 
manner that assures the safe movement of people, goods and services 
without adverse effects on shoreline use and development or shoreline 
ecological functions, processes or values. 

 



                    

38 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

B. Locate, construct and maintain new transportation and utility facilities in 
areas that do not require shoreline stabilization, dredging, extensive cut/fill 
and other forms of shoreline alteration. 

  



 
 

City of Napavine 39 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

6. GENERAL POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
 
The following general policies and regulations apply to all shorelines of the state that are 
located in Napavine, regardless of the specific shoreline environment designation.  They 
are to be used in conjunction with the more specific shoreline use and modification 
policies and regulations in Sections 7 and 8.  Policies are statements of intent directing or 
authorizing a course of action.  
 

● General policies and regulations are not listed in order of priority.  
 
ENVIRONMENT IMPACT MITIGATION 
 
Policies 
 
All shoreline use and developments should be carried out in a manner that avoids and 
minimizes adverse impacts so that the resulting ecological condition does not become 
worse than the current condition. This means assuring no net loss of ecological functions 
and processes and protecting critical areas identified in Section 6 that are located in the 
shoreline. Should a proposed use or development potentially create significant adverse 
environmental impacts not otherwise avoided or mitigated by compliance with this 
Program, the Community Development Director should require mitigation measures to 
ensure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. To the extent Washington’s State Environmental Policy Act of 1971 
(SEPA) RCW 43.21C, is applicable, the analysis of environmental impacts 
from proposed shoreline uses or developments shall be conducted 
consistent with the rules implementing SEPA, Title 18 of the NMC and 
WAC 197–11. 

 
B. Where required, mitigation measures shall be applied in the following 

sequence of steps listed in order of priority. 
 

1. Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or 
parts of an action; 
 

2. Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the 
action and its implementation by using appropriate technology or 
by taking affirmative steps to avoid or reduce impacts; 
 

3. Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating or restoring the 
affected environment; 
 



                    

40 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

4. Reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation 
and maintenance operations; 
 

5. Compensating for the adverse impact by replacing, enhancing, or 
providing substitute resources or environments (compensatory 
mitigation); 
 

6. Monitoring the impact and the compensation projects and taking 
appropriate corrective measures. 

 
C. In determining appropriate mitigation measures applicable to shoreline 

development, lower priority measures shall be applied only where higher 
priority measures are determined to be infeasible or inapplicable. 

 
D. Required mitigation shall not be in excess of that necessary to assure that 

proposed uses or development will result in no net loss of shoreline 
ecological functions. 

 
E. Mitigation actions shall not have a significant adverse impact on other 

shoreline functions fostered by the policies of the Shoreline Management 
Act. 

 
F. When compensatory measures are appropriate pursuant to the priority of 

mitigation sequencing above, preferential consideration shall be given to 
measures that replace the impacted functions directly and in the immediate 
vicinity of the impact. However, alternative compensatory mitigation 
within the watershed that addresses limiting factors or identified critical 
needs for shoreline resource conservation based on watershed or 
comprehensive resource management plans applicable to the area of 
impact may be authorized. Authorization of compensatory mitigation 
measures may require appropriate safeguards, terms or conditions as 
necessary to ensure no net loss of ecological functions. 

 
CRITICAL AREAS AND SHORELINE VEGETATION CONSERVATION 
 
Policies 
 

A. Adopt regulations to assure that development within the shoreline 
jurisdiction results in no net loss of ecological functions necessary to 
sustain existing shoreline natural resources. 

 
B. Provide a level of protection to critical areas within the shoreline area that 

assures no net loss of shoreline ecological functions necessary to sustain 
shoreline natural resources. If conflicts between the SMP and the critical 



 
 

City of Napavine 41 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

area regulations arise, the regulations that are most consistent with the 
SMA or its WAC provisions will govern. 

 
C. Allow activities in critical areas that protect and, where possible, restore 

the ecological functions and ecosystem-wide processes of the City’s 
shoreline. 

 
D. Preserve, protect, restore and/or mitigate for unavoidable impacts to 

wetlands and fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas within and 
associated with the City’s shorelines to achieve no net loss of critical areas 
and their functions. 

 
E. Developments in shoreline areas that are identified as geologically 

hazardous should be avoided. 
 
F. Actions taken to reduce flood damage or hazards should not result in a net 

loss of ecological functions.  Uses, developments, and shoreline 
modifications that may significantly or cumulatively increase flood 
hazards should not be allowed. 

 
G. Limit the removal of vegetation along the shoreline to the minimum 

necessary to accommodate the approved shoreline uses and development. 
 
H. Prefer native vegetation along the shoreline over a site cleared of 

vegetation to create views and lawns.  
 
I. Allow limited selective clearing of native shoreline vegetation for 

approved uses provided that slope stability and ecological functions are 
not compromised. 

 
J. Preserve existing native vegetation along the shoreline and require 

planting as mitigation when impacts to vegetation for authorized uses 
cannot be avoided. 

 
K. Provide flexibility when balancing overlapping shoreline policies 

regarding vegetation conservation, a preference for water-oriented uses, 
and requirements to provide public access. 

 
L. Development and shoreline modifications that would interfere with the 

process of channel migration and may cause significant adverse impacts to 
property or public improvements should not be allowed. 

 
 

Regulations  
 



                    

42 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

A. All shoreline uses and activities shall be located, designed, constructed 
and managed to protect and/ or enhance the ecological functions and 
ecosystem-wide processes provided by critical areas including, but not 
limited to: wetlands, fish and wildlife habitats, critical aquifer recharge 
areas, geologically hazardous areas and frequently flooded areas as 
defined and designated by the Napavine Municipal Code. 

 
B. Critical areas within shoreline jurisdiction will be protected by the 

Napavine Critical Areas Ordinance (NCAO), last codified by Ordinance 
464 on December 22, 2009 651 on October 10, 2023.  These provisions 
are hereby adopted by reference as a part of this Program, and shall not be 
amended as they are applied in shoreline jurisdiction without an 
amendment to this Master Program.  Critical areas include wetlands, 
critical aquifer recharge areas, streams, fish and wildlife habitat 
conservation areas, frequently flooded areas, and geologically hazardous 
areas. 

 
C. Exceptions Modifications to the applicability of the critical areas 

regulations in shoreline jurisdiction are listed below. 
 
1. Section 14.10.050 “Uses:” Within shoreline jurisdiction, 

stormwater facilities (limited uses, subsection D) shall be limited 
to the outer 25% of critical area buffers.  Any further 
encroachment requires a variance. 

 
2. Section 14.10.060 “Variances:” Within the shoreline jurisdiction, 

any variances to the provisions of the NCAO shall be processed as 
a shoreline variance. 

 
3. Section 14.10.080 “Reasonable Use Exception:” Within shoreline 

jurisdiction, reasonable use exceptions shall be processed as a 
shoreline variance. 

 
4. Section 14.10.100 (B)(2) “Review Process:” “Development 

Standards:” Within shoreline jurisdiction, all uses, activities and 
development in critical areas within shoreline jurisdiction shall be 
subject to review to avoid cumulative or temporal losses of 
ecological function. 

 
5. Section 14.10.120 (E)(2)(a) “Wetlands, Applicability:” 

Identification of wetlands and delineation of their boundaries 
within shoreline jurisdiction shall be done in accordance with the 
approved federal wetland delineation manual and applicable 
regional supplements. All areas within the City meeting the 
wetland designation criteria in that procedure are hereby. 



 
 

City of Napavine 43 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

designated critical areas and are subject to the provisions of this 
Chapter. 

 
6. Section 14.10.120 (E)(5)(3)(a) and (b) “Wetlands, Exempted 

Wetlands:” All wetlands within shoreline jurisdiction are subject to 
review. Isolated Category III and IV wetlands less than 1,000 
square feet in size are exempt from the normal mitigation 
sequencing process in Section 6.  They may be filled if impacts are 
fully mitigated based on provisions in Section 14.10.110 (F), 
Appendix B. 

 
7. Section 14.10.120 (E)(6)(c) (8)(c) and (d) “Wetland Buffer 

Reduction:” Wetland buffer averaging or reductions beyond 25% 
of the required base buffer shall require a variance. 

  
D. Any provision of the NCAO that is not consistent with the Shoreline 

Management Act Chapter, 90.85 RCW, and supporting Washington 
Administrative Code chapters shall not apply in shoreline jurisdiction. 

 
E. The provisions of the City’s NCAO do not extend shoreline jurisdiction 

beyond the limits specified in this Program. 
 
F. Required critical area buffers consist of an undisturbed area of native 

vegetation or areas identified for restoration under a specific permit or 
mitigation plan. Along the Newaukum River, this buffer is generally 200 
feet.  Buffers on shoreline waterbodies are defined as the “OHWM 
setback” in Table 2 of this SMP and are subject to the provisions for 
critical area buffers in this SMP. Where native vegetation exists, it shall be 
preserved to the maximum extent feasible consistent with safe 
construction practices, and other provisions of this section. Native trees, 
shrubs and groundcover shall be preserved to maintain and provide 
shoreline ecological functions such as habitat, shade and slope 
stabilization. 

 
G. Within critical area buffers, no more than 15 percent of the area with 

shoreline the clearing of shoreline vegetation shall be minimized to 
cleared for approved uses or activities outlined in regulation K below. All 
native trees in the buffer over 4 inches in diameter at breast height shall be 
retained, to the full extent practicable. Trees determined by the City to be 
hazardous or diseased may be removed if because of their location is are at 
risk of damaging permanent physical improvements to property or causing 
personal injury. 

 
H. The Community Development Director may allow removal of vegetation 

exceeding that described above where an applicant agrees to replacement 



                    

44 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

plantings that are demonstrated to provide greater benefit to shoreline 
ecological functions (generally replanting with native vegetation) than 
would be provided by strict application of this section. 

 
I. NCAO buffer regulations shall not apply to the removal of aquatic weeds 

and fresh water algae undertaken pursuant to WAC 173-201. 
 
J. In the absence of a development proposal, existing, lawfully established 

landscaping and gardens within a buffer may be maintained in their 
existing condition including but not limited to mowing lawns, weeding, 
removal of noxious and invasive species, harvesting and replanting of 
garden crops, pruning and replacement planting of ornamental vegetation 
or indigenous native species to maintain the condition and appearance of 
such areas as they existed prior to adoption of this code, provided this does 
not apply to areas previously established as mitigation sites, or other areas 
protected via conservation easements or similar restrictive covenants. 

 
K. Alterations to critical areas and/or their buffers may be allowed without a 

shoreline variance to accommodate allowed uses listed below, provided 
the uses are constructed and maintained in a manner that minimizes 
adverse impacts on shoreline ecological functions and complies with the 
Program and all applicable regulations for critical areas. Other shoreline 
permits and/or exemptions may be necessary. 
 
1. Uses and activities allowed or exempted in the City’s NCAO per 

14.10.050.C. and 14.10.070 also subject to the provisions in this 
SMP; 

 
2. Bridges and water-dependent utilities; 
 
3. Pedestrian trail access from upland areas to the shoreline, viewing 

platforms, wildlife viewing blinds and other similar water-oriented 
and water-dependent uses; 

 
4. Allowed water dependent uses in all shoreline environments. The 

uses must increase public access to the shoreline, provided that 
development is located, designed, constructed and operated to 
minimize critical area and buffer disturbance to the maximum 
extent feasible. Such development or redevelopment shall restore 
or enhance degraded ecological functions as mitigation. Such 
development shall not be exempt from the provisions of Section 6, 
Environmental Impact Mitigation and Critical Areas and Shoreline 
Vegetation Conservation.  

 



 
 

City of Napavine 45 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

L. New or expanded development or uses in the shoreline, including 
subdivision of land, which would likely require structural flood hazard 
reduction measures within a stream, channel migration zone or floodway 
over the life of the development is prohibited. 

 
M. The following uses may be authorized within floodways or channel 

migration zones if there is no other feasible option: actions to protect or 
restore ecological functions, existing and ongoing agricultural uses 
provided no new restrictions to channel movement occur, bridges, utility 
lines and other public utility and transportation structures, and repair and 
maintenance of an existing legal use. 

 
N. New structural flood hazard reduction measures shall be consistent with an 

adopted comprehensive flood hazard management plan approved by the 
Department of Ecology.  Such plan must evaluate cumulative impacts to 
the watershed. 

 
O. Critical area assessments and reports as required by the NCAO (as 

incorporated into this SMP) may be combined with any special reports or 
assessments required by later sections of this SMP at the discretion of the 
Community Development Director and as long as all requirements of both 
sections of the NCAO and this SMP are addressed.  

 
P.  Credits from a certified mitigation bank may be used to compensate for 

unavoidable impacts. 
 
Q. Mitigation for impacts to critical areas and their buffers shall be carried 

out in accordance with the NCAO as incorporated into this SMP.  In 
addition to the information that is required in mitigation or enhancement 
reports therein, the applicant shall demonstrate in such report how the 
mitigation sequence in Section 6 of this SMP has been followed. 

 
PUBLIC ACCESS  
 
Policies 
 

A. Land uses that provide opportunities for substantial numbers of the people 
to enjoy the shorelines of the state are preferred. 

 
B. Physical or visual access to shorelines should be incorporated in all new 

development when the development would either generate a demand for 
one or more forms of such access, and/or would impair existing legal 
access opportunities or rights. Public health and safety concerns should 
also be adequately addressed and maintenance of shoreline ecological 
functions and/or processes should be assured.  

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
If you remove this you must replace it with shoreline buffer provisions, as the CAO no longer contains buffer provisions for Type S waters but instead says “see SMP” (Table 14.010.120.B(6) CAO). Proposed revisions equate the “OHWM setback,” which is not otherwise defined in the SMP, with the shoreline buffer.

Mackenzie Stamey
New wording accepted. 



                    

46 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
C. Provide public access as a part of a residential development of single 

family units on five or more lots, or when there has been significant 
historical usage by the public. Historic use is regular use by the public 
over a period of years rather than incidental or occasional use by one or 
only few members of the public. This policy is not intended to apply to 
construction of an individual dwelling on a single lot. 

 
D. Non water-oriented, water enjoyment, and water related uses or activities 

located on the shoreline should provide public access as a public benefit. 
 
E. Public access area and/or facility requirements should be commensurate 

with the scale and character of the development and should be reasonable, 
effective and fair to all affected parties including but not limited to the 
land owner and the public. 

 
F. Public access design should provide for public safety and minimize 

potential impacts to private property, individual privacy, and protect 
shoreline ecological functions and processes. 

 
G. Shoreline development by public entities, such as local governments, port 

districts, state agencies, and public utility districts, should provide public 
access measures as part of each development project, unless such access is 
shown to be infeasible or incompatible due to reasons of safety, security, 
or impact to the shoreline. 

 
Regulations 
 

A. Public access shall consist of a dedication of land or a physical 
improvement in the form of a walkway, trail, bikeway, corridor, 
viewpoint, park, deck, observation tower, pier, boat launching ramp, dock 
or pier area, or other area serving as a means of view and/or physical 
approach to public waters and may include interpretive centers and 
displays. 

 
B. Public access shall be evaluated for all shoreline permits. Public access 

will not be required for the following uses. 
 

1. Agriculture; 
 
2. Dredging; 
 
3. Ecological restoration or enhancement activities not associated 

with development, unless done by a public entity; 
 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Additional wording changes recommended to facilitate implementation

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
This provision needs to be more specific. As written, it implies that any authorized uses are allowed in the buffer. At the very least, include a reference to the applicable section of the CAO that lists exempted activities.

Mackenzie Stamey
Wording altered and CAO references added. 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
The SMP already reduces setbacks for water-oriented development (see Table 2) relative to non-water-oriented setbacks to account for the need to locate closer to the shoreline. Further allowances of intrusions into these setbacks are internally inconsistent and compromise the protections provided by those setbacks.

Mackenzie Stamey
Agreed, wording change accepted. 



 
 

City of Napavine 47 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

4. Instream structures; 
 
5. Landfill and excavation; 
 
6. Shoreline stabilization, unless done by a public entity; and  
 
7. Single-family residential development of four or fewer lots. 

 
C. In addition to the list of uses in Subsection B above, the Community 

Development Director may waive public access requirements when one or 
more of the following provisions apply: 
 
1. Unavoidable health or safety hazards to the public exist that cannot 

be prevented by any practical means; 
 
2. Inherent security requirements of the use cannot be satisfied 

through the application of alternative design features or other 
solutions; 

 
3. The cost of providing the access, easement, alternative amenity, or 

mitigating the impacts of public access is unreasonably 
disproportionate to the total long term cost of the proposed 
development; 

 
4. Significant environmental impacts will result from the public 

access that cannot be mitigated; or 
6. Significant undue and unavoidable conflict between any access 

provisions and the proposed use and/or adjacent uses would occur 
and cannot be mitigated. 

 
D. Before public access is waived per Subsection C above, the City must 

determine that all reasonable alternatives have been exhausted; including, 
but not limited to: 
 
1. Regulating access by such means as maintaining a gate and/or 

limiting hours of use; 
 
2. Designing separation of uses and activities (e.g. fences, terracing, 

use of one-way glazing, hedges, landscaping, etc.);  
 
3. Providing for access at a site geographically separated from the 

proposal such as a street end, vista, or trail system. 
 

E. When provisions for public access are waived, this decision shall be made 
in writing listing the rationale per Subsections C and D above, and shall be 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
This applies only to wetland impacts and wetland mitigation banks; if it’s in the CAO it may not make sense to have here

Mackenzie Stamey
This is included in the NCAO. It was added here per the July 2019 Shoreline Master Program Periodic Review Checklist (2009 - “Ecology adopted a rule tor certifying wetland mitigation banks”. If it does not need to be included in the SMP we can remove this line. 



                    

48 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

archived so that this decision can be reviewed by the Washington State 
Department of Ecology during the next master program update cycle. 

 
F. Parcels within shoreline jurisdiction, which do not front onto a stream, or 

wetland shoreline will not be required to provide shoreline public access. 
They may be required to provide public access to other parcels along the 
shoreline (e.g., water’s edge), where this is needed. 

 
G. If public access on shoreline parcels is demonstrated to be infeasible or 

inappropriate on site due to significant interference to operations or 
hazards to life and property, alternative visual access opportunities may be 
provided at a location not directly adjacent to the water such as a 
viewpoint, observation tower, or other areas serving as a means to view 
public waters. 

 
H. This master program shall seek opportunities to increase public access to 

existing publicly owned shorelines, such as street ends, and unopened 
rights-of-ways. Public access to the shoreline shall be balanced with the 
preservation of shoreline habitat and ecological functions on a case-by-
case basis. 

 
I. Public access shall incorporate the following location and design criteria: 

 
1. Where open space is provided along the shoreline, and public 

access can be provided in a manner that will not adversely impact 
shoreline ecological functions and/or processes, a public pedestrian 
access walkway parallel to the ordinary high water mark of the 
property is preferred. The walkway shall be buffered from 
sensitive ecological features and provide limited and controlled 
access to sensitive features and the water’s edge where appropriate. 
Fencing may be provided to control damage to plants and other 
sensitive ecological features, where appropriate. Trails shall be 
constructed of permeable materials and limited in width to reduce 
impacts to ecologically sensitive resources. Wider trails 
constructed with non permeable materials may be considered for 
shared use trails or public access that is part of a boardwalk, as 
long as impacts to ecologically sensitive resources are minimized 
to the greatest extent possible. For details, see the NCAO as 
incorporated into this SMP, Section 14.10.050 (C)(1). 

 
2. Public access shall be located adjacent to other public areas, 

accesses and connecting trails, connected to the nearest public 
street; and include provisions for handicapped and physically 
impaired persons where feasible. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 49 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

3. Where views of the water or shoreline are available and physical 
access to the water’s edge is not present or appropriate, a public 
viewing area shall be provided. 

 
4. Design shall minimize intrusions on privacy by avoiding locations 

adjacent to windows and/or outdoor private open spaces or by 
screening or other separation techniques. 

 
5. Design shall provide for the safety of users, including the control 

of offensive conduct through public visibility of the public access 
area, or through provisions for oversight. The Community 
Development Director may authorize a public access to be 
temporarily closed in order to develop a program to address 
offensive conduct. If offensive conduct cannot be reasonably 
controlled, alternative facilities may be approved through a permit 
revision. 

 
6. Public amenities appropriate to the use of a public access area such 

as benches, picnic tables and sufficient public parking to serve the 
users shall be provided. 

 
7. Commercial developments that attract a substantial number of 

persons and developments by government/public entities may be 
required to provide public restrooms, facilities for disposal of 
animal waste and other appropriate public facilities. 

 
J. The minimum width of public access easements shall be 10 feet in width, 

with 20 feet being the preferred width where significant public use is 
expected.  The Community Development Director may reduce the width 
of public access easements if undue hardship would result or increase the 
width if necessary to serve the intended function.  However, the reduction 
or enlargement shall only be what is necessary to achieve the intended 
purpose and such justification and circumstances shall be outlined in 
writing and archived per Public Access Regulation E, above. 

 
K. Required public access sites shall be fully developed and available for 

public use at the time of occupancy of the use or activity or in accordance 
with other provisions for guaranteeing installation through a monetary 
performance assurance. 

 
L. Public access facilities shall be maintained over the life of the use or 

development. Future actions by successors in interest or other parties shall 
not diminish the usefulness or value of required public access areas and 
associated improvements. 

 



                    

50 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

M. Public access provisions shall run with the land and be recorded via a legal 
instrument such as an easement, or as a dedication on the face of a plat or 
short plat. Such legal instruments shall be recorded with the Lewis County 
Auditor’s Office prior to the time of building permit approval, occupancy 
or plat recordation, whichever comes first. 

 
N. Maintenance of the public access facility shall normally be the 

responsibility of an accepted public or non-profit agency through a formal 
agreement recorded with the Lewis County Auditor’s Office.  However, if 
appropriate given the use, this responsibility may be required of the 
owner, future home owners association, or other entity approved by the 
City.  

 
O. Public access facilities shall be available to the public 24 hours per day 

unless specific exceptions are granted through the shoreline permit. 
 
P. The standard City or other approved signs that indicate the public’s right 

of access and hours of access shall be installed and maintained by the 
owner/developer. Such signs shall be posted in conspicuous locations at 
public access sites. 

 
WATER QUALITY 
 
Policies 
 

A. Shoreline uses and activities should be located, designed, constructed and 
maintained to avoid significant ecological impacts by altering water 
quality, quantity, or hydrology. 

 
B. Setbacks, buffers, storm water storage basins and low-impact development 

techniques and materials should be designed to avoid negative impacts on 
water quality. 

 
C. Measures for controlling erosion, stream flow rates, or flood waters 

through the use of stream control works should be located, designed, 
constructed and maintained so as to avoid degradation of existing water 
quality. 

 
D. The City will seek to improve water quality, quantity, and flow 

characteristics in order to protect and restore ecological functions and 
ecosystem-wide processes of shorelines within Shoreline Management Act 
jurisdiction. This will be implemented through the regulation of 
development and activities, through the design of new public works, such 
as roads, drainage, and water treatment facilities, and through coordination 
with other local, state, and federal water quality regulations and programs.  



 
 

City of Napavine 51 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
E. Prohibit uses and activities that pose a risk of contamination of ground or 

surface waters, such as: 
 
1. Storage, disposal, or land application of waste (excluding 

secondary/tertiary treated effluent from municipal sewer systems), 
including solid waste landfills, 

 
2. Operations for confinement feeding of animals, 
 
3. Junk yards and auto wrecking yards, 
 
4. Storage of hazardous or dangerous substances within a floodplain, 

and  
 
5. Alterations to structures and uses served by septic systems that do 

not meet state septic requirements. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. New development within shoreline jurisdiction shall not be allowed to be 
served by septic systems. 

 
B. When existing development operating on septic systems is proposed for 

expansion or intensification, such development shall be required to 
connect to municipal sewer. 

 
C. New development shall provide stormwater management facilities 

designed, constructed, and maintained in accordance with the City’s 
current stormwater management standards.  Alternative measures may be 
considered where it can be demonstrated that off-site facilities would 
provide better treatment, or where common retention, detention and/or 
water quality facilities meeting such standards have been approved as part 
of a comprehensive stormwater management plan. 

 
D. Best management practices for control of erosion and sedimentation shall 

be implemented for all development in shorelines through an approved 
temporary erosion and sediment control plan, or administrative conditions. 

 
E. Wood treated with creosote, copper chromium arsenic or 

pentachlorophenol is prohibited in or above shoreline water bodies. 
 
F. All materials that may come in contact with water shall be constructed of 

materials, such as untreated wood, concrete, approved plastic composites 
or steel, that will not adversely affect water quality or aquatic plants or 



                    

52 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

animals. Materials used for decking or other structural components shall 
be approved by applicable state agencies for contact with water to avoid 
discharge of pollutants from wave splash, rain, or runoff. 

 
PARKING 
 
Policies 
 

A. Allow parking within the shoreline jurisdiction only in support of an 
approved use. 

 
B. Design and construct parking facilities to minimize off-site light and glare 

by using fully shielded and appropriately aimed fixtures to provide 
appropriate lighting levels. 

 
C. Locate parking facilities landward from the ordinary high water mark. 
 
D. Link parking facilities with the shoreline and to the buildings they serve 

by walkways. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. Parking facilities within the shoreline are only allowed as necessary to 
support an authorized use.  Parking as a primary use is prohibited. 

 
B. Parking facilities shall be located landward of the principal building, 

except when the parking facility is within or beneath the structure and 
adequately screened or in cases when an alternate orientation would have 
less adverse impact on the shoreline. 

 
C. Over water parking facilities are prohibited.  
 
D. Parking facilities shall be designed and landscaped to minimize adverse 

impacts upon adjacent shorelines and abutting properties.  
 
E. Parking facilities shall provide safe and convenient pedestrian circulation 

within the parking area and to the shorelines. 
 
F. Parking facilities shall comply with the water quality regulations outlined 

in the Water Quality Section, above, including on-site stormwater control 
measures. 

 
  



 
 

City of Napavine 53 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

SIGNAGE 
 
Policies 
 

A. Design signs within shoreline jurisdiction so that they interfere as 
minimally as possible with visual access to the shoreline. 

 
B. Design and locate signs to insure compatibility with the shoreline 

environment designation, and adjacent land and water uses.  
 
C. Prohibit billboards within all shoreline environment designations. 

 
Regulations 
 

A. Off-premise signs are prohibited within any shoreline environment 
designation. Traffic signs are not to be considered off-premise signs. 

 
B. All public access shall be marked with signs approved by the Community 

Development Director. 
 
HISTORICAL OR ARCHEOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
 
Policies 
 

A. Coordinate development review within the shoreline with the Washington 
State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, and affected 
Indian tribes regarding historic or archaeological interest. 

 
B. Provide for the protection, rehabilitation, restoration and reconstruction of 

historic structures listed on the federal, state or local historic registers.  
 
C. Report the discovery of a historic or prehistoric site during excavation or 

development to the Washington State Department of Archeology and 
Historic Preservation and to the affected Indian tribes.   

 
D. Encourage the enrollment of historic structures or sites on the Federal, 

state or local historic registers. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. The protection, rehabilitation, restoration, and reconstruction of historic 
structures shall be governed by The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
for Rehabilitation & Illustrated Guidelines for Applying the Standards 
(1992), as amended. 

 



                    

54 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

B. The City shall consult with the Washington Department of Archaeology 
and Historic Preservation and the affected Indian tribes when known sites 
are proposed for development.  Their comments and recommendations 
shall be given substantial weight, which may result in denying a 
development permit where the historic or archaeological value of the site 
outweighs the development value. 

 
C. The discovery of archaeological resources or sites during excavation or 

development shall be reported to the Community Development Director, 
the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic 
Preservation, and the affected Indian tribes. 

 
D. Should a historic, cultural or archeological site or artifact of potential 

significance be discovered in the process of development on the shoreline, 
then work on that portion of the development site shall be stopped 
immediately and reported to the Community Development Director, 
Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, 
and Tribes with interest as soon as possible. 

 
E. When warranted by preliminary evaluation or an inadvertent discovery 

occurs, the Community Development Director shall then require a site 
assessment be conducted by a professional archeologist or historic 
preservation professional, as applicable, to determine the significance of 
the discovery and the extent of damage to the resource.  Once the site 
assessment is complete, it shall be distributed to the Washington 
Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, and the affected 
Tribe for a 15-day review period.  In the case of case of human remains, 
this shall be a 30-day review period. 

 
F. If there is a positive determination of a site’s significance, the Community 

Development Director may require additional provisions that are deemed 
to be reasonable and necessary.  If the site is determined not to be 
significant by the above listed agencies or governments, or if the above 
listed agencies or governments have failed to respond within the 
applicable review period following receipt of the site assessment, such 
stopped work may resume.   

 
SCIENTIFIC OR EDUCATIONAL USES 
 
Policies 
 

A. Scientific studies and educational uses of the shoreline should be 
conducted in such a way so to minimize environmental impacts and 
comply with management policies associated with the applicable 
environmental designation. 



 
 

City of Napavine 55 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
B. Shoreline permits should be required for scientific and educational 

activities which may significantly affect water quality or natural systems.  
 
Regulations 
 

A. Scientific or educational uses and activities are limited to those which will 
not: 
 
1. Jeopardize existing wildlife populations or organisms; 
 
2. Permanently alter the character of biological habitats; or 
 
3. Degrade the character of the shoreline environment in which they 

are located. 
 

B. Temporary disruptions of biological systems may be permitted when a 
scientific activity will result in their restoration or improvement. 

 
C. Permits encompassing a variety of activities over an extended period of 

time may be granted provided limits on the duration of approval are 
established. 

 
D. Temporary facilities necessary for the conduct of a scientific project shall 

be removed at the conclusion of the prescribed research activity period. 
 
E. Proposals for shoreline development or use in or on known sites of 

scientific value that would adversely affect, damage, or diminish such 
resources shall be prohibited. Such proposals may be allowed by shoreline 
conditional use permit if it is shown that the materials, artifacts or 
resources are recoverable and transferrable through adequate evaluation by 
qualified personnel. 

 
  



                    

56 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

7. USES AND ACTIVITIES POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
 
This section describes policies and regulations that apply to specific uses and activities in 
shoreline jurisdiction. Policies and regulations are intended to work in concert with all 
other policies and regulations contained in this Program. 
 
Uses and activities shall be subject to the policies and regulations for those specific uses 
or activities. When there are no regulations for a specific use or activity, the proposed use 
shall assure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions and shall require a Shoreline 
CUP. 
 

● Refer to Table 1 for shoreline uses and activities by shoreline 
environment. 

● Refer to Table 2 for regulations by shoreline environment. 
 
GENERAL POLICIES 
 

A. Evaluate new shoreline developments and uses for their effects on public 
health. 

 
B. Assess project-specific impacts and a project’s potential for net loss of 

ecosystem-wide processes or ecological functions during permit review. 
 
C. Require mitigation of site specific development impacts to protect existing 

ecological functions. 
 
D. Prohibit private or public development which would degrade existing 

ecological functions. 
 
E. Eliminate prohibited shoreline uses and poor quality shoreline conditions 

on a site when authorizing a new shoreline development or activity. 
 
F. Encourage developers, property owners, community groups and others to 

enhance degraded shorelines and return them to an ecologically 
functioning condition. 

 
G. Provide appropriate enforcement measures which insure that all conditions 

are met, and require that improvements or mitigation is installed, 
monitored and maintained. 

 
H. Monitor and track developments approved within shoreline jurisdiction so 

that this data will be available during future reviews and updates of this 
Program. 

 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 57 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

TABLE OF USES AND ACTIVITIES BY SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT 
DESIGNATION 
 

TABLE 1 
Uses and Activities by Shoreline Environment Designation 

 
 
Uses and Activities 

Urban 
Conservancy* 

 
Aquatic* 

Agriculture X NA 

Aquaculture X X 

Boating Facilities X X 

Commercial 
Water-oriented 
Non water-oriented 

 

C1/P2 

X C 

 
X 
X 

Forest Practices X X 

Industrial X X 

Mining X X 

Recreation 
Water-oriented 
Non water-oriented 

 

C1,3/P2 

X  

 
C3 
X 

Residential 
 

 
X 

 
X 

Solid Waste Disposal X X 

Transportation 
Roads  

Trail/Shared use path 

 
C1/P2 

P 

 
C 
C 

Utilities C1/P2 C 
(1) Within 100 feet from the ordinary high water mark. 
(2) Beyond 100 feet from the ordinary high water mark. 
(3) Including limited Water-Dependent uses (recreational boat launch ramps and associated mooring 

piles). 
P = Permitted Use; Use may require Substantial Development Permit or statement of exemption 

approval 
C = Requires a Shoreline Conditional Use Permit 
X =  Prohibited; not eligible for a Substantial Development Permit, Shoreline Conditional Use Permit, 

or Shoreline Variance 
      *See Section 2 for the descriptions of these Shoreline Environment Designations. 



                    

58 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

TABLE OF REGULATIONS BY SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATION 
 

TABLE 2 
Regulations by Shoreline Environment Designation 

 
 
Regulations 

Urban 
Conservancy 

 
Aquatic 

Commercial 
Water oriented   

OHWM setback 
Building height 
Maximum impervious surfaces 
 

Non-water Oriented 
    OHWM setback 
    Building height 
    Maximum impervious surfaces 

 
 
150’ 100’3 
35' 
30% 
 
 
100’3 
35' 
30% 

 
 
NA 
NA 
NA 
 
 
NA 
NA 
NA 

Recreation Development  
Water oriented 2 

OHWM setback 
Building height 
Maximum impervious surfaces 

 
 
150’ 100’1,3 
25' 
30% 

 
 
NA 
NA 
NA 

Transportation 
Roads  

OHWM setback 
 

 
 
200’ 

 
 
NA 
 

Utilities 
OHWM setback 
Building height 

 
100’335' 

 
NA 
NA 

(1) Water-Dependent uses may be located within the OHWM setback (boat launch ramps and 
associated mooring piles) if mitigation is provided to ensure no net loss of shoreline 
ecological functions, consistent with the provisions of this SMP. 

(2) Allowed Water-Oriented recreational development  is intended specifically for recreational 
facilities including pedestrian paths, picnic areas and public park facilities. 

(3) The City of Napavine will require that mitigation is provided if future commercial, 
recreational, and utility development occurs adjacent to the 100-foot OHWM setback  , 
including the enhancement and restoration of the 100-foot setback area with native vegetation 
as a condition of the shoreline permit. 

OHWM setback = Ordinary high water mark setback is regulated as a critical area buffer on the 
shoreline waterbody. 

 
NA = Not applicable, refer to the appropriate Master Program section for additional standards. 
 

  



 
 

City of Napavine 59 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

AGRICULTURE 
 
Policies 
 
Agriculture is incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the Newaukum River. 
  
Regulations 
 
Agriculture is prohibited in shoreline jurisdiction. 
 
AQUACULTURE 
 
Due to the possible conflict with other beneficial uses of water within an urban area, 
aquaculture uses and facilities are incompatible within the shoreline areas of the City. 
 
Policies 
 

A. Prohibit aquaculture uses and facilities within all shoreline environment 
designations. 

 
Regulations 
 

A. Uses and facilities for aquaculture are prohibited within all shoreline 
environment designations. 

 
BOATING FACILITIES 
 
Boating facilities are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the Newaukum 
River. 
 
Policies 
 
 A.  Boating facilities should be prohibited within all shoreline environment 
designations. Boat launch ramps and associated mooring piles are specifically allowed as 
a water-dependent recreational use, see Recreation section below. 
 
Regulations 
 
 A.  All boating facilities including piers, docks, and marinas and launch ramps are 
prohibited within all shoreline environment designations. Boat launch ramps and 
associated mooring piles are specifically allowed as a water-dependent recreational use, 
see Recreation section below. 

Mackenzie Stamey
Justification for changes to this table have been addressed in the Napavine ECY Checklist.

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Add footnotes 3 and 4

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
This is not sufficiently specific to be implementable as written. Is this just referring to recreational boat launch ramps and associated mooring piles? If so, is it needed in addition to footnote #3? If there are other water-dependent uses considered, what are they and where are they addressed in the body of the SMP?

Mackenzie Stamey
Footnotes 3 & 4 have been combined.



                    

60 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
 
COMMERCIAL 
 
Policies 
 

A. Plan and construct commercial development to minimize adverse 
environmental and visual impacts and to assure no net loss of ecological 
functions. 

 
B. Encourage the clustering of commercial development to minimize the loss 

of shoreline ecological functions and to increase open spaces. 
 
C. Provide access to the shoreline for customers of new commercial 

development and the general public. 
 
D. Measures to conserve native vegetation along shorelines should be 

required for all commercial development. Vegetation conservation should 
include avoidance or minimization of clearing or grading, restoration of 
areas of vegetation impacted, and control of invasive or non-native 
vegetation. 

 
E. The restoration of degraded shoreline ecological functions should be 

required as mitigation for new or expanded commercial structures within 
shoreline jurisdiction. The degree and type of restoration is to be 
commensurate with any unavoidable loss of ecological functions at that 
site. 

 
F. All commercial structures and accessory uses should be designed and 

located so as to preserve views and vistas to and from the water. 
 
G. Allow commercial development only when there are adequate provisions 

for utilities, circulation and access. 
 
H. Prohibit new over water commercial development. 

 
Regulations 
 
Commercial uses and activities may be allowed by shoreline environment designation as 
listed in Table 1, and shall be subject to the regulations of Table 2 and the regulations 
listed below. 
 

A. New commercial development must be water-oriented. New non water-
oriented commercial development is prohibited allowed provided that the 
conditions below are met: 

Mackenzie Stamey
Justification for changes to this table have been addressed in the Napavine ECY Checklist.

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Please add an analysis of cumulative impacts to the narrative in the checklist, which currently only discusses the rationale for this change with respect to desired uses (and not any potential ecological impacts of the change)

Mackenzie Stamey
More wording and cumulative analysis added to the checklist document. 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Now that the CAO does not define shoreline buffers, you will need to replace all of these asterisks with defined shoreline buffer widths. Note that the existing buffers are 200 feet, and any reduction will require an analysis of cumulative impacts

Mackenzie Stamey
Road setback will stay at existing 200’ buffer, Utilities changed to 100’ to coincide with any future commercial development following the same rule set in place in footnote 3. Cumulative impacts are addressed in the checklist document. 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
“OWHM setback” for the sake of internal consistency?

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Suggested language to clarify that water-dependent uses may locate within the buffer but are still required to provide mitigation.

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
This provision should be moved to the body of the SMP. Please also clarify whether it applies to all development or just commercial and recreational development (i.e. those labeled w/the footnote)

Mackenzie Stamey
Additional wording added on page 62, 66, and 71 to cover commercial, recreational, and utility regulations. 



 
 

City of Napavine 61 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

a. WAC 173-26-241(3)(d): 
(i) The use is part of a mixed-use project that includes water-
dependent uses and provides a significant public benefit with 
respect to the Shoreline Management Act's objectives such as 
providing public access and ecological restoration; or 
(ii) Navigability is severely limited at the proposed site; and the 
commercial use provides a significant public benefit with respect 
to the Shoreline Management Act's objectives such as providing 
public access and ecological restoration. 

b. Mitigation is provided as a condition of the shoreline permit if future 
development occurs adjacent to the 100-foot OHWM setback, 
including the enhancement and restoration of the 100-foot shoreline 
setback area with native trees and shrubs. 

 
B.  Commercial development over water is prohibited. 
 
C. Commercial development shall be sited and designed to protect views, 

vistas and aesthetic values and to minimize impacts to the character of the 
shoreline environment and the views of neighboring property owners. 

 
D. All commercial developments and uses shall provide for vegetation 

conservation in accordance with the Critical Areas and Shoreline 
Vegetation Conservation section and comply with the mitigation 
sequence, both in Section 6 of this Program.   

 
E. Commercial uses shall incorporate appropriate design and operational 

elements so that they meet the definition of water-oriented uses. 
 
F. Public access and ecological restoration shall be considered as mitigation 

for impacts to shoreline resources unless they are infeasible or 
inappropriate. 

 
G. New commercial development shall comply with the water quality 

regulations which include on-site stormwater control measures. 
 
H.   Commercial development will not result in a net loss of shoreline 

ecological functions or have significant adverse impact to other shoreline 
uses, resources and values provided for in RCW 90.58.020 such as 
navigation, recreation and public access. 

 
FOREST PRACTICES 
 
Forest practices are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the Newaukum 
River.  Resource areas for forest practices are designated in appropriate areas outside the 
boundaries of the City.  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=90.58.020
Brandon, Tess (ECY)
See comment above on asterisk.

This suggested approach also provides a solution to the problem that “OHWM setback” is not an otherwise defined term in the SMP

Mackenzie Stamey
Deleted, no longer necessary.



                    

62 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
Policies 
 

A. Prohibit forest practices within all shoreline environment designations. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. Forest Practices are prohibited in all shoreline environment designations.  
 
B. For the purpose of this Program, preparatory work associated with the 

conversion of land to non-forestry uses and/or developments shall not be 
considered forest practices and shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions for the proposed non-forestry use, the general provisions of this 
Program, including vegetation conservation, and shall be limited to the 
minimum necessary. 

 
INDUSTRIAL 
 
Industrial uses and facilities are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the 
Newaukum River. 
 
Policies 
 

A. Prohibit industrial uses within all shoreline environment designations. 
 
Regulations 
 

A. Industrial uses are prohibited within all shoreline environment 
designations. 

 
MINING 
 
Mining facilities are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the Newaukum 
River. 
 
Policy 
 

A. Prohibit mining uses within all shoreline environment designations. 
 
Regulation 
 

A. Mining uses are prohibited within all shoreline environment designations. 
 

RECREATION 
 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Suggest “allowed as a water-dependent recreational use, see Recreation section below”

Mackenzie Stamey
Wording changed. 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Same as above

Mackenzie Stamey
Wording changed.



 
 

City of Napavine 63 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

Policies 
 

A. Acknowledge a priority for recreational development along shorelines, 
when primarily related to access to, enjoyment and use of the water. 

 
B. Consider all recreational development projects on the basis of their 

compatibility with the environment.  
 
C. Plan public access to recreational locations such as fishing streams to 

prevent concentration of use pressures.  
 
D. Link shoreline parks and public access points through linear open spaces. 

Such open space may include trails located in accordance with applicable 
policies. 

 
E. Design recreational developments to preserve, enhance, or create scenic 

views and vistas.  
 
F. Locate parking areas inland, away from the immediate edge of the water 

and recreational beaches. Link the parking to the shoreline by walkways.  
 
G. Allow facilities for intensive recreational activities only where sewage 

disposal and pest control can be accomplished to meet public health 
standards without altering the environment adversely.  

 
H. Encourage access to public waters as part of a City recreation plan, or 

private development. 
 
I. Encourage low intensity recreational uses on floodplains with largely 

intact ecological processes and functions and allow high intensity 
recreational uses on floodplains that have been modified and are upland of 
the ordinary high water mark. 

  
J. Commercial recreational development should be consistent with the 

provisions for commercial development in Section 7 of this SMP.  
 
K.  Allow recreational boat launches ramps and associated mooring piles 

within shorelines consistent with the regulations listed below. 
 

 
 
Regulations 
 



                    

64 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

Recreational uses and activities may be allowed by shoreline environment designation as 
listed in Table 1, and shall be subject to the regulations of Table 2 and the regulations 
listed below. 
 

A. Assure that recreational development is given priority and is primarily 
related to access to, enjoyment and use of the water and shorelines of the 
state.  

 
B. Public recreational development and public access associated with those 

facilities shall be located, designed and operated in a manner consistent 
with the purpose of the shoreline environment designation and that 
minimizes the impact on shoreline ecological functions. 

 
C. Non-water-oriented recreation facilities or structures are prohibited within 

shoreline jurisdiction.    
 
D. Recreational events and temporary uses in the public interest may be 

approved by the Community Development Director when those uses will 
not damage the shoreline area. 

 
E. Public or private recreation areas which cater to the use of all-terrain or 

off-road vehicles as the primary recreational activity are prohibited within 
shoreline jurisdiction. 

 
F. Recreational developments shall be designed with consideration of public 

access and public view corridors. 
 
G. Public access points must provide parking space appropriate for the 

intended use, or document the rationale for not providing parking in a 
shoreline permit application. 

 
H. Recreational developments shall provide facilities for nonmotorized 

access, such as pedestrian, bicycle and/or equestrian path links to the 
shoreline. 

 
I. All public access shall be marked with signs approved by the Community 

Development Director. 
 

J. New recreational facilities shall comply with the water quality regulations, 
which include on-site stormwater control measures. 

 
K. Commercial recreational development shall be consistent with the 

provisions for commercial development in Section 7. 
 

Mackenzie Stamey
Justification for this has been added to the Napavine ECY Checklist

Mackenzie Stamey
Additional wording added to stay consistent with Table 2 footnotes. 



 
 

City of Napavine 65 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

L.        Any recreational boat launches ramps and associated mooring piles within 
shorelines are subject to the critical area regulations of the NCAO 
including avoiding and minimizing impacts when determining location for 
development.  

 
M. Mitigation shall be provided as a condition of the shoreline permit if future 

water-dependent or water-oriented development occurs adjacent to or 
within the 100-foot OHWM setback, including the enhancement and 
restoration of the 100-foot shoreline setback area with native trees and 
shrubs. 

 
 
RESIDENTIAL 
 
Residential uses and facilities are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the 
Newaukum River. 
 
Policy 
 
A. Prohibit residential uses within all shoreline environment designations. 
 
Regulation 
 
A. Both single-family and multi-family residential uses are prohibited within all 
shoreline environment designations. 
 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL 
 
Policy 
 

A. Prohibit facilities that handle solid waste within all shoreline environment 
designations.  

 
Regulation 
 

A. Uses for which the primary purpose is the disposal, handling, storage and 
transfer of solid waste (excluding secondary/tertiary treated effluent from 
municipal sewer systems) are prohibited within all shoreline environment 
designations. 

 
TRANSPORTATION 
 
Policies 
 



                    

66 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

A. Locate new and expanded arterials and freeways away from and outside of 
shoreline jurisdiction unless there are no feasible alternatives. 

 
B. Design roads and trails/shared use paths to be located as far landward as 

possible, to fit the topography and utilize existing corridors so that 
minimum alterations of natural conditions will be necessary.  

 
C. Design, construct and maintain roads and shared use paths to minimize 

erosion and to permit natural movement of ground water and flood waters.  
 
D. Piers and bridges are preferred to the placement of fill within the shoreline 

for the road and shared use path crossings.  
 
E. Dispose of construction debris, overburden, and other waste materials in 

such a way as to prevent their entry by erosion from drainage, high water, 
or other means into any surface water body.  

 
F. Rely upon the City of Napavine Transportation Plan Element of the 

Comprehensive Plan to identify new transportation crossings or corridors 
within shoreline areas.  

 
Regulations 
 
Transportation uses and activities may be allowed by shoreline environment designation 
as listed in Table 1, and shall be subject to the regulations of Table 2 and the regulations 
listed below. 
 

A. Roads and shared use paths shall be designed to cross shoreline areas by 
the shortest, most direct route feasible.  

 
B. Future community transportation corridors within shoreline areas shall be 

prohibited unless shown/included in the City’s Transportation Plan 
Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
C. The placement of fill for roads and shared use paths within shoreline 

jurisdiction shall be restricted to the smallest possible footprint for the 
intended purpose. 

 
D. Bridges for roads and shared use paths may be located within salmon and 

steelhead habitat provided that the following conditions are met: 
 
1. An alternative alignment is not feasible; 
 
2. The project is located and designed to minimize its impacts on the 

environment; 



 
 

City of Napavine 67 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
3. Any adverse impacts are mitigated; and 
 
4. Open-piling and piers required to construct the bridge may be 

placed waterward of the ordinary high water mark, if no alternative 
method is feasible. 

 
E. The placement of fill for roads and shared use paths may be allowed in 

water bodies, wetlands, side channels and on accretion beaches if: 
 
1. All structural and upland alternatives have been proven to be 

infeasible; 
 
2. The transportation facilities are necessary to support uses 

consistent with this master program; and 
 
3. Such review is undertaken as a shoreline conditional use. 

 
F. Appropriate design and erosion control techniques shall be used to 

construct or repair roads and shared use paths so they assure no net loss of 
shoreline ecological functions and processes.  

 
G. Where permitted to parallel shorelines, roads shall be setback a sufficient 

distance from the ordinary high water mark to minimize loss of ecological 
functions. 

 
H. A public trail may be allowed within the required critical area buffer and 

setback in accordance with the provisions of Regulation K of the Critical 
Areas and Shoreline Vegetation Conservation subsection in Section 6. 

 
I. New transportation projects shall comply with the water quality 

regulations, which include on-site stormwater control measures. 
 
UTILITIES 
 
Policies 
 

A. Utilities in shoreline areas should not obstruct or destroy scenic views. 
 
B. Place utilities underground when feasible, or design them to do minimal 

damage to the aesthetic qualities of the shoreline area. Where compelling 
reasons exist to place utilities above ground, such as impacts to ecological 
functions or values, this may be permitted with full mitigation of aesthetic 
impacts. 

 

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
What provisions? If the City is adding an allowance for a new use (boat launches) there should be new regulations added accordingly

Mackenzie Stamey
Wording altered and two additional regulations added on page 66

Mackenzie Stamey
Justification for this has been added to the Napavine ECY Checklist consistent with WAC 173-26-241(3)(i).

Mackenzie Stamey
Justification for this removal has been added to the Napavine ECY Checklist consistent with WAC 173-26-241(3)(i).

Brandon, Tess (ECY)
Checklist does not discuss nonwater-oriented recreational uses; it discusses picnic areas, pedestrian paths, etc., which are water-oriented. This is also inconsistent w/Table 1. Recommend reinstating and retaining prohibition

Mackenzie Stamey
Added back in. 



                    

68 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

C. Locate utilities outside of shoreline jurisdiction, unless there are no 
feasible alternatives. When necessary, locate them as far landward as 
possible and preserve the natural landscape, shoreline ecology, and 
minimize conflicts with present and planned land uses. 

 
D. When utility placement occurs in shoreline areas, banks and shorelands 

should be restored to their pre-project configuration, replanted with native 
species, and maintained until the new vegetation is established. 

 
E. Sewage treatment, water reclamation and power plants should be designed 

and located so as not to interfere with, and to be compatible with 
recreational or other public uses of the water and shorelands. 

 
F. Recycling or land disposal of sewage wastes is preferred to new sewage 

outfalls to shoreline waterbodies. Where no alternative to outfalls into 
water exist, the location is to be part of an approved regional sewage 
management plan. 

 
G. Use utility rights-of-way for public access to and along shoreline 

waterbodies, where feasible. 
 
H. Design and construct bridge-like structures for above water crossing of 

utilities rather than fill. 
 
I. Use best available science and mitigation sequencing in accordance with 

the environmental impact mitigation regulations in Section 6 to locate new 
utility corridors within shoreline areas.  Co-locate new major transmission 
facilities along existing utility corridors, where possible.  

 
Regulations 
 
Utility uses and activities may be allowed by shoreline environment designation as listed 
in Table 1, and shall be subject to the regulations of Table 2 and the regulations listed 
below. 
 

A. Utility facilities and lines shall be designed and located to assure no net 
loss of shoreline ecological functions, preserve the natural landscape, and 
minimize conflicts with present and planned land and shoreline uses while 
meeting the needs of future populations in areas planned to accommodate 
growth. 

 
B. Utility production and processing facilities, such as power plants and 

sewage treatment plants, or parts of those facilities that are non-water 
oriented, shall not be allowed in shoreline areas unless it can be 
demonstrated that no other feasible option is available. 

Mackenzie Stamey
Is this wording sufficient?



 
 

City of Napavine 69 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
C. Utility transmission facilities such as power lines, cables and pipelines 

shall be located outside of the shoreline area where feasible.  When the 
utility needs to be located within shoreline jurisdiction, mitigation 
sequencing pursuant to the environmental impact regulations in Section 6 
shall be used to justify the location, and existing rights of way and utility 
corridors shall be used, to the extent feasible. 

 
D. In-water utility corridors may be located within salmon and steelhead 

habitat provided that the following conditions are met: 
 

1. An alternative alignment is not feasible; 
 
2. The project is located and designed to minimize its impacts on the 

environment; 
 
3. Any adverse impacts are mitigated; 
 
4. Any fill is located landward of the ordinary high water mark; and 
 
5. Open-piling and piers required to construct a bridge necessary for a 

utility crossing may be placed waterward of the ordinary high 
water mark, if no alternative method is feasible. 

 
E. Applications for permits for utility facilities and lines shall document how 

the size of the facility or line has been minimized within the shoreline area 
and shall identify the methods of revegetation of the affected area to 
predevelopment elevations, replanting with native or pre-existing species, 
and provisions for the maintenance and care for the newly planted 
vegetation. 

 
F. Installation of utility service to a development within shoreline jurisdiction 

shall not require a separate shoreline permit, but shall be regulated by the 
specific use regulations for the activity and the standards of this section. 

 
G. Utilities shall be placed underground unless such undergrounding would 

be economically or technically prohibitive, or would be significantly 
detrimental to the environment. 

 
H. Utility facilities shall be designed for minimal environmental and aesthetic 

impact. 
 
I. Underwater utilities shall be located at a depth sufficient to prevent 

interference between the utility and other shoreline use activities. 
 



                    

70 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

J. Utility facilities and lines shall identify safeguards to ensure that no long-
term damage will be caused to the adjacent or downstream environment 
should an accident occur involving that facility or line. 

 
K. New utility facilities shall comply with the water quality regulations, 

which include on-site stormwater control measures. 
 
L. Mitigation shall be provided as a condition of the shoreline permit if future 

development occurs adjacent to the 100-foot OHWM setback, including 
the enhancement and restoration of the 100-foot shoreline setback area 
with native trees and shrubs. 

 
  



 
 

City of Napavine 71 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

8. SHORELINE MODIFICATION POLICIES AND 
REGULATIONS 

 
The policies and regulations in this chapter apply to all types of shoreline modifications. 
Shoreline modifications are generally related to construction of a physical element such 
as a dike, breakwater, dredged basin, or fill, but modifications can include other actions 
such as clearing, grading, application of chemicals, or significant vegetation removal.  
 
Shoreline modifications usually are undertaken in support of or in preparation for a 
shoreline use.  An example for a marine shoreline setting would be fill (shoreline 
modification) required for a cargo terminal (industrial use) or dredging (shoreline 
modification) to allow for a marina (boating facility use). 
 
Refer to Table 3 for shoreline modifications by shoreline environment. 
 
TABLE OF SHORELINE MODIFICATIONS BY SHORELINE ENVIRONMENT 
DESIGNATION 
 

TABLE 3 
Shoreline Modifications by Shoreline Environment Designation 

 
 
 
Shoreline Modifications 

 
Urban 
Conservancy 

 
 
Aquatic 

Dredging and Disposal C C 

Fill 
Ecological Restoration Project 
All Other Activities 

 
P 
C 

 
P 
C 

Overwater Structures (piers/docks/floats) X  X 

Restoration and Enhancement P P 

Shoreline Stabilization 
Bioengineering 
Revetments, Gabions and Bulkheads 

 
P 
C 

 
C 
C 

Breakwaters, Jetties and Groins X X 

Dikes, Levees, and Instream Structures C C 
 

P = Modification may require Substantial Development Permit or statement of exemption.      
C = Requires a Shoreline Conditional Use Permit. 
NA = Not applicable, refer to the appropriate Master Program section for additional standards.  



                    

72 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

GENERAL POLICIES  
 

A. Development should be designed and located so that future shoreline 
modifications are unnecessary, including protective measures such as 
filling, bulkheading, shoreline berms, or substantial grading of the site. 

 
B. Insure that permits for shoreline modifications follow mitigation 

sequencing in the environmental impact mitigation regulations in Section 
6.  

 
C. Allow structural shoreline modifications only where they are demonstrated 

to be necessary to support or protect an allowed primary structure or 
legally existing shoreline use that is in danger of loss or substantial 
damage, or are necessary for reconfiguration of the shoreline for 
mitigation or enhancement purposes. 

 
D. Only shoreline modifications that are appropriate to the specific type of 

shoreline and environmental conditions for which they are proposed 
should be allowed. 

 
E. Shoreline modifications that that have a lesser impact on ecological 

functions are preferred over those with more impacts so that shoreline 
modifications do not individually or cumulatively result in a net loss of 
shoreline ecological functions. 

 
DREDGING AND DREDGE DISPOSAL 
 
Policies 
 

A. Allow dredging in locations where a comprehensive management plan has 
been evaluated and authorized by local and state governmental entities, 
and only when significant ecological impacts are minimized and when 
mitigation is provided. 

 
B. New development should be designed and located to avoid and minimize 

the need for new and maintenance dredging. 
 
C. Conduct dredging in such a manner as to minimize damage to natural 

systems in both the area to be dredged and the area for deposit of dredged 
materials. 

 
D. Dispose dredged material at a site where chemicals in high concentrations 

cannot cause significant harm to resident biota. 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 73 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

E. Plan and conduct dredging so as to minimize interference with navigation 
and adverse impacts to other shoreline uses, properties and values. 

 
F. Allow dredging of less than five hundred (500) cubic yards as part of 

ecological restoration or enhancement, beach nourishment, public access 
or public recreation provided it is otherwise consistent with the policies 
and provisions of this master program. 

 
G. Allow dredging for the following activities: 

 
1. In conjunction with a water-dependent use of water bodies or 

adjacent shorelands; 
 
2. In conjunction with a bridge, navigational structure or wastewater 

treatment facility for which there is a documented public need and 
where other feasible sites or routes do not exist; 

 
3. Maintenance of irrigation reservoirs, drains, canals or ditches for 

agricultural and stormwater purposes; 
 
4. Removal of gravel for flood management purposes consistent with 

an adopted flood hazard reduction plan and only after a biological 
and geomorphological study demonstrates that extraction has a 
long-term benefit to flood hazard reduction, does not result in a net 
loss of shoreline ecological processes and functions and is part of a 
comprehensive flood management solution; 

 
5. Restoration or enhancement of shoreline ecological processes and 

functions benefiting water quality and/or fish and wildlife habitat; 
 
6. Minor trenching to allow the installation of authorized shoreline 

stabilization measures or necessary underground pipes or cables if 
no alternative, including boring, is feasible, and: 
 
a. Impacts to fish and wildlife habitat are avoided to the 

maximum extent possible; 
 
b. The utility installation does not increase or decrease the 

natural rate, extent or opportunity of channel migration; 
 
c. Appropriate best management practices are employed to 

prevent water quality impacts or other environmental 
degradation. 

 

Mackenzie Stamey
Additional wording added to stay consistent with Table 2 footnotes. 



                    

74 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

Regulations  
 
Dredging may be allowed as listed in Table 3, and shall be subject to the regulations 
below.  
 

A. All permits which include dredging shall supply a dredging plan which 
includes the following information: 

 
1. A description of the applicable purpose of the proposed dredging 

and an analysis of compliance with the policies and regulations of 
this Program. 

 
2. A detailed description of the existing physical character, shoreline 

geomorphology and biological resources (including migratory, 
seasonal and spawning use) provided by the area proposed to be 
dredged, including: 

 
a. A site plan map outlining the perimeter of the proposed 

dredge area, including the existing bathymetry depths and 
data points at a minimum of two (2) foot increments in 
depth. 

 
b. A habitat survey must be conducted and Washington State 

Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW) must be 
contacted to ensure the survey is conducted according to 
the most recent survey guidelines. 

 
c. Information on stability of bedlands adjacent to proposed 

dredging and spoils disposal areas. 
 
3. A detailed description of the physical, chemical and biological 

characteristics of the dredge spoils to be removed. 
 

a. Physical analysis of material to be dredged: material 
composition and amount, grain size, organic materials 
present, source of material, etc. 

 
b. Chemical analysis of material to be dredged: volatile solids, 

chemical oxygen demand (COD), grease and oil content, 
mercury, lead and zinc content, etc. 

 
c. Biological analysis of material to be dredged. 

 
4. A description of the method of materials removal, including 

facilities for settlement and movement. 



 
 

City of Napavine 75 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
a. Dredging procedure: length of time it will take to complete 

dredging, method of dredging and amount of materials 
removed. 

 
b. Frequency and quantity of project maintenance dredging. 

 
5. Detailed plans for dredge spoil disposal, including specific land 

disposal sites and relevant information on the disposal site, 
including but not limited to: 
 
a. Spoils disposal area, including: 

 
i. Physical characteristics including location, 

topography, existing drainage patterns, surface and 
ground water; 

 
ii. Size and capacity of disposal site; 
 
iii. Means of transportation to the disposal site; 
 
iv. Proposed dewatering and stabilization of spoils; 
 
v. Methods of controlling erosion and sedimentation; 

and 
 
vi. Future use of the site and conformance with land 

use policies and regulations. 
 

b. Total initial spoils volume. 
 
c. Plan for disposal of maintenance spoils for at least a 50-

year period. 
 

6. Hydraulic modeling studies sufficient to identify existing geo-
hydraulic patterns and probable effects of dredging. 

 
B. Dredging and dredge disposal shall be prohibited on or in archaeological 

sites that are listed on the Washington State Register of Historic Places. 
 
C. Dredging to construct canals or small basins for water ski landings or 

swimming holes is prohibited. 
 
D. Limit dredging to support water dependent uses, navigation, public access, 

and restoration. Prohibit dredging which will cause unmitigated damage to 



                    

76 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

shallow water habitat used by salmon and steelhead for migration 
corridors, rearing, feeding and refuge 

 
E. The removal of river gravel bars may be allowed when all of the following 

conditions can be met: 
 
a. The gravel removed from the river or stream does not exceed the 

average annual recruitment of bedload material as shown by an 
approved geomorphic and sediment transport analysis. Additional 
gravel may be removed where the applicant can demonstrate the 
channel capacity has been significantly reduced. 

 
b. The gravel is removed from the area between the existing water 

level and the permanently vegetated portions of the bank. 
 
c. The project will not cause any adverse impacts on salmon and 

steelhead habitat, especially through increased sedimentation. 
 

F. Dredging waterward of the OHWM for the primary purpose of obtaining 
fill material shall not be allowed, except when the material is necessary for 
restoration of ecological functions.  When allowed, the site where the fill 
is to be placed must be located waterward of the OHWM. 

 
G. Dredge disposal sites shall adhere to the following conditions: 

 
1. Containment dikes and adequate settling basins shall be built and 

maintained so that the site’s discharge water carries a minimum of 
suspended sediment.  Required basins shall be designed to 
maintain at least 1 foot of standing water at all times to encourage 
proper settling.  

 
2. Proper diversion of surface discharge shall be provided to maintain 

the integrity of the natural streams, wetlands and drainages. 
 
3. Shoreline ecological functions and processes will be preserved, 

including protection of surface and ground water; erosion, 
sedimentation, floodwaters or runoff will not increase adverse 
impacts to shoreline ecological functions and processes or 
property. 

 
4. Runoff water shall be controlled so as to enter a waterway through 

grassy swales or other treatment features that assures protection of 
water quality and other environmental resources. 

 
5. Underground springs and aquifers shall be identified and protected. 



 
 

City of Napavine 77 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
6. The outside face of dikes shall be sloped at 1-1/2 to 1 (horizontal 

to vertical) or flatter and seeded with grass and/or native 
vegetation.  Landscaping and buffer areas may be required. 

 
7. Sites shall be adequately screened from view. Dredge disposal in 

shoreline areas shall not impair scenic views. 
 
8. Dredge materials deposited upland and not part of a permitted dike 

or levee shall constitute fill, and when deposited within the 
jurisdiction of this master program, shall comply with the fill 
regulations of this master program. 

 
FILL 
 
Policies 
 

A. Shoreline use and development should be designed and located to 
minimize the need for fill. 

 
B. The mitigation sequence should be used to limit the size and location of 

fills. 
 
C. Shoreline fill should be designed and located to avoid causing significant 

damage to existing ecological values or natural resources, or create a risk 
of significant injury to life or adjacent property. 

 
D. The perimeter of a fill should be designed to avoid or eliminate erosion 

and sedimentation impacts, both during initial landfill activities and over 
time.  Natural appearing and self-sustaining control methods are preferred 
over structural methods. 

 
E. Fill for water-dependent uses should be prioritized over fill for other 

purposes 
 

F. Allow the deposition of fill material in water areas for: 
 
1. Habitat improvement,  
 
2. A beneficial use in riverbed enhancement; 
 
3. Mitigation actions; 
 
4. Water dependent uses; 
 



                    

78 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

5. Public access; or 
 
6. Clean up and disposal of contaminated sediments. 

 
G. Require a shoreline conditional use permit for any fill placed waterward of 

the ordinary high-water mark for any use except ecological restoration. 
 
H. Require fill projects to provide mitigation to prevent a net loss of shoreline 

ecological functions. 
 
I. Prohibit the placement of fill in floodways or wetlands, unless part of an 

approved ecological restoration activity. 
 

Regulations 
 
Fill may be allowed as listed in Table 3, and shall be subject to the regulations below. 

 
A. Fills shall consist of clean materials including such earth materials as clay, 

sand, and gravel, and also may include oyster or clam shells. The use of 
solid wastes and organic debris, such as wood and other vegetative 
materials, in a fill are prohibited. 

 
B. Fills for riverbed enhancement shall be designed, constructed, and 

maintained to prevent, minimize and control all material movement, 
erosion, and sedimentation from the affected area. 

 
C. Shoreland fill shall support native vegetation and be replanted to blend 

with the surrounding environment. 
 
D. Fills may be allowed only when it can be demonstrated that the proposed 

action will not: 
 
1. Result in significant damage to water quality, fish, and/or wildlife 

habitat; and   
 
2. Adversely alter natural drainage and circulation patterns, currents, 

river and tidal flows or significantly reduce flood water capacities. 
 
E. Fill which will interfere with public rights of navigation and rights 

corollary thereto shall not be permitted unless there is an overriding public 
interest. 

 
F. Fill for the sole purpose of creating new dry land is prohibited. 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 79 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

G. Fill within a 100-year floodplain is prohibited except when it can be 
clearly demonstrated that the geohydraulic characteristics and floodplain 
storage capacity will not be altered to increase flood hazard or other 
damage to life or property, individually or cumulatively. 

 
H. Fill of parcel within a 100-year floodplain for the purpose of raising the 

first floor elevation of a residential single family structure is prohibited. 
However a limited amount of fill will be allowed adjacent to an elevated 
foundation to protect the foundation from frost heave. 

 
I. Fill located waterward of the ordinary high water mark for the purpose of 

ecological restoration may be allowed subject to a shoreline substantial 
development permit, rather than a shoreline conditional use permit. 

 
OVERWATER STRUCTURES 
 
Overwater structures including piers, docks and floats are incompatible with goals for 
shoreline areas along the Newaukum River. 
 
Policies 
 
 A.  Overwater structures including piers, docks and floats should be prohibited 

within all shoreline environment designations. 
 
Regulations 
 
 A.  Overwater structures including piers, docks, and floats are prohibited within 

all shoreline environment designations.  
 
RESTORATION AND ENHANCEMENT 
 
Policies 
 

A. Insure that permits for restoration and enhancement projects address the 
environmental impact mitigation policies and regulations in Section 6. 

 
B. Encourage and facilitate cooperative restoration and enhancement 

programs between local, state, and federal public agencies, tribes, non-
profit organizations, and landowners to address shorelines with impaired 
ecological functions and/or processes. 

 
C. Restoration efforts should incorporate the restoration of natural processes, 

as those will likely be the most successful actions over the long-term. 
These include reducing human caused sedimentation, improving riparian 



                    

80 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

conditions, restoration of natural stream flows, and a return to natural 
floodplain conditions.  

 
D. Integrate restoration and enhancement with other parallel natural resource 

management efforts such as The Chehalis Basin Salmon Habitat 
Restoration Work Plan for WRIAs 22 and 23 (2008), as amended.  

 
E. Prioritize restoration actions and stand-alone projects in the following 

order: 
 
1. Create dynamic and sustainable ecosystems. 
 
2. Restore connectivity between stream/river channels, floodplains 

and hyporheic zones. 
 
3. Restore natural channel-forming geomorphologic processes. 
 
4. Mitigate peak flows and associated impacts caused by high 

stormwater runoff volume. 
 
5. Reduce sediment input to streams and rivers and associated 

impacts. 
 
6. Improve water quality. 
 
7. Restore native vegetation and natural hydrologic functions of 

degraded and former wetlands. 
 
8. Replant native vegetation in riparian areas to restore functions. 
 
9. Remove obsolete and no longer needed shoreline modifications. 

 
Regulations  
 
Restoration and enhancement may be allowed as listed in Table 3, and shall be subject to 
the regulations below. 
 

A. Restoration shall be carried out in accordance with an approved restoration 
plan and shall comply with the environmental impact mitigation policies 
and regulations in Section 6 of this Program. 

 
B. Shoreline restoration and enhancement projects including shoreline 

modification activities such as removal of vegetation, shoreline 
stabilization, dredging and filling may be allowed provided the primary 



 
 

City of Napavine 81 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

purpose of such action is clearly restoration of the natural character and 
ecological functions of the shoreline. 

 
C.  In accordance with RCW 90.58.580, a Substantial Development Permit is 

not required for development on land that is brought under shoreline 
jurisdiction due to a shoreline restoration project. However, projects are 
still required to comply with the regulations of this Master Program  

 
D.  Projects taking place on lands that are brought into shoreline jurisdiction 

due to a shoreline restoration project that caused a landward shift of the 
OHWM may apply to the Community Development Department for relief 
from the SMP development standards and use regulations under the 
provisions of RCW 90.58.580. Any relief granted shall be strictly in 
accordance with the limited provisions of RCW 90.58.580, including the 
specific approval of the Department of Ecology. 

 
SHORELINE STABILIZATION 
 
Shoreline stabilization includes actions taken to address erosion impacts to property and 
dwellings, businesses or structures caused by natural processes, such as floods, wind or 
wave action.  These actions include structural and nonstructural methods.  Nonstructural 
methods of shoreline stabilization include building setbacks, relocation of structures, 
groundwater and stormwater management, and planning and regulatory measures that 
avoid the need for structural stabilization.   
 
Structural stabilization methods include hard and soft measures.  Hard structural 
stabilization measures refer to those with solid, hard surfaces such as concrete bulkheads, 
while soft structural methods rely on less rigid materials such as vegetation enhancement, 
biotechnical measures, and gravel placement.  Generally, the harder the construction 
measure, the greater the impact on shoreline processes. 
 
Policies 
 

A. Prioritize shoreline stabilization measures in the following order of 
preference: 
 
1. No action (allow the shoreline to retreat naturally), increased 

building setbacks, and structure relocation. 
 
2. Upland vegetation enhancement and drainage controls. 
 
3. Flexible defense works constructed of natural materials including 

soft shore protection, bioengineering, protective berms or 
vegetative stabilization. 

 



                    

82 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

4. Rigid works such as bulkheads and walls constructed of materials 
such as riprap or concrete.  Materials used for construction of 
shoreline stabilization are to be selected for long-term durability, 
ease of maintenance, compatibility with local shore features, 
including aesthetic values and flexibility for future uses. 

 
5. Applications that propose less preferred methods must demonstrate 

why preferred methods are not feasible. 
 
B. Structures and subdivisions of property along the shoreline should be 

designed and located to avoid the need for future shoreline stabilization.    
 
C. Shoreline stabilization should be located and designed to: 

 
1. Protect and maintain shoreline ecological functions and the 

integrity of riparian features; and 
 
2. Not unnecessarily interfere with or decrease public access to public 

shorelines or with other appropriate shoreline uses including, but 
not limited to, navigation or private recreation. 

 
3. Fit the physical character and hydraulic energy potential of a 

specific shoreline reach, which may differ substantially from 
adjacent reaches. 

 
D. Public or quasi-public shoreline stabilization projects should be designed 

to accommodate multiple uses, restoration, and/or public access, where 
feasible. 

 
E. Limit new or expanded structural shoreline stabilization to shorelines 

where a geotechnical analysis demonstrates there is a need to protect an 
existing primary structure or principle use. 

 
F. Larger shoreline stabilization projects should be restricted to support 

water-dependent uses that benefit the region to the extent they outweigh 
potential resource losses from such works. 

 
G. Shoreline stabilization for the purpose of filling shorelines should be 

prohibited. 
 
H. Shoreline stabilization projects should include coordination with affected 

property owners and public agencies for a whole stream reach to address 
ecological and geo-hydraulic processes. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 83 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

I. Remove failing, harmful, unnecessary, or ineffective structures and restore 
shoreline processes and ecological functions by using less harmful long-
term stabilization measures. 

 
Regulations 
 

A. All proposals for structural shoreline stabilization shall be consistent with 
mitigation sequencing as outlined in the environmental impact mitigation 
policies and regulations in Chapter 6, as well as the critical areas and shoreline 
vegetation conservation policies and regulations in Chapter 6.  When 
structural shoreline stabilization is allowed, mitigation shall be required for all 
adverse impacts to assure no net loss of shoreline ecological functions. 

 
B.  New development shall be located and designed to avoid the need for future 

shoreline stabilization to the extent feasible.  Subdivisions of land shall assure 
that any new lots created will not require shoreline stabilization in order for 
reasonable development to occur, as demonstrated by a geotechnical analysis. 

 
C. New or expanded structural shoreline stabilization measures shall not be 

allowed except when necessity is demonstrated in the following manner: 
 

1. It is conclusively demonstrated by a geotechnical analysis to be 
necessary to protect an existing primary structure or new non-water 
dependent development that is in danger from shoreline erosion caused 
by natural processes.  Normal sloughing, erosion of steep bluffs, or 
shoreline erosion itself, without a geotechnical analysis, is not 
demonstration of need.  For water dependent development, the threat 
of damage or erosion need not be from natural processes; 

 
2. The erosion is not being caused by upland conditions such as 

vegetation loss or drainage problems; 
 
3. Nonstructural measures such as placing development further from the 

shoreline, installing on site drainage improvements or planting 
vegetation are not feasible or not sufficient; 

 
4. The structure will not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological 

functions. 
 

D. New structural shoreline stabilization measures to protect restoration 
projects or hazardous substance remediation projects will be authorized 
when nonstructural stabilization is not feasible or not sufficient and when 
the structure will not result in a net loss of shoreline ecological functions. 

 



                    

84 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

E. Existing shoreline stabilization structures may be replaced with a similar 
structure if there is a demonstrated need to protect principle uses or 
primary structures from erosion caused by natural processes.  For purposes 
of this regulation, a structure or use must be within 25 feet of the ordinary 
high water mark (OHWM) for need to be automatically demonstrated.  
Structures or uses further than 25’ from the OHWM shall require a 
geotechnical analysis per regulation F below to demonstrate need.  Hard 
replacement structures shall not encroach waterward of the OHWM.  Soft 
replacement methods that provide restoration of shoreline ecological 
functions may be permitted waterward of the OHWM.  Also for purposes 
of this section, ‘replacement’ means the construction of a new structure to 
perform the stabilization function of an existing structure that can no 
longer adequately serve its purpose.  Additions to or increases in size of an 
existing shoreline stabilization measure shall be considered a new 
structure. 

 
F. Geotechnical reports required by this section shall address the necessity 

for shoreline stabilization by estimating time frames and rates of erosion 
and report on the urgency associated with the specific situation.  Hard 
armoring shall not be authorized except when the geotechnical analysis 
confirms there is a significant possibility that a structure or use will be 
damaged within 3 years as a result of shoreline erosion in the absence of 
such hard armoring.  Where the geotechnical report confirms a need to 
prevent potential damage but the need is not as immediate as three years, 
the report may be used to justify more immediate authorization to protect 
against erosion using soft stabilization measures. 

 
Bioengineering Regulations 

 
A. Bioengineering projects shall incorporate self-maintaining vegetation and 

materials over those which requiring routine maintenance, where feasible. 
 
B. Bioengineering projects shall be designed and constructed to: 

 
1. Ensure that water quality, fish and wildlife habitats and flood 

holding capacity are not degraded, and timed so that the survival of 
new plantings is optimized; 

 
2. Maximize the use of native vegetation; 
 
3. Minimize the structural soil stabilization components, including 

riprap; and 
 
4. Include vegetative buffers, fencing and/or other measures to avoid 

disturbance of the project site by livestock and vehicles. 



 
 

City of Napavine 85 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
C. The waterward extent of bioengineering projects shall be limited to that 

which is necessary to achieve the intended results. 
 
D. Bioengineering shall be used when a geotechnical analysis confirms a 

need to prevent potential damage to a primary structure, but the need is not 
as immediate as within 3 years. 

 
E. Bioengineering projects shall incorporate the following:  

 
1. A diverse variety of native plant materials, including trees, shrubs 

and grasses, unless demonstrated infeasible for the particular site. 
 
2. All cleared areas shall be replanted following construction and 

irrigated (if necessary) to ensure that all vegetation is fully re-
established within 3 years. Areas that fail to adequately reestablish 
vegetation shall be replanted with approved plant materials until 
such time as the plantings are viable. 

 
3. The shoreline buffer shall remain undisturbed to allow bank 

protection plantings to become established.  The buffer shall 
exclude livestock, vehicles and activities that could disturb the site 
for a minimum of three years.  

 
4. All bioengineering projects shall be monitored and maintained as 

necessary.  Areas damaged by pests and/or the elements shall be 
promptly repaired. 

 
5. All construction and planting activities shall be scheduled to 

minimize impacts to water quality and fish and wildlife aquatic and 
upland habitat and to optimize survival of new vegetation. 

 
  



                    

86 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

Revetment, Gabion and Bulkhead Regulations 
 

A. Revetments, gabions or bulkheads may be allowed to protect a legally 
existing primary structure or authorized shoreline use after the Community 
Development Director has determined that other techniques, such as 
bioengineering, are not feasible. 

 
B. New and repairs to exiting revetments, gabions and bulkheads for a 

nonconforming use are prohibited, unless it can be demonstrated that it is 
necessary for the maintenance of shoreline ecological functions and is in 
the public interest. 

 
C. Revetments, gabions and bullheads are prohibited in wetlands and in 

salmon and trout spawning areas, except for the purpose of fish or wildlife 
habitat enhancement or restoration. 

 
D. Installation of a revetment, gabion or bulkhead to protect a platted lot 

where no structure presently exists is prohibited. 
 
E. The construction of a bulkhead for the primary purpose of retaining or 

creating dry land is prohibited.  
 

F. The design of revetments, gabions or bulkheads shall incorporate proper 
consideration of: 
 
1. Data on local geophysical conditions, 
 
2. Data on stream flow, velocity and flood capacity, and 
 
3. Effects on adjacent properties. 

 
G. Revetments or gabions shall incorporate downed logs, snags or existing 

large rocks into the design, where feasible. The use of tires, automobile 
bodies, scrap metal, paper products and solid waste materials is prohibited. 

 
H. Bulkheads are prohibited for any purpose if they will cause significant on-site 

or downstream erosion as determined through a geotechnical analysis. 
 

I. The design of revetments shall be in accordance with Washington 
Department of Fish and Wildlife most current edition of Stream Habitat 
Restoration Guidelines for freshwater shorelines. 

 
J. The design and construction of bulkheads shall conform to all other 

applicable state agency policies and regulations including the Washington 
Department of Fish & Wildlife criteria governing the design of bulkheads. 



 
 

City of Napavine 87 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

 
K. Riprap used for revetments or gabions shall consist of clean quarried rock, 

free of loose dirt and any pollutants, and shall be of sufficient size and 
weight to prevent movement by wave or current action. 

 
L. When located on the convex (inside) bend of a stream or river, a proposed 

revetment shall be setback to allow streams to maintain point bars and 
associated aquatic habitat through normal accretion. Where revetments or 
similar structures have already cut off point bars from the stream, 
consideration shall be given to their relocation. 

 
M. Stairs may be built into a bulkhead, but shall not extend waterward of its 

face. 
 
BREAKWATERS, JETTIES AND GROINS 
 
Breakwaters, jetties and groins are incompatible with goals for shoreline areas along the 
Newaukum River. 
 
Policies 
 
 A.  Breakwaters, jetties and groins should be prohibited within all shoreline 
environment designations. 
 
Regulations 
 
 A.  Breakwaters, jetties and groins are prohibited within all shoreline environment 
designations.  
 
DIKES, LEVEES AND INSTREAM STRUCTURES 
 
Policies 
 

A. Applications for dike, levee and instream structure projects should address 
the environmental impact mitigation and Critical Areas and Shoreline 
Vegetation Conservation policies and regulations in Section 6. 

 
B. Non-structural flood hazard reduction solutions should be preferred over 

structural flood control devices, for example: 
 
1. Limiting development in historically flood-prone areas or historic 

channel migration areas;  
 
2. Regulating and limiting increases in peak stormwater runoff from 

new upland development; and 



                    

88 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
3. Land acquisition for additional flood storage. 

 
C. Structural flood hazard reduction measures should be limited to when they 

are necessary to protect existing legally established development and 
where non-structural flood hazard reduction measures have been 
determined to be infeasible. 

 
D. Dikes, levees and instream structures should be located, designed, and 

constructed to provide: 
 
1. Protection of the physical integrity of the stream corridor and other 

properties that may be damaged by interruptions of the 
geohydraulic system; 

 
2. Protection of water quality and natural ground water movement; 
 
3. Protection of fish, vegetation and other life forms and their habitat 

vital to the aquatic food chain;  
 
4. Protection of recreation resources and aesthetic values such as 

point and channel bars, islands and other shore features and 
scenery; 

 
5. Dedicated public access where appropriate; and 
 
6. Protection of natural hydrologic and geomorphic channel and 

floodplain processes. 
 
E. Prohibit structural flood hazard reduction measures where they will result 

in any of the following: 
 
1. Increased residential, commercial or industrial development in 

100-year floodplains or channel migration areas; 
 
2. Loss of significant flood storage capacity in undeveloped 100-year 

floodplains; and 
 
3. Deflecting or constricting flood flows to a degree that will result in 

significantly increased flood heights on unprotected properties. 
 
F. Dikes, levees and instream structures should be designed and constructed 

to be: 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 89 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

1. Consistent with and incorporate elements from applicable 
watershed management plans, restoration plans and/or surface 
water management plans; and  

 
2. Compatible with continued long-term multiple use of shoreline 

resources by all appropriate user groups. 
 
G. Existing dikes, levees and instream structures should be removed, when 

feasible. 
 
H. Instream structures, dikes, levees and associated facilities should provide 

for the protection and preservation of natural and cultural resources 
including, but not limited to, fish, wildlife and water resources, sensitive 
areas such as wetlands, sensitive geologic and geohydraulic areas and 
waterfalls, erosion and accretion shoreforms and natural scenic vistas. 

 
I. For shoreline development by public entities, such as local governments, 

port districts, state agencies, and public utility districts, refer to the public 
access provision in Policy G of the public access policies in Section 6. 

 
Regulations 
 
Dikes, levees and instream structures may be allowed as listed in Table 3, and shall be 
subject to the regulations below. 
 
General Regulations 
 

A. Dikes, levees and instream structures shall be subject to mitigation 
sequencing as outlined in the environmental impact mitigation regulations 
in Section 6 as well as critical area and shoreline vegetation conservation 
policies and regulations in Section 6. When allowed, mitigation shall be 
required for all adverse impacts to assure no net loss of shoreline 
ecological functions. 

 
Dike and Levee Regulations 
 

A. New dikes and levees may be constructed as part of a shoreline 
environmental restoration project, a state-approved comprehensive flood 
control management plan, an approved watershed plan, or an approved 
stormwater drainage basin plan. 

 
B. Dikes and levees shall not be constructed with material dredged from the 

adjacent wetland or stream area unless part of a comprehensive flood and 
habitat plan.  

 



                    

90 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

C. Dikes and levees shall not be placed in the floodway except as necessary 
for protection of bridges and roads. 

 
D. Dikes and levees shall be subject to the following: 

 
1. Such works shall be located and designed to protect shoreline 

ecological processes and functions, 
 
2. Such works shall be limited in size to the minimum height required 

to protect adjacent lands from the protected flood stage, 
 
3. Such works shall be set back to the greatest extent feasible 

landward of the floodway, ordinary high water mark, and wetlands, 
 
4. Such works are to be located near the tangent to outside meander 

bends so that the stream can maintain normal meander progression 
and utilize most of its natural flood water storage capacity, 

 
5. Such works shall not interfere with channel migration except to 

protect existing structures, 
 
6. Such works shall be designed and constructed to meet Natural 

Resources Conservation Service technical manual standards,  
 
7. Such works shall be constructed in coordination with the 

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 
 
Instream Structure Regulations 
 

A. Instream structures shall be planned and constructed based on a state-
approved comprehensive flood control management plan, when available, 
and in accordance with the local National Flood Insurance Program. 

 
B. Instream structures shall be permitted only when it is demonstrated by 

engineering and scientific evaluations that: 
 
1. They are necessary to protect health/safety and/or existing 

development. 
 
2. Non-structural flood hazard reduction measures are infeasible.  
 
3. Measures are consistent with an adopted comprehensive flood 

hazard management plan that evaluates cumulative impacts to the 
watershed system. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 91 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

C. Instream structures shall preserve valuable recreation resources and 
aesthetic values such as point and channel bars, side channels, islands and 
braided channels. 

 
D. A new instream structure (such as, but not limited to, high flow bypass, 

sediment ponds, instream ponds, retention and detention facilities, dams 
and weirs) shall be allowed only as part of an approved mitigation or 
restoration project, or approved watershed basin plan.  

 
E. Instream structures shall be designed to avoid modifying flows and water 

quality in ways that may adversely affect critical fish species. 
 
  



                    

92 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

9. DEFINITIONS  
 
The terms used throughout this Program shall be defined and interpreted as indicated 
below. When consistent with the context, words used in the present shall include the 
future, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural the singular. 
 
1. Act or SMA. The Shoreline Management Act of 1971 (Chapter 90.58 RCW, as 

amended).  
 
2. Accessory Building, Structure or Use. The use of the land or a subordinate 

building or a portion of a principle building, such use being secondary or 
incidental to a permitted use or structure, whether such permitted use is on the 
same lot as the proposed accessory building or use, or on a contiguous lot or lots 
under the same ownership; provided, that the accessory structure or use may be 
established in conjunction with or after the establishment of the permitted 
structure or use. 

 
3. Agricultural Activities. Agricultural uses and practices including, but not limited 

to: Producing, breeding, or increasing agricultural products; rotating and changing 
agricultural crops; allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie fallow in 
which it is plowed and tilled but left unseeded; allowing land used for agricultural 
activities to lie dormant as a result of adverse agricultural market conditions; 
allowing land used for agricultural activities to lie dormant because the land is 
enrolled in a local, state, or federal conservation program, or the land is subject to 
a conservation easement; conducting agricultural operations; maintaining, 
repairing, and replacing agricultural equipment; maintaining, repairing, and 
replacing agricultural facilities, provided that the replacement facility is no closer 
to the shoreline than the original facility; and maintaining agricultural lands under 
production or cultivation. 

 
4. Agricultural Equipment and Agricultural Facilities. Include, but are not 

limited to: 
 
A. The following used in agricultural operations: Equipment; machinery; 

constructed shelters, buildings, and ponds; fences; upland finfish rearing 
facilities; water diversion, withdrawal, conveyance, and use equipment 
and facilities including, but not limited to, pumps, pipes, tapes, canals, 
ditches, and drains; 

 
B. Corridors and facilities for transporting personnel, livestock, and 

equipment to, from, and within agricultural lands; 
 
C. Farm residences and associated equipment, lands, and facilities; and 
 
D. Roadside stands and on-farm markets for marketing fruit or vegetables. 



 
 

City of Napavine 93 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

5. Agricultural Commodities. Any plants, or parts thereof, and animals produced 
by a farmer with their primary use being for sale, consumption, or propagation by 
man or animals. 

 
6. Agricultural Land. Those specific land areas on which agricultural activities are 

conducted.  
 
7. Agricultural Products. Includes, but is not limited to, horticultural, viticultural, 

floricultural, vegetable, fruit, berry, grain, hops, hay, straw, turf, sod, seed, and 
apiary products; feed or forage for livestock; Christmas trees; hybrid cottonwood 
and similar hardwood trees grown as crops and harvested within twenty years of 
planting; and livestock including both the animals themselves and animal 
products including, but not limited to, meat, upland finfish, poultry and poultry 
products, and dairy products. 

 
8. Amendment. A revision, update, addition, deletion, and/or reenactment to an 

existing shoreline master program. 
 
9. Applicable Master Program. The master program approved by the Department 

of Ecology pursuant to RCW 90.58.090(7) or 90.58.190(4). 
 
10. Approval. An official action by a local government legislative body agreeing to 

submit a proposed shoreline master program or amendment to the Department of 
Ecology for review and official action pursuant to this chapter; or an official 
action by the Department of Ecology to make a local government shoreline master 
program effective, thereby incorporating the approved shoreline master program 
or amendment into the state master program. 

 
11. Aquacultural Practices. Include the hatching, cultivating, planting, feeding, 

raising, harvesting and processing of fish, shellfish and aquatic plants and 
animals, and the maintenance and construction of necessary equipment, buildings 
and growing areas.  Methods of aquaculture include but are not limited to fish 
hatcheries, fish pens, shellfish rafts, racks and longlines, seaweed floats and the 
culture of clams and oysters on tidelands and subtidal areas. 

 
12. Archaeological Resource/Site.  Includes a geographic locality in Washington, 

including, but not limited to, submerged and submersible lands and the bed of the 
sea within the state’s jurisdiction, that contains archaeological objects. 

 
13. Archaeologist, Professional.   A person with qualifications meeting the federal 

secretary of the interior's standards for a professional archaeologist. 
Archaeologists not meeting this standard may be conditionally employed by 
working under the supervision of a professional archaeologist for a period of four 
years provided the employee is pursuing qualifications necessary to meet the 
federal secretary of the interior's standards for a professional archaeologist.  



                    

94 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
14. Average Grade Level. The average of the natural or existing topography of the 

portion of the lot, parcel, or tract of real property which will be directly under the 
proposed building or structure. In the case of structures to be built over water, 
average grade level shall be the elevation of the ordinary high water mark. 
Calculation of the average grade level shall be made by averaging the ground 
elevations at the midpoint of all exterior walls of the proposed building or 
structure. 

 
15. Bedlands. Those submerged lands below the line of extreme low tide in marine 

waters and below the line of navigability of navigable lakes and rivers. 
 
16. Berm. One or several linear deposits of sand and gravel generally paralleling the 

shore at or landward of OHWM; berms are naturally stable because of material 
size or vegetation. 

 
17. Billboard. See “Signs and Billboards.” 
 
18. Bioengineering. The practice of using natural vegetative materials (and often 

structural components) to stabilize shorelines and prevent erosion. 
 
19. Boating Facilities. Includes marinas located both landward and waterward of the 

OHWM (dry storage and wet-moorage types); and launch ramps. 
 
20. Buffer. An area measured landward perpendicularly from the ordinary high water 

mark that is intended to reduce the adverse impacts of adjacent land uses on 
shoreline ecological functions and provide important habitat for wildlife. 

 
21. Building. Any structure designed for or used for the support, shelter or enclosure 

of persons, animals or personal property, and which is used in a fixed location on 
land, shorelands or tidelands. 

 
22. Bulkhead. Either public or private wall usually constructed parallel to the shore 

at or immediately adjacent to the Ordinary High Water Mark.  The primary 
purpose of a bulkhead is to contain and prevent the loss of soil caused by erosion 
or wave action.  

 
23. Channel Migration Zone (CMZ). The area along a river within which the 

channel(s) can be reasonably predicted to migrate over time as a result of natural 
and normally occurring hydrological and related processes when considered with 
the characteristics of the river and its surroundings. 

 
24. Clearing. The destruction or removal of vegetative ground cover and/or trees 

including, but not limited to, root material removal and/or topsoil removal.  This 



 
 

City of Napavine 95 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

includes such activities as clear cutting or selective harvest of trees, pulling out of 
stumps, hauling off of shrubs, slash piles, etc.  

 
25. Commercial Development. Those uses involved in wholesale, retail, service and 

business trade.  Examples include hotels, motels, grocery markets, shopping 
centers, restaurants, shops, offices and private or public indoor recreation 
facilities.   

 
26. Community Development Director. That person as appointed by the City to 

administer the provisions of these regulations within the City. 
 
27. Conditional Use. A use, development, or substantial development which is 

classified as a conditional use or is not classified within the master program. 
 
28. Critical Areas. Those areas with especially fragile biophysical characteristics 

and/or with significant environmental resources as identified in a scientifically 
documented inventory. RCW 36.70A.030 defines “critical areas” as: wetlands; 
areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable waters; fish and 
wildlife habitat conservation areas; frequently flooded areas; and geologically 
hazardous areas. 

 
29. Department. Washington State Department of Ecology. 
 
30. Development. A use consisting of the construction or exterior alteration of 

structures; dredging; drilling; dumping; filling; removal of any sand, gravel or 
minerals; bulkheading; pile driving; placing of obstructions; or any project of a 
permanent or temporary nature which interferes with the normal public use of the 
surface of the waters overlying lands subject to the Act at any stage of water level. 
“Development” does not include dismantling or removing structures if there is no 
other associated development or re-development. 

 
31. Development Regulations. The controls placed on development or land uses by a 

county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning ordinances, critical areas 
ordinances, all portions of a shoreline master program other than goals and 
policies approved or adopted under chapter 90.58 RCW, planned unit 
development ordinances, subdivision ordinances, and binding site plan ordinances 
together with any amendments thereto. 

 
32. Dike. An embankment to prevent flooding by a stream or other water body, often 

referred to as a levee. 
 
33. Dredging. The removal or displacement of earth or sediments such as gravel, 

sand, mud or silt and/or other materials or debris from any stream, river, lake or 
marine water body and associated shorelines and wetlands. 

 



                    

96 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

34. Drilling. The process of cutting a hole into the earth for the purpose of obtaining 
petroleum products.  

35. Dwelling. A building or portion thereof, designed or used for residential 
occupancy. The term dwelling shall not be construed to mean a motel, rooming 
house, hospital or other accommodation used for more or less transient 
occupancy.  

 
36.   Ecological Functions or Shoreline Functions. The work performed or role 

played by the physical, chemical, and biological processes that contribute to the 
maintenance of the aquatic and terrestrial environments that constitute the 
shoreline's natural ecosystem. 

 
37.   Ecosystem-Wide Processes. The suite of naturally occurring physical and 

geologic processes of erosion, transport, and deposition; and specific chemical 
processes that shape landforms within a specific shoreline ecosystem and 
determine both the types of habitat and the associated ecological functions. 

 
38. Education. Any development undertaken for the support of public or private 

research or education. 
 
39. Emergency. An unanticipated and imminent threat to public health, safety or the 

environment which requires immediate action with a time too short to allow full 
compliance with this Master Program.  Emergency construction does not include 
development of new permanent protective structures where none previously 
existed. Where new protective structures are deemed by the Community 
Development Director to be the appropriate means to address the emergency 
situation, upon abatement of the emergency situation the new structure shall be 
removed or any permits which would have been required by this SMP or the 
SMA, absent an emergency, must be obtained. Generally, flooding or other 
seasonal events that can be anticipated and may occur but are not imminent are 
not an emergency.   

 
40. Environment. See “Shoreline Environment Designations.”   
 
41. Exempt. Developments set forth in WAC 173-27-040 and RCW 90.58.030 (3)(e), 

90.58.140(9), 90.58.147, 90.58.355, 90.58.356 and 90.58.515 which are not 
required to obtain a substantial development permit but which must otherwise 
comply with applicable provisions of the act and the local master program. In 
addition, projects and activities listed in RCW 90.58.355 and 90.58.356 are not 
required to obtain local review.  

 
42. Fair market value. The open market bid price for conducting the work, using the 

equipment and facilities, and purchase of the goods, services and materials 
necessary to accomplish the development. This would normally equate to the cost 
of hiring a contractor to undertake the development from start to finish, including 



 
 

City of Napavine 97 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

the cost of labor, materials, equipment and facility usage, transportation and 
contractor overhead and profit. The fair market value of the development shall 
include the fair market value of any donated, contributed or found labor, 
equipment or materials. 

 
43. Feasible. An action, such as a development project, mitigation, or preservation 

requirement, meets all of the following conditions: 
 
A. The action can be accomplished with technologies and methods that have 

been used in the past in similar circumstances, or studies or tests have 
demonstrated in similar circumstances that such approaches are currently 
available and likely to achieve the intended results; 

 
B. The action provides a reasonable likelihood of achieving its intended 

purpose;  
 
C. The action does not physically preclude achieving the project's primary 

intended legal use; 
 
D. In cases where these guidelines require certain actions unless they are 

infeasible, the burden of proving infeasibility is on the applicant; and 
 
E. In determining an action’s infeasibility, the reviewing agency may weigh 

the action's relative public costs and public benefits, considered in the 
short- and long-term time frames. 

 
44. Fill. The addition of soil, sand, rock, gravel, sediment, earth retaining structure, or 

other material to an area waterward of the OHWM, or on shorelands in a manner 
that raises the elevation or creates dry land. 

 
45.  Flood Plain. Synonymous with one hundred (100) year flood plain and means 

that land area susceptible to inundation with a one (1) percent chance of being 
equaled or exceeded in any given year. The limit of this area shall be based upon 
flood ordinance regulation maps. 

 
46. Floodway. "Floodway" means the area that has been established in effective 

federal emergency management agency flood insurance rate maps or floodway 
maps. The floodway does not include lands that can reasonably be expected to be 
protected from flood waters by flood control devices maintained by or maintained 
under license from the federal government, the state, or a political subdivision of 
the state that can reasonably be expected to be protected from flood waters by 
flood control devices maintained by or maintained under license from the federal 
government, the state, or a political subdivision of the state.  

 



                    

98 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

47. Forest Practices. The raising and harvesting of trees as a crop as defined by 
WAC 222-16, as amended.  Within the city or its urban growth area all class 1, 2 
or 3 forest practices shall be administered as class 4 conversions, and shall be 
subject to local land use regulations. 

 
48. Geologically Hazardous Areas. Areas susceptible to severe erosion or slide 

activity, such as unstable bluffs, and include areas with high potential for 
earthquake activity.  They may be identified in critical areas inventories or the 
Coastal Zone Atlas.  In general, they are not suitable for placing structures or 
locating intense activities or uses due to the inherent threat to public health and 
safety. 

 
49. Geotechnical Report or Geotechnical Analysis. A scientific study or evaluation 

conducted by a qualified expert that includes a description of the ground and 
surface hydrology and geology, the affected land form and its susceptibility to 
mass wasting, erosion, and other geologic hazards or processes, conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the effect of the proposed development on geologic 
conditions, the adequacy of the site to be developed, the impacts of the proposed 
development, alternative approaches to the proposed development, and measures 
to mitigate potential site-specific and cumulative geological and hydrological 
impacts of the proposed development, including the potential adverse impacts to 
adjacent and down-current properties. Geotechnical reports shall conform to 
accepted technical standards and must be prepared by qualified professional 
engineers or geologists who have professional expertise about the regional and 
local shoreline geology and processes. 

 
50. Grading. The movement or redistribution of the soil, sand, rock, gravel, 

sediment, or other material on a site in a manner that alters the natural contour of 
the land. 

 
51. Guidelines or SMP Guidelines. Those standards adopted to implement the SMA 

policy for regulation of use of the shorelines of the state prior to adoption of 
master programs, and to provide criteria to local governments and Ecology for 
developing shoreline master programs (SMP).  Chapter 173-26 WAC or as 
amended. 

 
52. Hazard Tree. Any tree that is susceptible to immediate fall due to its condition 

(damage, disease, or dead) or other factors, which because of its location is at risk 
of damaging permanent physical improvement to property causing personal 
injury. 

 
53. Hazardous Waste. Includes all dangerous and extremely hazardous waste as 

defined by RCW 70.105.010. 
 



 
 

City of Napavine 99 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

54. Hearings Board. The State Shorelines Hearings Board established by the act in 
RCW 90.58.170.  

 
55. Height or Building Height. Measured from average grade level to the highest 

point of a structure: Provided, that television antennas, chimneys, and similar 
appurtenances shall not be used in calculating height, except where it obstructs 
the view of a substantial number of residences on areas adjoining such shorelines. 
Provided further, that temporary construction equipment is excluded in this 
calculation. 

 
56. Historic Place. A building, structure, district, object or site on or determined to 

be eligible for the local, State or National Register of Historic Places.  
 
57. Historic Preservation Professional.  An individual who holds a graduate degree 

in architectural history, art history, historic preservation, or closely related field, 
with coursework in American architectural history, or a bachelor's degree in 
architectural history, art history, historic preservation or closely related field plus 
one of the following:  
A. At least two years of full-time experience in research, writing, or teaching 

in American architectural history or restoration architecture with an 
academic institution, historical organization or agency, museum, or other 
professional institution; or  

 
B. Substantial contribution through research and publication to the body of 

scholarly knowledge in the field of American architectural history.   
 
58. Impervious Surface. Those surfaces that do not allow the downward passage of 

water. 
 
59. Industrial Developments. Facilities for processing, manufacturing and storage of 

finished or semi-finished goods. 
 
60. Junk. Old iron, steel, brass, copper, tin, lead or other base metals; old cordage, 

ropes, rags, fibers or fabrics; old rubber; old bottles or other glass, bones; 
wastepaper, plastic and other waste or discarded material which might be 
prepared to be used again in some form; any or all of the foregoing; and motor 
vehicles, no longer used as such, to be used for scrap metal or stripping of parts; 
but "junk" shall not include materials or objects accumulated by a person as by-
products, waste or scraps from the operation of one’s own business or materials or 
objects held and used by a manufacturer as an integral part of one’s own 
manufacturing process. 

 
61. Landfilling. Refer to “Fill”. 
 
62. Legislative Body. The City Council of the City of Napavine. 



                    

100 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
63. Levee. A natural or man-made embankment on the bank of a stream for the 

purpose of keeping flood waters from inundating adjacent land. Some levees have 
revetments on their sides. 

 
64. Local Government. Any county, incorporated city or town which contains within 

its boundaries shorelines of the state subject to chapter 90.58 RCW. 
 
65. Lot. A fractional portion of subdivided land having fixed boundaries. 
 
66. Lot Area. The area contained within the boundaries of a lot excluding any area 

below the ordinary high-water mark. 
 
67. Master Program. The comprehensive use plan for a described area, and the use 

regulations together with maps, diagrams, charts, or other descriptive material and 
text, a statement of desired goals, and standards developed in accordance with the 
policies enunciated in RCW 90.58.020. 

 
68. Maximum Impervious Surface. The largest amount of hard surfaces allowed with 

a parcel, which could include roots, pavement, patios, walkways, and gravel 
parking areas. 

 
69. May. Denotes an action is acceptable, provided it conforms to the provisions of this 

master program and the Shoreline Management Act. 
 
70. Mining. Removal of naturally occurring metallic and nonmetallic minerals and 

other related materials, including sand, gravel and quarry rock from on, and 
beneath, the earth's surface normally for commercial and construction purposes. 
This can include deep pit, open pit, surface mining, quarrying, placer and 
hydraulic mining. 

 
71. Must. Denotes a mandate; the action is required. 
 
72. Native Vegetation. Refer to “Vegetation, native”. 
 
73. Natural or existing topography. The topography of the lot, parcel, or tract of 

real property immediately prior to any site preparation or grading, including 
excavation or filling. 

 
74. Nonconforming Building or Structure. A building or structure or portion 

thereof which was lawfully erected, altered or maintained, but because of the 
application of this Master Program no longer conforms to the requirements of the 
Master Program.  

 



 
 

City of Napavine 101 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

75. Nonconforming Lot. A parcel of land legally established prior to the effective 
date of the Shoreline Master Program which does not conform with the lot size or 
area requirements of this Master Program. 

 
76. Nonconforming Use. A use or activity that was lawfully established prior to the 

effective date of the Shoreline Master Program but no longer conforms to the 
requirements of the Master Program.   

 
77. Nonwater-Oriented Uses. Those uses that are not water-dependent, water-

related, or water-enjoyment. 
 
78. Normal Maintenance. This includes those usual acts to prevent a decline, lapse 

or cessation from a lawfully established condition. 
 
79. Normal Repair. To restore a development to a state comparable to its original 

condition, including but not limited to its size, shape, configuration, location and 
external appearance, within a reasonable period after decay or partial destruction, 
except where repair involves total replacement which is not common practice or 
causes substantial adverse effects to the shoreline resource or environment. 

 
80. Off-Premise Sign. Refer to “Sign, Off Premise”. 
 
81. Open Space. Land and natural areas which retain their natural or semi-natural 

character because they have not been developed with structures, paving or other 
development and, for the purposes of this program, are normally required of 
residential and/or recreation developments. 

 
82. Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM). The mark on all lakes, streams and tidal 

water which will be found by examining the bed and banks and ascertaining 
where the presence and action of waters are so common and usual, and so long 
continued in all ordinary years, as to mark upon the soil a character distinct from 
that of the abutting upland, in respect to vegetation as that condition exists on 
June 1, 1971, as it may naturally change thereafter, or as it may change thereafter 
in accordance with permits issued by a local government or the Department of 
Ecology: Provided, that in any area where the ordinary high-water mark cannot be 
found, the ordinary high-water mark adjoining salt water shall be the line of mean 
higher high tide and the ordinary high-water mark adjoining fresh water shall be 
the line of mean high water. 

 
83. Over Water. Location of a structure or development above the surface of the 

water, including placement of buildings on piling or floats. 
 
84. Parcel. A tract or plot of land of any size which may or may not be subdivided or 

improved.  
 



                    

102 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

85. Parking. Any space or area specifically allotted for the purpose of temporary, 
daily or overnight off-street storage of motor vehicles to support a shoreline use 
authorized by the shoreline master program. 

 
86. Party of record. Includes all persons, agencies or organizations who have 

submitted written comments in response to a notice of application; made oral 
comments in a formal public hearing conducted on the application; or notified 
local government of their desire to receive a copy of the final decision on a permit 
and who have provided an address for delivery of such notice by mail. 

 
87. Permit. Any substantial development, variance, conditional use permit, or 

revision authorized under chapter 90.58 RCW. 
 
88. Person. An individual, partnership, corporation, association, organization, 

cooperative, public or municipal corporation, or agency of the state or local 
governmental unit however designated. 

 
89. Primary Structure means the structure associated with the principal use of the 

property. It may also include appurtenant structures (such as a garages, driveways, 
utilities, and septic tanks and drainfields) that cannot feasibly be relocated. It does 
not include structures such as tool sheds, gazebos, greenhouses or other ancillary 
improvements that can feasibly be moved landward to prevent the erosion threat. 

 
90. Priority Habitat. “Priority habitat, local” or “local priority habitat” means a 

seasonal range or habitat element with which a species has a primary association, 
and which, if altered, may reduce the likelihood that the species will maintain and 
reproduce over the long-term. These might include areas of high relative density 
or species richness, breeding habitat, winter range and movement corridors. These 
might also include habitats that are of limited availability or high vulnerability to 
alteration, such as cliffs, talus and wetlands. 
 
“Priority habitat, state” or “state priority habitat” means a seasonal range or 
habitat element, so identified by the Washington State Department of Fish and 
Wildlife, with which a given species has a primary association, and which, if 
altered, may reduce the likelihood that the species will maintain and reproduce 
over the long term. These might include areas of high relative diversity or species 
richness, breeding habitat, winter range and movement corridors. These might 
also include habitats that are of limited availability or high vulnerability to 
alteration.  
 

91. Priority Species.  “Priority species, local” or “local priority species” means those 
species that may not be endangered or threatened from a statewide perspective, 
but are of local concern due to their population status or their sensitivity to habitat 
manipulation and have been designated as such. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 103 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

“Priority species, state” or “state priority species” means those species that are so 
identified by the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife due to their 
population status and their sensitivity to habitat manipulation. Priority species 
include those which are state-listed endangered, threatened and sensitive species. 

 
92. Property Lines. The exterior boundaries of a lot or parcel. 
 
93. Provisions. Policies, regulations, standards, guideline criteria or environment 

designations. 
 
94. Public Access. Public access includes the ability of the general public to reach, 

touch, and enjoy the water’s edge, to travel on the waters of the state, and to view 
the water and the shoreline from adjacent locations.  Examples of public access 
may include trails, paths, roads or view points by which the general public can 
reach or view public waters. 

 
95. Public Interest. The interest shared by the citizens of the state or community at 

large in the affairs of government, or some interest by which their rights or 
liabilities are affected including, but not limited to, an effect on public property or 
on health, safety, or general welfare resulting from a use or development. 

 
96. Public Street. Any street, way, road, alley or highway in public ownership. 
 
97. Recreation. Facilities for refreshment of body and mind through play, amusement 

or relaxation. This includes passive uses such as hiking, canoeing, boating, 
photography and fishing.  It also includes intensive uses such as boat launch 
ramps and associated mooring piles, motor vehicles, pedestrian paths, 
playgrounds and parks whether they are for public or private usage. 

 
98. Recreational Development. Provides opportunities for the refreshment of body 

and mind through forms of play, sports, relaxation, amusement or contemplation.  
It includes facilities for passive recreational activities such as hiking, 
photography, viewing and fishing. It also includes facilities for active or more 
intensive uses such as parks, pedestrian paths, campgrounds, boat launch ramps 
and associated mooring piles, golf courses and their support buildings including 
clubhouses, and other outdoor recreation areas. 

 
99. Residential Development. One or more buildings, structures, lots, parcels or 

portions thereof that are designed for and used or intended to be used to provide a 
place of abode for human beings.  Residential development includes single-family 
dwellings; duplexes; other detached dwellings; floating homes; multi-family 
development (apartments), condominiums, townhouses and rowhouses; 
manufactured home parks; subdivisions; and short subdivisions, together with 
accessory uses and structures normally applicable to residential uses including but 



                    

104 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

not limited to garages, sheds, tennis courts, swimming pools, parking areas, 
fences, cabanas, saunas and guest cottages.  

 
100. Restore, Restoration or Ecological Restoration. The reestablishment or 

upgrading of impaired ecological shoreline processes or functions. This may be 
accomplished through measures including, but not limited to, revegetation, 
removal of intrusive shoreline structures and removal or treatment of toxic 
materials. Restoration does not imply a requirement for returning the shoreline 
area to aboriginal or pre-European settlement conditions. 

 
101. Revetment. A sloped shoreline structure (constructed of riprap or other 

substantial material) built to protect an existing eroding shoreline or newly placed 
fill against waves, wakes, currents, or weather. 

 
102. Riprap. Broken stone placed on shoulders, slopes or other such places to protect 

them from erosion. 
 
103. Roads. Those passageways, and associated facilities and activities used by or 

associated with pedestrians and vehicles, including but not limited to:  all public 
and private roads; major highways; freeways;  the corridors in which they are 
placed; bridges; culverts; riprapping; landfills; cuts; turnouts; driveways; rest 
stations; viewpoints; picnic areas; landscaping; and soil erosion safeguards. 

 
104. Scientific Research and Education. Any development undertaken for the 

support of public or private science research or education. 
 
105. Setback. An area in which development of structures is restricted. Setbacks apply 

to structures and in general are intended to: assure that development is located a 
safe distance from bluffs and other natural features, including required vegetative 
buffers; improve shoreline aesthetics; protect shoreline views; and keep enough 
space between developments and natural shoreline processes (e.g., wave action 
and erosion) to avoid the need for bulkheading or other shoreline stabilization 
measures. 

 
106. Shall. Denotes a mandate; the action must be done. 
 
108. Shorelands or Shoreland Areas.  Those lands extending landward for 200 feet in 

all directions as measured on a horizontal plane from the ordinary high water 
mark; floodways and contiguous floodplain areas landward two hundred feet from 
such floodways; and all wetlands and river deltas associated with the streams, 
lakes, and tidal waters which are subject to the provisions of the Shoreline 
Management Act; the same to be designated as to location by the Department of 
Ecology. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 105 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

109. Shoreline Areas or Shoreline Jurisdiction. All shorelines of the state and 
shorelands as defined in RCW 90.58.030. 

 
110. Shoreline Environment Designation. The classifications of shorelines of the 

state established by the master program to differentiate between areas where 
existing uses, physical features and the goals of the community imply differing 
objectives regarding their use and future development. 

 
111. Shoreline Management Act. The Shoreline Management Act of 1971 (Chapter 

90.58 RCW, as amended). 
 
112. Shoreline Master Program or Master Program. The comprehensive use plan 

element for a described area, and the use regulations together with maps, 
diagrams, charts, or other descriptive material and text, a statement of desired 
goals, and standards developed in accordance with the policies enunciated in 
RCW 90.58.020. As provided in RCW 36.70A.480, the goals and policies of a 
shoreline master program for a city approved under chapter 90.58 RCW shall be 
considered an element of the city's comprehensive land use plan. All other 
portions of the shoreline master program for a county or city adopted under 
chapter 90.58 RCW, including use regulations, shall be considered a part of the 
city's development regulations. 

 
113. Shoreline Modifications. Those actions that modify the physical configuration or 

qualities of the shoreline area, usually through the construction of a physical 
element such as a dike, breakwater, pier, weir, dredged basin, fill, bulkhead, or 
other shoreline structure.  They can include other actions, such as clearing, 
grading, application of chemicals or significant vegetation removal. 

 
114. Shoreline Permit. Refer to “Permit”. 
 
115. Shorelines. All of the water areas of the state, including reservoirs, and their 

associated shorelands, together with the lands underlying them; except 
 
A. Shorelines of statewide significance;  
 
B. Shorelines on segments of streams upstream of a point where the mean 

annual flow is twenty cubic feet per second or less and the wetlands 
associated with such upstream segments; and  

 
C. Shorelines on lakes less than twenty acres in size and wetlands associated 

with such small lakes. 
 
116. Shorelines of Statewide Significance. Shorelines of Statewide Significance are 

defined in RCW 90.58.030(2)(f). There are no Shorelines of Statewide 
Significance in Napavine.  



                    

106 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

 
117. Shorelines of the State. The total of all shorelines and shorelines of statewide 

significance within the state. 
 
118. Should. Denotes that the particular action is required unless there is a 

demonstrated, compelling reason, based on policy of the Shoreline Management 
Act and WAC  173-26, against taking the action. 

 
119. Signs and Billboards. Devices of any material or medium, including structural 

component parts, used or intended to be used to attract attention to the subject 
matter for advertising, identification or informative purposes. 

 
120. Sign, Off-Premise. Any sign used to advertise goods or services not generally 

available on the premises on which the display is located. 
 
121. Significant Vegetation Removal. The removal or alteration of trees, shrubs, 

and/or ground cover by clearing, grading, cutting, burning, chemical means, or 
other activity that causes significant ecological impacts to functions provided by 
such vegetation. The removal of invasive or noxious weeds does not constitute 
significant vegetation removal. Tree pruning, not including tree topping, where it 
does not affect ecological functions, does not constitute significant vegetation 
removal. 

 
122. Solid Waste. All solid, semi-solid, and liquid wastes including garbage, rubbish, 

ashes, plastics, industrial wastes, wood wastes and sort yard wastes associated 
with commercial logging activities, swill, demolition and construction wastes, 
abandoned vehicles and parts of vehicles, household appliances and other 
discarded commodities. 

 
123. Solid Waste Disposal. The discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, 

leaking or placing of any solid or hazardous waste on any land area on or in the 
water. 

 
124. State Master Program. The cumulative total of all master programs approved or 

adopted by the Department of Ecology. 
 
125. Street. See Road. 
 
126. Street, Public. A street in public ownership. 
 
127. Structure. A permanent or temporary edifice or building, or any piece of work 

artificially built or composed of parts joined together in some definite manner, 
whether installed on, above, or below the surface of the ground or water, except 
for vessels. 

 



 
 

City of Napavine 107 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

128. Submerged Lands. Those areas below the ordinary high-water mark of marine 
waters, lakes and rivers. 

 
129. Substantially Degrade. Means to cause significant ecological impact. 
 
130. Substantial Development. Any development of which the total cost or fair 

market value exceeds seven thousand and forty seven dollars ($7,047), or any 
development which materially interferes with the normal public use of the water 
or shorelines of the state. The dollar threshold established in this subsection must 
be adjusted for inflation by the office of financial management every five years, 
beginning July 1, 2007, based upon changes in the consumer price index during 
that time period. "Consumer price index" means, for any calendar year, that year's 
annual average consumer price index, Seattle, Washington area, for urban wage 
earners and clerical workers, all items, compiled by the bureau of labor and 
statistics, United States department of labor. The office of financial management 
must calculate the new dollar threshold and transmit it to the office of the code 
reviser for publication in the Washington State Register at least one month before 
the new dollar threshold is to take effect.  
 

 
131. Surface Water Body. Any water area which is within the shorelines of the state. 
 
132. Trail or Shared Use Path. A facility physically separated from motorized 

vehicular traffic to accommodate pedestrians, bicyclists and other non-motorized 
vehicles. Such trails and paths may be used for commuting and recreational 
purposes and may connect neighborhoods and other destinations. 

 
133. Transmit. To send from one person or place to another by means of mail, email, 

or hand delivery. The date of transmittal for mailed items is the date that the 
document is certified for mailing or, for hand-delivered items, is the date of 
receipt at the destination. 

 
134. Transportation Facilities. Those structures and developments that aid in land 

and water surface movement of people, goods and services.  They include roads 
and highways, bridges and causeways, bikeways, trails, and shared use paths.  

 
135. Utilities. Services and facilities that produce, convey, store, process or dispose of 

electric power, gas, water, sewage, stormwater, communications (including 
cellular towers), oil, waste and the like. 

 
136. Utilities, Accessory. Those small-scale distribution or on site features or services 

connected directly to the uses along the shoreline. 
  



                    

108 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

137. Variance. Is a means to grant relief from the specific bulk, dimensional or 
performance standards set forth in the applicable master program and not a means 
to vary a use of a shoreline. 

 
138. Vegetation, Native. Native plants commonly found in Lewis County.  Generally 

comprised of three vegetative levels including an overstory of trees, an understory 
of shrubs, and a floor of herbs. 

 
139. Water-Dependent Use. A use or portion of a use which cannot exist in a location 

that is not adjacent to the water and which is dependent on the water by reason of 
the intrinsic nature of its operations.   

 
Water-dependent uses include, but are not limited to: 
 
A. Aquaculture, 
 
B. Boat launch facilities, 
 
C. Ferry terminals, 
 
D. Hydroelectric power plants, 
 
E. Marinas, 
 
F. Marine construction, dismantling and repair, 
 
G. Marine and limnological research and education, 
 
H. Private and public docks for moorage, 
 
I. Piers facilitating public access to shorelines of the State 
 
J. Terminal and transfer facilities for marine commerce and industry 
 
K. Water intakes and outfalls, 
 
L. Log booming, and 
 
M. Tug and barge facilities. 

 
140. Water-Enjoyment Use. A recreational use or other use that facilitates public 

access to the shoreline as a primary characteristic of the use; or a use that provides 
for recreational use or aesthetic enjoyment of the shoreline for a substantial 
number of people as a general characteristic of the use and which through 
location, design, and operation ensures the public's ability to enjoy the physical 



 
 

City of Napavine 109 
Shoreline Master Program Update April 2024 

and aesthetic qualities of the shoreline. In order to qualify as a water-enjoyment 
use, the use must be open to the general public and the shoreline-oriented space 
within the project must be devoted to the specific aspects of the use that fosters 
shoreline enjoyment.  
 
Water-enjoyment uses include but are not limited to: 
 
A. Aquarium, with direct water intake 
 
B. Restaurants 
 
C. Public golf courses and clubhouses 
 
D. Museums 
 
E. Shared use paths 
 
F. Boardwalks, and 
 
G. Viewing towers 

 
141. Water-Oriented Use. A use that is water-dependent, water-related, or water-

enjoyment, or a combination of such uses. 
 
142. Water Quality. The physical characteristics of water within shoreline jurisdiction, 

including water quantity, hydrological, physical, chemical, aesthetic, recreation-
related, and biological characteristics. Where used in this chapter, the term "water 
quantity" refers only to development and uses regulated under this chapter and 
affecting water quantity, such as impermeable surfaces and storm water handling 
practices. Water quantity, for purposes of this chapter, does not mean the 
withdrawal of ground water or diversion of surface water pursuant to RCW 
90.03.250 through 90.03.340. 

 
143. Water-Related Use. A use or portion of a use which is not intrinsically 

dependent on a waterfront location but whose economic viability is dependent 
upon a waterfront location because: a) The use has a functional requirement for a 
waterfront location such as the arrival or shipment of materials by water or the 
need for large quantities of water; or b) The use provides a necessary service 
supportive of the water-dependent uses and the proximity of the use to its 
customers makes its services less expensive and/or more convenient. 
 

  



                    

110 City of Napavine 
April 2024 Shoreline Master Program Update 

Water-related uses include, but are not limited to: 
 
A. Warehousing or storage facilities, 
 
B. Support services for fish hatcheries, 
 
C. Seafood processing plants, 
 
D. Wood products manufacturing, 
 
E. Log storage, 
 
F. Watercraft sales, and  
 
G. Boating supplies. 

 
144. Wetlands. Areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or groundwater at 

a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal 
circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in 
saturated soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and 
similar areas. Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally 
created from non-wetland sites, including, but not limited to, irrigation and 
drainage ditches, grass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, wastewater 
treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities, or those wetlands 
created after July 1, 1990, that were unintentionally created as a result of the 
construction of a road, street, or highway. Wetlands may include those artificial 
wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland areas to mitigate the conversion 
of wetlands. 



Public Works/Community Development 
407 Birch Ave SW, PO Box 810 Napavine, WA 98565 

Phone: (360) 262-9344 
www.cityofnapavine.com 

 

The City of Napavine is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 
Incorporated November 21, 1913 

 

 

 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  Bryan Morris, PW/CD Director 

RE:  Staff Report for Council Meeting, January 28 t h , 2025 

 

• Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
o Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes – December 2, 2024 
o Planning Commission Workshop Meeting Minutes – December 16, 2024 
o Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes – December 16, 2024 

 

• Project Updates 
o Scots Industries –   Stabilizing soils for winter and containing stormwater runoff.  Waiting for final 

submittal on water system upgrade for the Birch Avenue Booster Station. 
 

o Cell tower on city property – Applicant provided contract back to city for additional review.  
 

o Rush Road STIP –   Consultant contracts have been signed and a letter to proceed has been issued.  The 
surveyors have started. The city was awarded a grant through TIB for 13% contribution for the project. 
 

o Woodard Road –   City provided the applicant with a "Project hold removed" letter, giving the applicant 
21 days to address the SEPA comments regarding the impacts on the school. In the meantime, the city 
consultant is working with city staff to develop the staff report. 

 
o 2nd Ave SE Overlay Project – Job complete other than the 5% retainage fee. 

 
o Walsh Trucking Binding Site Plan – Consultant should be drafting staff report to present to the Planning 

Commission.   
 

o Jefferson Station – Design plans at 90%. The Public Works Director has sent the designers a staff report 
on final changes for the 100% complete. 

 
o Water – Recently collected PFAS samples from well 4 & 5 to confirm there is still no PFAS in those wells. 

Great News! Those samples results came back and Well 4 & 5 came back non-detected for PFAS! Grant 
was submitted to DOH on 1/7/2025. Well 2 and Well 3 have been severed from distribution.  

 

http://www.cityofnapavine.com/









	2025-01-28 Reg Agenda
	2025-01-14 Regular Meeting Minutes
	01 28 2025 Voucher Report
	Napavine Shoreline Master Plan Updated 20240112 ECY_20240824 draft sent for print
	CITY OF NAPAVINE
	SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM
	COMPREHENSIVE UPDATE
	NAPAVINE CITY COUNCIL
	John Sayers, Mayor
	Linda DiRienzo
	Scott Hamilton
	Lavern Haslett
	Lionel Pinn
	Jennifer Slemp
	Robert Wheeler
	NAPAVINE PLANNING COMMISSION
	NAPAVINE CITY STAFF
	Acknowledgments
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	list of tables
	list of figures
	list of maps
	1. General Provisions
	Purposes
	Applicability
	Governing Principles of this Master Program
	Title
	Short title
	Authority
	Reference to Plans, Regulations or Information Sources
	Relationship to Other Land Use Regulations
	Liberal Construction
	Severability
	Amendments
	Effective Date

	2. Shoreline Jurisdiction and Environment Designations
	Shorelines of the State
	Shoreline Jurisdiction for Streams and Flood Plains
	Shorelines within the City of Napavine and its Urban Growth Area
	Shoreline Environment Designations
	Aquatic
	Urban Conservancy
	Official Map
	Conflicts between Designation and Criteria
	Shoreline Areas not Mapped or Designated

	3. Shoreline Permits
	General Provisions
	Permit Applications
	1. Indicate site location using common points of reference (roads, state highways, prominent landmarks, etc.).
	2. If the development involves the removal of any soils by dredging or otherwise, identify the proposed disposal site on the map.  If the disposal site is beyond the confines of the vicinity map, provide another vicinity map showing the precise locati...
	3. Give brief narrative description of the general nature of the improvements and land use within 1,000 feet in all directions from development site (i.e., residential to the north, commercial to the south, etc.).
	D. Application Fees- A filing fee in an amount established in Napavine Municipal Code 17.88.080 shall be paid to the City of Napavine at the time of application.
	1. Public Notice.  The Community Development Department shall have a Notice of Application for a shoreline Substantial Development Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) published in a newspaper of general circulation, within the area in...
	2. The Notice of Application for a  shoreline Substantial Development Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) describes the location of the project and includes a statement that any person desiring to present their views to the Community ...
	3. The Notice of Application for a shoreline Substantial Development Permit, Conditional Use, or Variance (as applicable) must be published in the appropriate newspaper at least once a week, on the same day of the week, for two consecutive weeks.
	4. The Community Development Department shall also post the Notice of Application for a shoreline Substantial Development Permit, Conditional Use or Variance (as applicable) on-site per Ordinance 137.
	5. The Community Development Department may require any other manner of public notice deemed appropriate to accomplish the objectives of reasonable notice to the adjacent landowners and the public.
	6. The Community Development Department shall notify the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service when application is made for a shoreline Variance.
	7. Public Hearing.  At least one public hearing shall be held by the Community Development Director regarding an application for a Conditional Use Permit or Variance.  The public hearing should be held within sixty (60) days from the date the thirty (...
	8. A written notice of the public hearing at which the Community Development Director will consider the Conditional Use Permit or Variance application shall be mailed or delivered to the applicant a minimum of seven (7) days prior to the hearing.  The...
	a. The application.
	b. Applicable SEPA documents.
	c. Evidence presented at the public hearing (applicable only for Conditional Use Permits and Variance applications).
	d. Written and oral comments from interested persons.
	e. The findings, conclusions, and recommendation of the Community Development Department.
	f. Information and comment from other City departments.
	g. Any independent study of the Community Development Department, if needed.

	10. Local Agency Review Criteria.  No Permit shall be granted unless the proposed development is consistent with the provisions of this Master Program, the Shoreline Management Act of 1971, and the rules and regulations adopted by the Department of Ec...
	11. Burden of Proof on Applicant.  The burden of proving that the proposed development is consistent with the applicable criteria before a permit is granted shall be on the applicant.
	12. Conditional Approval.  Should the Community Development Director find that any application does not substantially comply with criteria imposed by the Master Program and the Shoreline Management Act of 1971, the Director may deny such application o...
	13. Bonds.  The Community Development Department may require the applicant to post a bond in favor of the City of Napavine to assure full compliance with any terms and conditions imposed by the Community Development Department and/or the City Council ...
	15.   Local Appeals. Any shoreline permit decisions made by the Community Development Director may be appealed to the City Council, subject to the following provisions:
	a. Appeals shall be submitted in writing to the city clerk by 5:00 p.m. of the twenty-first calendar day following the date of the Community Development Director’s decision.  When the last day of the comment period is a Saturday, Sunday, or federal or...
	b. The record established by the Community Development Department (including testimony, exhibits, comment letters, plans, staff reports, etc.) shall be the record used by the Council unless it is supplemented by the City Council pursuant to this secti...
	c. The council may affirm, modify, reverse the Community Development Director's decision, remand to the Community Development Department with directions for further proceedings, or grant other appropriate relief.  If the Council reverses or modifies t...
	d. On appeal, the Community Development Director's decision shall be given substantial weight.
	e. The City Council shall establish rules for appeals to the Council.
	16. Submittal to Department of Ecology.  Following the approval or denial of shoreline permits and after the local appeal process has been completed, the Community Development Department shall submit the permit application and City’s decision for Subs...
	17. Development authorized by a Substantial Development Permit, Variance or Conditional Use Permit shall not begin until twenty-one (21) days from the date of filing as defined in RCW 90.58.140(6) and WAC 173-27-130 or until all appeal proceedings wit...


	Substantial Development Permit
	Shoreline Conditional Use Permit
	Shoreline Variance Permit
	Shoreline Exemptions
	DEVELOPMENTS NOT REQUIRED TO OBTAIN SHORELINE PERMITS OR LOCAL REVIEW
	Unspecified Uses
	Time Requirements and Revisions
	1. Duration of Permits:  The City of Napavine may issue shoreline permits with termination dates of up to five years.  If a Permit does not specify a termination date, the following requirements apply, consistent with WAC 173-27:
	a. Time Limit for Substantial Progress.  Construction activities shall be commenced or, where no construction activities are involved, the use or activity shall be commenced within two (2) years after approval of the effective date of a Shoreline Permit.
	b. Extension for Substantial Progress.  The City of Napavine may authorize a single extension for a period not to exceed one (1) year based on reasonable factors, if a request for extension has been filed before the expiration date and notice of the p...
	c. Five-Year Permit Authorization.  If construction has not been completed within five (5) years after the effective date of a Shoreline Permit, the City will review the Permit and, upon showing of good cause, either extend the Permit for one year bas...

	1. No additional over-water construction is involved, except that pier, dock, or float construction may be increased by five hundred (500) square feet or ten percent (10%) from the provisions of the original permit, whichever is less;
	2. Ground area coverage and height is not increased more than ten percent (10%) from the provisions of the original permit;
	3. The revised permit does not authorize development to exceed height, setback, lot coverage, or any other requirement of the City of Napavine Shoreline Master Program except as authorized under a variance granted as the original permit or part thereof;
	4. Additional or revised landscaping is consistent with conditions (if any) attached to the original Permit;
	5. The use authorized pursuant to the original Permit is not changed; and

	Penalties and Enforcement

	4. Nonconforming Development
	Nonconforming Uses and Structures – General
	Development of a Nonconforming Lot

	5. Master Program Goals
	Conservation
	Purpose
	Goals

	Economic Development
	Purpose
	Goals

	Historic, Archeological, Cultural, Scientific and Educational Resources
	Purpose
	Goals

	Public Access
	Purpose
	Goals

	Recreation
	Purpose
	Goals

	Restoration and Enhancement
	Purpose
	Goals

	Shoreline Use
	Purpose
	Goals

	Transportation and Utilities
	Purpose
	Goals


	6. General Policies and Regulations
	Environment Impact Mitigation
	Policies
	Regulations

	Critical Areas and Shoreline Vegetation Conservation
	Policies
	Regulations

	Public Access
	Policies
	Regulations

	Water Quality
	Policies
	Regulations

	Parking
	Policies
	Regulations

	Signage
	Policies
	Regulations

	Historical or Archeological Resources
	Policies
	Regulations

	Scientific or Educational Uses
	Policies
	Regulations


	7. Uses and Activities Policies and Regulations
	Table of Uses and Activities by Shoreline Environment Designation
	Table of Regulations by Shoreline Environment Designation
	Agriculture
	Policies
	Regulations

	Aquaculture
	Policies
	Regulations

	Boating facilities
	Policies
	Regulations

	Commercial
	Policies
	Regulations

	Forest Practices
	Policies
	Regulations

	Industrial
	Policies
	Regulations

	MINING
	Policy
	Regulation

	Recreation
	Policies
	Regulations

	RESIDENTIAL
	Policy
	Regulation

	SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL
	Policy
	Regulation

	Transportation
	Policies
	Regulations

	Utilities
	Policies
	Regulations


	8. Shoreline Modification Policies and Regulations
	Table of Shoreline Modifications by Shoreline Environment Designation
	General Policies
	Dredging and Dredge Disposal
	Policies
	Regulations

	Fill
	Policies
	Regulations

	OVERWATER STRUCTURES
	Policies
	Regulations

	Restoration and Enhancement
	Policies
	Regulations

	Shoreline Stabilization
	Policies
	Regulations

	BREAKWATERS, JETTIES AND GROINS
	Policies
	Regulations

	Dikes, Levees and Instream Structures
	Policies
	Regulations
	General Regulations
	Dike and Levee Regulations
	Instream Structure Regulations



	9. Definitions

	Staff Report CD-PW 1.28.25
	Bryan Staff Report 1.28.25 1
	12.2.24 PC Minutes
	12.16.24 PC Reg Minutes
	12.16.24 PC Workshop Mins 


